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Preface 
This volume accompanies the Financial Audit Manual to which reference should be made. 

 

The volume comprises Case Study that shows how to identify examples of good international 
practice and the questions to ask when undertaking an Annual Financial Statements (AFS) 
financial audit. 

 

Copyright statement 

This manual is the copyright of PASAI, a regional organisation of the International 
Organisation of Supreme Audit Institutions (INTOSAI). 

 

Disclaimer statements 

This manual has been developed by PASAI as a resource for SAIs in the Pacific region to help 
customise their own audit manuals.  

The use of the manual is the responsibility of each individual SAI, having regard to its mandate, 
capacity and country circumstances.  PASAI disclaims any responsibility or liability, where 
direct or indirect as a consequence of the use or application of this manual.  
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Introduction 
This volume accompanies the Financial Audit Manual to which reference should be made. 

The volume comprises three main parts: 

• Glossary: a comprehensive glossary of Public Financial Management (PFM) terms; 
• Templates: various templates to assist in the Audit Planning, Execution and Reporting 

Phases; and 
• Case Study: a highly detailed two-part case study covering how to undertake a 

financial audit and determine the Audit Opinion and Report based there on. 

The Glossary can be adapted by each Supreme Audit Institution (SAI) to suit their specific 
needs; this can be by deleting definitions which seem irrelevant and adding any that are 
missing.  However, consideration should be given to retaining the whole glossary as it will 
“future proof” any developments in accounting and auditing in your country.   

The Templates should also be adapted for use within your specific, unique jurisdictions.  It is 
strongly recommended that, as you use the templates in your work, you keep copies at every 
stage and add them to your own customised volume of Templates.  This will provide your staff 
with a highly tailored guide for future audit work.  Many of the templates come from the 
INTOSAI Development Initiative e-Learning Course on the Risk Based Approach to Financial 
Auditing and reference should be made to the original source material. 

The Case Study is by necessity generic in its nature.  However, it does provide highly detailed 
guidance on how to audit each item of the Annual Financial Statements (AFS).   
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Glossary 
NB See International Standard for Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAI) #2003 for Financial 
Audit Guidelines Glossary of Terms. 

Abuse 

Behaviour that is deficient or improper when compared with behaviour that a prudent person 
would consider reasonable and necessary business practice given the facts and 
circumstances. Abuse also includes misuse of authority or position for personal financial 
interests or those of an immediate or close family member or business associate. Abuse does 
not necessarily involve fraud, violation of laws, regulations, or provisions of a contract or grant 
agreement. Abuse is a departure from the concept of propriety, which relates to the general 
principles of sound public sector financial management and conduct of public sector officials. 

Accountability  

A key concept in governance and management, which means that people are held responsible 
for carrying out a defined set of duties and for conforming with rules and standards applicable 
to their posts.  

In relation to work carried out by government ministries and agencies, accountability may be:  

o Internal: to a higher level of management, in which staff and managers are 
assessed on a regular basis on the way in which they have carried out the tasks set 
out in their job description; and 

o External: to Parliament, to the public, or to central agencies such as the audit 
institution for their own performance (and, in the case of senior officials, for the 
performance of the organisation which they manage). 

Accounting 

The day-to-day classification and recording of financial transactions and events.  Accounting 
records include: 

o documents evidencing transactions and events (e.g. invoices, contracts, etc.), 

o journals, ledgers and registers (often in the form of computer-based systems); 
and 

o working papers containing information about revenues, expenses, assets, 
liabilities and other matters necessary to prepare financial reports. 

Accounting Basis   

The accrual or cash basis of accounting as defined in the Accrual Basis International Public 
Sector Accounting Standards and the Cash Basis International Public Sector Accounting 
Standard. 

 

 

Accounting Control System 
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A series of actions which is considered to be part of the total internal control system 
concerned with realising the accounting goals of the entity. This includes compliance with 
accounting and financial policies and procedures, safeguarding the entity's resources and 
preparing reliable financial reports. 

Accounting Policies  

The specific principles, bases, conventions, rules and practices applied by an entity in 
preparing and presenting financial statements. 

Accrual Accounting 

Accounting method in which costs are recognised for the period in which they are incurred.  

Accumulated Depreciation 

The aggregate, at a given point of time, of depreciation expense made in respect of an 
asset(s).  

Activities 

Various actions of an overall programme for a common objective, required to achieve the 
programme and that make up a programme and objective. See also Programme. 

Activity Based Costing  

Assigns costs to outputs according to the consumption of each activity in the production of 
the outputs.  

Administrative Control System 

A series of actions, being an integral part of the internal control system, concerned with 
administrative procedures needed to make managerial decisions, realise the highest possible 
economic and administrative efficiency and ensure the implementation of administrative 
policies, whether related to financial affairs or otherwise. 

Advance 

A loan from (or to) one part of the public sector to (or from) another.  

Agency 

A type of government or parliamentary organisation. 

Allocating Costs   

Assigning costs to anything for which a cost measurement is required. Can be an output, 
group of outputs, activity, process, project, or cost centre, etc.  

Apportionment 

After the approval of the annual budget by the Assembly, the approved budget for each 
budget organisation is broken down to the detailed level and apportioned over time (quarters 
or months). 

Appraisal  

An overall assessment of the relevance, feasibility, and potential sustainability of a series of 
interventions prior to a decision to undertake or fund them. 

Appropriation 

http://www.dtf.vic.gov.au/dtf/Bfmrwp.nsf/webnav2/Financial+ManagementAccrual+Accounting
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The maximum amount legally authorised by the Assembly to be spent in a specific period.  
Appropriations are usually contained in the annual budget law and are usually for one fiscal 
year.   

Assets    

Are ‘future economic benefits (resources) controlled by an entity as a result of past 
transactions or other past events’  

Assets (Current)  

Are cash or other assets of the department that would, in the ordinary course of operations 
of the department, be consumed or converted into cash within twelve months after the end 
of the reporting period.  Examples include debtors and inventories  

Assets (Non-current)  

All assets other than current assets.  They are usually held for use rather than exchange and 
provide an economic benefit for periods greater than one year.  Examples include land, plant 
and equipment, motor vehicles, heritage assets and buildings  

Assumptions  

Refer to the conditions most likely to exist inside and outside the department with effect upon 
the Department’s performance plans.  

Arrears 

Payments which are due, but which are not yet made, with a longer-than-normal delay.  Often 
this is caused by a lack of sufficient cash in the treasury to make the payments that are due 
within the normal amount of time.   

Audited Entity 

The organisation, programme, activity or function subject to audit by the SAI. 

Audit Evidence 

Information that forms the foundation which supports the auditor's or SAI's opinions, 
conclusions or reports: 

o Competent: information that is quantitatively sufficient and appropriate to 
achieve the auditing results; and is qualitatively impartial such as to inspire 
confidence and reliability; 

o Relevant: information that is pertinent to the audit objectives; and 
o Reasonable: information that is economical in that the cost of gathering it is 

commensurate with the result which the auditor or the SAI is trying to 
achieve. 

Audit Mandate 

The auditing responsibilities, powers, discretions and duties conferred on a SAI under the 
constitution or other lawful authority of a country. 

 

 

Audit Objective 
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A precise statement of what the audit intends to accomplish and/or the question the audit 
will answer. This may include financial, regularity or performance issues. 

Audit Organisation 

An entity of professional accountants and other audit specialised professionals. In the private 
sector, the organisations may be a sole practitioner, partnership or corporation; in the public 
sector the organisation may be a Supreme Audit Institution. 

Audit Procedures 

Tests, instructions and details included in the audit program to be carried out systematically 
and reasonably. 

Audit Scope 

The framework or limits and subjects of the audit. 

Auditing Standards 

Auditing standards provide minimum guidance for the auditor that helps determine the 
extent of audit steps and procedures that should be applied to fulfil the audit objective. They 
are the criteria or yardsticks against which the quality of the audit results are valuated. 

Authorities 

Relevant acts or resolutions of the legislature or other statutory instruments, directions and 
guidance issued by public sector bodies with powers provided for in statute, with which the 
audited entity is expected to comply. (See also ISSAI 4200.) 

 

Baseline 

This is the basic amount of resources that are necessary to continue the current level of 
activity in a future period of time.  It is often used for comparison purposes between 
programmes, or as the basis for projecting costs into the future (and when that is done, it is 
also necessary to adjust for inflation and other known changes in costs).   This amount is 
sometimes referred to as the Current Services or Current Level amount. 

Below the Line Items 

These are revenue or expenditure items that are usually outside of the normal budget 
formulation process but which the government should consider in its decision-making about 
the year’s budget. 

 Benchmark 

This is a measurable indicator regarding a budget organisation’s or a programme’s 
performance or resources, which can be standardised and used in comparing with another 
budget organisation’s or a programme’s performance or resources. 

Budget 

Government expenditure aims at providing a variety of goods and services to the people of 
the country.  The budget is the most potent instrument of the government in carrying its out 
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policies. In countries with representative governance systems, the budget is the financial 
mirror of society's choices. 

Budget Execution 

This is the process of controlling, accounting for, monitoring, and reporting on the 
expenditure of resources, which have been received for specific purpose and time, in 
accordance with established policies and procedures. 

Business Risk 

Refers to the risk that activities – including relevant programs, program strategies, and 
objectives – will not be completed or achieved. In addition, risks related to issues such as the 
political climate, public interest, and program sensitivity or potential noncompliance with 
legislation or proper authority are relevant in the public sector context. 

 

Capacity Building  

A process leading to either (i) skill upgrading, (both general and specific), (ii) procedural 
improvements, and (iii) institutional strengthening. Capacity building refers to investment in 
people, institutions, and practices 

Capital Budget or Capital Expenditure 

Expenditure for acquisition of land, intangible assets, and non-financial assets, or for 
permanent structures and major purchases of more than a minimum value and to be used for 
more than one year in the process of production.  All expenditures which are not capital are 
"current." 

Capital Grants 

Non-repayable, unreciprocated transfers received by one government from another 
government or international organisation, for the purpose of financing the acquisition of 
capital assets by the recipients. 

Capital Revenue 

Proceeds from the sale of capital assets, including land, intangible assets, stocks, and fixed 
capital assets of buildings, construction, and equipment of more than a minimum value and 
usable for more than one year in the process of production, and receipts of unreciprocated 
transfers for capital purposes from nongovernmental sources. 

Capital Transfers 

Non-repayable, unreciprocated payments designed to: 

o finance the acquisition of non-financial capital assets by the recipient; 

o compensate the recipient for damage or destruction of capital assets; and 

o increase the financial capital or cover accumulated debts or losses of the 
recipient, or that are non-recurrent and distinctly irregular for donor or 
recipient. 
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Cash Accounting 

An accounting method which records cash receipts, payments and balances.  The cash basis 
of accounting recognises transactions and events only when cash has been received or paid.   

Central Bank 

The government-owned or controlled bank performing monetary policy functions in the 
issuance of currency, management of international reserves, and acceptance of deposit 
liabilities to other banks and acting as their lender of last resort, and, frequently, providing 
fiscal agent services for the central government. 

Central Government 

All governmental organisations that are agencies of the central authority of a country, 
whether covered in or financed through ordinary or extra-budgetary funds. This includes 
ministries, departmental enterprises, special-purpose funds maintained at the central level 
(such as pension funds or various social payment funds, and geographical extensions of 
central government authority that may operate at regional or local levels.  

Commitments 

A stage in the expenditure process at which the ministries or departments enter into contracts 
or other forms of agreement, within their allocations, for immediate purchase or future 
delivery of goods and services.  The commitment stage occurs after the allocation has been 
made but before the actual goods and services have been finally paid for. 

Compliance Audit 

Compliance audit deals with the degree to which the audited entity follows rules, laws and 
regulation, policies, established codes, or agreed upon terms and conditions etc. Compliance 
auditing may cover a wide range of subject matters. In general, the purpose of a compliance 
audit is to provide assurance to intended users about the outcome of the evaluation or 
measurement of a subject matter against suitable criteria. 

In performing compliance audits in the context of the INTOSAI Fundamental Auditing 
Principles, there are two concepts of significant relevance: 

 

(a) Regularity- the concept that activities, transactions and information which are 
reflected in the financial statements of an audited entity are in accordance with 
authorizing legislation, regulations issued under governing legislation and other 
relevant, laws, regulations and agreements, including budgetary laws and are 
properly sanctioned; and 

(b) Propriety- general principles of sound public sector financial management and 
conduct of public sector officials. 

Depending of the mandate of the Supreme Audit Institution, a compliance audit may be an 
audit of regularity, or propriety, or both.  Because propriety is not readily susceptible to 
objective verification, it may be difficult, and in some cases impossible to audit propriety to a 
level of reasonable assurance. There are often no clear and objective benchmarks against 
which to measure propriety –what may be acceptable in one part of the public sector may 
not be acceptable elsewhere. 
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Consolidated Fund 

The main fund into which all receipts are deposited and from which all payments are made, 
unless otherwise legislated.  See also Treasury Single Account (TSA). 

Consolidation 

The process of combining the financial statements of a parent entity and each of the entities 
it controls and presenting the aggregated information e as one financial report.  

Constitutional 

A matter which is permitted or authorised by the fundamental law of a country. 

Contingency Fund 

This is an amount of money that is included in the budget to be used for emergencies or other 
unforeseen requirements.  It should be controlled carefully and used only under 
circumstances which conform to previously agreed criteria. 

Contingent Liability  

See Liability. 

Contracting Out 

An arrangement whereby a budget organisation enters into a commercial contract with an 
external supplier that provides specific goods and services.  This is a commercial transaction 
only, and the fact that the external supplier receives government funds does not establish 
them as a governmental entity. 

Corporate Plan 

A plan defining the desired but achievable future state of the department, the objectives 
and major actions for goal achievement. It will contribute to the achievement of 
Government’s priority development needs 

Corruption 

There are many different definitions of the concept.  Some of there are associated with each 
country’s or each culture’s definitions, as well.  However, a simple and broad definition is "the 
misuse of a public or private position for personal gain". 

Cost  

An expense incurred in the production of the outputs.  

Cost Centre 

An organisational unit identified in the "chart of accounts" for which a manager is held 
accountable for financial management.  Within the structure of a budget organisation, this is 
usually the level at which costs can be associated.  It is an organisational entity rather than a 
programmatic activity. 

Cost-Benefit and Cost-Effectiveness Analyses 

These analyses compare a programme's outputs or outcomes with the resources expended 
to produce them.  They are considered as forms of programme evaluation.  Cost-effectiveness 
analysis assesses the cost of meeting a single goal, and identifies the least costly alternative 
to meet that goal.  Cost-benefit analysis seeks to identify all relevant costs and benefits 
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associated with a project or process, and to provide ratios between costs and benefits in order 
to determine whether the costs of the project or process outweigh the benefits which are 
realised.  Thus, cost effectiveness seeks to determine the extent to which policy and 
programme objectives are achieved at minimum economic cost: synonymous with value-for 
money. 

Cost Driver 

This is an item of expenditure which is related to some aspect of the target population or 
circumstances under which a programme is delivered, which has an impact on the costs of 
service delivery.  For example, increases in the number of people who receive a certain service 
will drive the costs of the programme. 

Current Assets      

Are cash or other assets of the department that would, in the ordinary course of operations 
of the department, be consumed or converted into cash within twelve months after the end 
of the reporting period.  Examples include debtors and inventories.  

Current Expenditure 

Expenditure that is associated with the present year.   

Current Liabilities 

Those liabilities of the department that would, in the ordinary course of operations of the 
department, be due and payable within twelve months after the end of the reporting 
period.  Examples include creditors and employee entitlements such as annual leave.  

Current Services (or Current Level) 

See Baseline 

 

Deficit 

The overall fiscal position is defined as revenue plus grants, minus expenditures and minus 
net lending.  If the result is negative, then a deficit exists; if it is positive, then a surplus exists.  
The deficit may be measured on a cash or commitment basis. 

Depreciation 

The normal financial provision made for the wearing out, consumption or other loss of value 
of assets. Depreciation estimated over the useful life of the assets is progressively deducted 
from the value of the assets each year.  

Direct Costs  

Are those which are directly traceable to the production of a specific output.  

Discretionary 

This is a type of expenditure which is controllable, and which the budget organisation (and 
the budget process) can make some decisions about, each year.  It includes programmes and 
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expenditure items which are subject to ongoing decision-making.  It is the opposite of 
Mandatory expenditures. 

 

Due Care 

The appropriate element of care and skill which a trained auditor would be expected to 
apply having regard to the complexity of the audit task, including careful attention to 
planning, gathering and evaluating evidence, and forming opinions, conclusions and making 
recommendations. 

 

Economic Categories 

A classification of expenditure by the economic nature of the transaction.  Sub-groupings of 
objects of expenditure used in the general economic classification of the budget. 

Economy 

Minimising the cost of resources used for an activity, having regard to the appropriate quality. 

Effectiveness 

The extent to which objectives are achieved and the relationship between the intended 
impact and the actual impact of an activity. 

Efficiency 

The relationship between the output, in terms of goods, services or other results, and the 
resources used to produce them. 

Equity 

The fairness with which government money is spent. 

Entitlement Programme 

This refers to legally established programmes such as pensions or social assistance 
programmes, which provide for cash payments (or other types of transfers) to individuals who 
meet specific eligibility criteria.  These are Mandatory payments and they generally involve a 
very large portion of most governments’ budgets. 

Estimated Out-turn  

The best estimate of final expenditure and revenue figures for the year.  It will usually 
comprise eight- or nine-months actual data and three or four months estimated expenditure 
for the remainder of the year. 

Evaluation 

A periodic assessment of the efficiency, effectiveness, impact, sustainability and relevance in 
the context of stated objectives. 

Executive Branch of Government (Executive) 

The branch of government which administers the law. 
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Expenditure 

All non-repayable and non-repaying payments by government, whether reciprocated or 
unreciprocated and whether for current or capital purposes. 

 

Expenses  

Are the consumption or loss of service potential or economic benefits, in the form of 
reductions in assets or increases in liabilities of the entity during the reporting period.  

External Auditors 

The auditors of an organisation who are not under the direct or indirect control of the 
organisation and may not report to the organisation.  External auditors are differentiated 
from internal auditors. 

External Debt.  

See Foreign Debt. 

Extraordinary Items  

Are items of revenue and expense that are attributable to transactions or other events of a 
type that are outside the ordinary operations of the entity and are not of a recurring nature.  

 

Fair Value      

Means the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between 
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.  

Feedback 

The transmission of findings generated through the evaluation process to parties for whom it 
is relevant and useful so as to facilitate learning. This may involve the collection and 
dissemination of findings, conclusions, recommendations and lessons from experience. 

Field Standards 

The framework for the auditor to systematically fulfil the audit objective, including planning 
and supervision of the audit, gathering of competent, relevant and reasonable evidence, and 
an appropriate study and evaluation of internal controls. 

Financial Asset  

Any asset that is: 

 

o cash; 

o a contractual right to receive cash or another financial asset from another 
entity; 

o a contractual right to exchange financial instruments with another entity 
under conditions that are potentially favourable; or 
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o an equity instrument of another entity. 

Financial Audit 

An independent assessment, resulting in a reasonable assurance opinion, of whether an 
entity’s reported financial condition, results, and use of resources are presented fairly in 
accordance with the financial reporting framework. (See Regularity Audit) 

Financial Liability  

Any liability that is a contractual obligation: 

o to deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or 

o to exchange financial instruments with another entity under conditions 
that are potentially unfavourable. 

Financial Management 

The legal and administrative systems and procedures put in place to permit budget 
organisations to conduct their activities so as to ensure correct usage of public funds which 
meets defined standards of probity and regularity. Financial management includes the raising 
of revenue, the management and control of public expenditure and financial accounting and 
reporting, and, in some cases, asset management. 

Financial Reporting 

The development, analysing, and communication of financial information by an entity to 
interested parties. It encompasses all reports that contain financial information based on data 
generally found in the financial accounting and reporting system.  

Financial Statements 

The accounting statements prepared by a reporting entity to communicate information about 
its financial performance and position. They include those notes and schedules that are 
needed to clarify or further explain items in the statements.  

Financial Systems 

The procedures for preparing, recording and reporting reliable information concerning 
financial transactions. 

Financing 

The means by which a government obtains financial resources to cover a budget deficit or 
allocates financial resources arising from a budget surplus.  It includes all transactions 
involving government liabilities.   

Findings, Conclusions and Recommendations 

Findings re the specific evidence gathered by the auditor to satisfy the audit objectives; 
conclusions are statements deduced by the auditor from those findings; recommendations 
are courses of action suggested by the auditor relating to the audit objectives. 

Fiscal Transparency.  

See Transparency. 

 



PASAI  Financial Audit Manual – Glossary, Templates and Case 
Study 

18 

Fiscal Year (or Financial Year) 

The regular annual budget and accounting period for which plans and requests for revenue 
and expenditure are made, and for which expenditures are monitored and controlled. 

Fixed Assets 

Durable goods except land, mineral deposits, timber tracts and similar non-reproducible 
tangible assets. 

Foreign Debt 

Debt to individuals and organisations (including banks and investors) which are non-residents. 

Forward Estimates 

The years beyond the Budget Year in a Medium-Term Expenditure Framework are referred to 
collectively as Forward Estimates.  These represent the Budget Year plus the years 
immediately following the Budget Year.   The Budget Year forms the basis of the annual 
budget law and its appropriations, while the Forward Estimates are estimates only of future 
expenditures and are not usually binding on the government. 

Fraud 

The severest form of an irregularity regarding public resources. Regarding expenditure, it 
includes any intentional act or omission relating to: 

o the use or presentation of false, incorrect or incomplete statements or 
documents, which has as its effect the misappropriation or wrongful 
retention of funds; 

o non-disclosure of information in violation of a specific obligation, with the 
same affect; or 

o the misapplication of such funds for purposes other than those for which 
they were originally granted with the same effect.  

Regarding revenue, fraud includes any intentional act or omission relating to: 

o the use or presentation of false, incorrect or incomplete statements or 
documents, which has as its effect the illegal diminution of the resources 
of the budget; 

o non-disclosure of information in violation of a specific obligation, with the 
same effect; or 

o misapplication of a legally obtained benefit, with the same effect.  

Full Cost  

Is the total cost of all resources expense d in the production of an output. The total of direct 
and indirect costs.  

Functional Classification of Expenditure 

Classification of expenditure according to the purpose for which transactions are made.  It is 
generally used to measure the allocation of resources by government to conducting various 
activities in order to accomplish those activities’ objectives. It corresponds to a sectoral 
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classification, i.e. "education", "transport", "health", etc., and is therefore easily reconciled 
with the administrative organisation of government. 

Fundamental 

A matter becomes fundamental (sufficiently material) rather than material when its impact 
on the financial statements is so great as to render them misleading as a whole. 

 

 

General Government Sector  

Includes those entities financed mainly through taxes, Commonwealth Government grants, 
and other compulsory levies. These entities typically provide products and services that are 
non-market in nature and/or are for the collective consumption of the community.  

General Standards 

The qualifications and competence, the necessary independence and objectivity, and the 
exercise of due care, which shall be required of the auditor to carry out the tasks related to 
the field and reporting standards in a competent, efficient and effective manner. 

Goal 

A statement concerning the successful realisation of an impact. 

Government Business Enterprises 

Include both trading enterprises, such as utilities, and financial enterprises, such as financial 
institutions. Government business enterprises are, in substance no different from entities 
conducting similar activities in the private sector; government business enterprises generally 
operate to make a profit, although some may have limited community service obligations 
under which they are required to provide some individuals and organizations in the 
community with goods and services at either no charge or a significantly reduced charge. 

Government business enterprises have all the following characteristics: 

(a) Is an entity with the power to contract in its own name; 

(b) Has been assigned the financial and operational authority to carry on a business; 

(c) Sells goods and services, in the normal course of its business, to other entities at a 
profit or 

full cost recovery; 

(d) Is not reliant on continuing government funding to be a going concern (other 
than purchases 

of outputs at arm’s length); and 

(e) Is controlled by a public sector entity. 
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Government Entity 

A governmental office, unit, agency, bureau, department, ministry, or a consolidated group 
of such entities. 

Government Outcomes  

Are the Government's desired or intended impacts/effects on the community.  

Governance 

The way in which power and authority influence public life, especially economic and social 
development. 

In the public sector, governance responsibilities may exist at several organisational levels as 
well as in several functions (i.e. vertically or horizontally). As a result, there may be instances 
where several distinct groups are identified as those charged with governance. 

Furthermore, an audit in the public sector might involve both financial statement objectives 
as well as compliance objectives and in some cases that may involve separate governance 
bodies. 

Grants 

Unreciprocated, non-repayable, non-compulsory payments between governments or 
international institutions. The term is sometimes used also to refer to transfers of this nature 
made by government to all types of recipients. 

 

Historical Cost  

This is the amount representing the original cost of the asset.  

 

Impact Evaluation 

Impact evaluation attempts to assess the net effect of a programme by comparing 
programme outcomes with an estimate of what would have happened in the absence of the 
programme. This form of evaluation is employed when external factors are known to 
influence the programme's outcomes, in order to isolate the programme's contribution to 
achievement of its objectives. 

Impact Indicators 

Indicators of the extent to which a programme actually produced effects on client populations 
(usually based on more in-depth programme evaluations) or other targets of the programme. 

Independence 

The freedom of the SAI in auditing matters to act in accordance with its audit mandate 
without external direction or interference of any kind (The Lima Declaration – INTOSAI P 
#1) 

Indirect costs  
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Are costs which are not directly traceable to the production of a specific output.  

Inputs 

Labour, materials and other resources used in order to produce outputs.  Inputs are usually 
expressed as amount of expenditure or of resources themselves (such as number of 
employee/days).  An input to an activity may also be the output of an earlier activity. 

Intangible Assets 

Financial assets, leases, mineral concessions, patents, copyrights and similar assets that are 
not of a physical nature. 

 Internal Audit 

The functional means by which the managers of an entity receive an assurance from internal 
sources that the processes for which they are accountable are operating in a manner which 
will minimise the probability of the occurrence of fraud, error or inefficient and uneconomic 
practices. It has many of the characteristics of external audit but may properly carry out the 
directions of the level of management to which it reports. 

Internal Control 

The whole system of financial and other controls, including the organisational structure, 
methods, procedures and internal audit, established by management within its corporate 
goals, to assist in conducting the business of the audited entity in a regular economic, efficient 
and effective manner; ensuring adherence to management policies; safeguarding assets and 
resources; securing the accuracy and completeness of accounting records; and producing 
timely and reliable financial and management information. 

International Organisation of Supreme Audit Institutions (INTOSAI) 

An international and independent body which aims at promoting the exchange of ideas and 
experience between Supreme Audit in the sphere of public financial control. 

Inventory  

Encompasses materials or supplies to be consumed in the production of outputs or services 
available for sale.  

 

Joint Venture  

A binding arrangement whereby two or more parties are committed to undertake an activity 
that is subject to joint control. 

Jurisdiction 

The right and power to interpret and apply the law. 

 

 

Key Management Personnel  
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Comprise: 

o all directors or members of the governing body of the entity; and 

o other persons having the authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the reporting entity.  

Lease  

Is an agreement conveying the right from a lessor to a lessee to use the leased items for a 
stated period of time in return for a series of payments by the lessee to the lessor.  

Legislature 

The law-making authority of a country, for example a Parliament. 

Liabilities  

Arise from the existence of a present obligation which involves the sacrifice of economic 
benefits in the future to other entities and is the result of a past transaction or other past 
event.  

o Liabilities (Current) are those liabilities of the department that would, in 
the ordinary course of operations of the department, be due and payable 
within twelve months after the end of the reporting period.  Examples 
include creditors and employee entitlements such as annual leave.  

o Liabilities (Non-Current) are all liabilities other than current liabilities, e.g. 
finance lease liabilities due after twelve months.  

A contingent liability is one which depends on occurrence of a specific event to materialise 
(e.g., default by a guaranteed debtor.) 

Line-item Classification.  

See Object Classification. 

Local Government/Local Administration 

Governmental units exercising an independent authority and responsibility in the various 
rural and/or urban jurisdictions of a country's territory.  All governmental units at the local 
level which are referred to in the definition of the generic term "government" should be 
included. For example, local government units may include municipalities, cities, towns, 
school districts, water and sanitation districts, combinations of contiguous local governments 
organised for various purposes, etc. 

 

Management Audit 

Analysis of public expenditure in the light of general principles of sound management. 

 

Management Control 
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Or internal control, is the organisation, policies and procedures used to help ensure that 
government programmes achieve their intended results; that the resources used to deliver 
these programmes are consistent with the stated aims and objectives of the organisations 
concerned; that programmes are protected from waste, fraud and mismanagement; and that 
reliable and timely information is obtained, maintained, reported and used for decision 
making.  It is the routine responsibility of an organisation’s management to establish and 
monitor management control systems, not that of the external auditor (although an external 
auditor should comment on the presence/absence or adequacy/inadequacy of such systems). 

Management Information Systems (MIS) 

Those sources of data and records held within budget organisations which are designed as a 
common pool of information to assist managers in carrying out their responsibilities.  MIS are 
generally understood to be based on information technology, although this is not always the 
case.  Financial Management Information Systems (FMIS) are a sub-set of MIS and are widely 
regarded as essential for most governmental organisations to manage their resources better. 
Such systems may also assist in the evaluation of programme performance, in workload 
planning and in monitoring progress towards objectives. Management information systems 
form a key element of management controls and must themselves be efficient and cost-
effective. 

Management Plan 

The Annual Management plan is a one-year plan describing how the inputs of the department 
(people, equipment, capital) are to be applied through activities for implementation of the 
programmes and sub-programmes presented in the corporate plan is closely aligned with the 
annual programme Budget.   

The annual management plan can also be described as an annual operating plan, operations 
plan, business plan, and department plan. 

Mandatory 

This is a type of expenditure which is required by law, and which the budget organisation has 
little direct control over and little opportunity to change.  In many countries, entitlement 
programmes are among the largest type of mandatory expenditure.  It is the opposite of 
Discretionary expenditures. 

Marginal Cost   

The change in total cost resulting from a one-unit change in output produced.  

Materiality and Significance (Material) 

In general terms, a matter may be judged material if knowledge of it would be likely to 
influence the user of the financial statements or the performance audit report. Materiality is 
often considered in terms of value but the inherent nature or characteristics of an item or 
group of items may also render a matter material--for example, where the law or some other 
regulation requires it to be disclosed separately regardless of the amount involved.  

In addition to materiality by value and by nature, a matter may be material because of the 
context in which it occurs. For example, considering an item in relation to the overall view 
given by the accounts; the total of which it forms a part; associated terms; the corresponding 
amount in previous years. Audit evidence plays an important part in the auditor's decision 
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concerning the selection of issues and areas for audit and the nature, timing and extent of 
audit tests and procedures. 

Medium Term Expenditure Framework 

A planning tool for government, the Medium Term Expenditure Framework (MTEF) consists 
of a top-down estimate of aggregate resources available for public expenditure, consistent 
with macroeconomic stability; coupled with bottom-up estimates of the cost of carrying out 
policies, both existing and new; within a framework that reconciles these costs with aggregate 
resources. It is called medium-term because it provides data on a prospective basis for the 
Budget Year and the following years. 

Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) 

This is a written and signed agreement between two or more governmental entities, to join 
together in ways that are specified in the MOU, under conditions that are specified in the 
MOU, in order to accomplish specific things during a specific period. 

Ministry 

Department of the government led by a minister. 

Multi-year Budget  

An approved budget for more than one year.  

 

Net Assets  

Is the residual interest in the assets of an entity after deduction of its liabilities  

New Policy Proposal 

New policies may be defined as activities or programmes which the government did not 
previously undertake. There are two categories of new policies: a) completely new policies; 
and b) major changes to existing policies.  The former is often easier to identify and estimate 
resource requirements for, and examples include new capital investments such as a school, 
or the provision of free medication to all citizens over the age of 70.  The new policies which 
are major changes or variations in scope to ongoing policies may be more difficult to estimate 
the costs for, because the changes may depend on factors which are difficult to forecast or 
control. 

 

Object Classification 

A display of expenditures within the budget formulation and execution systems that identifies 
the specific types of goods or services acquired or transfer payments made; often called "line-
item" classification. 

 

Opinion 
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The auditor's written conclusions on a set of financial statements as the result of a financial 
or regularity audit. 

Outcomes 

What is ultimately achieved by an activity (generally, over a longer period), as distinct from 
its outputs which relate to more direct or immediate objectives.  For example, the outcome 
of a random breath testing campaign conducted by the police may be a decline in drunk 
driving and in automobile accident fatalities, while one of the outputs could be an increase in 
the number of drivers charged with exceeding the legal alcohol limit. 

Outputs 

The products and services produced by an activity. Outputs are important for measuring work 
performance, but generally do not in themselves indicate the extent to which progress has 
occurred toward achieving the programme's purpose.  Depending on their nature, outputs 
may, or may not be easy to measure, e.g. the number of hospital cases is easier to measure 
than the advice on a policy issue submitted by a health administrator. 

Output Budgeting 

This is the process of linking budgetary appropriations to specific outputs, more or less 
detailed, depending on the administrative capacity of the organisation in question. When 
aggregated, this detailed output-budgeting becomes similar to programme budgeting.   

Objective 

Objectives indicate the broad end results desired from a programme and contribute to the 
achievement of outcomes expressed in the National Strategic Development Plan. 

 

Performance Appraisal 

Assessment against a set of predetermined criteria of the efficiency and effectiveness with 
which an individual fulfils an agreed set of tasks. 

Performance Audit 

Audit covering economy, efficiency and effectiveness with which the audited entity uses its 
resources in carrying out its responsibilities.    Also called "value-for money" or “efficiency 
audit". 

Performance Budgeting (or Programme Budgeting) 

Budgeting which focuses on programmes and which is linked to measurable performance or 
outcomes.  It is intended to focus attention on the results of the programmes, and not merely 
on the amount of resources used by the programme.  Performance budgeting consists of: 
dividing government activities into functions, programmes, and activities; establishing 
performance indicators by activity; and measuring costs of activity outcomes or budgetary 
outputs. Programme budgeting is often defined as a form of performance budgeting focusing 
on the classification by programme defined along government objectives.  

Performance Indicators 

See Performance Measurement. 
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Performance Measurement 

Assessment of programme results against a set of predetermined criteria of the economy, 
efficiency, effectiveness, and process with which an organisation carries out a particular 
activity or range of activities. Performance indicators are used in making these 
measurements.  They may relate to: 

o the use of specific types of resources (input indicators); 

o the process by which resources are used or outputs produced (process 
indicators); 

o the goods and services themselves produced (output indicators); and 

o the results from those goods and services (outcome indicators). 

Performance Measures (Targets)  

Are output measures expressed in terms of quantity, quality, timeliness and budget cost 
(price to be paid) that will be used for Revenue Certification.  

Performance Standards 

These indicate a target that describes how well an output will be delivered to customers.  The 
standard is the target to be achieved and it must be supported by appropriate quantitative 
measures.  

Standards may address the quality of service delivery, the capability of employees, cost and 
the effectiveness of internal process 

Planning 

Defining the objectives, setting policies and determining the nature, scope, extent and timing 
of the procedures and tests needed to achieve the objectives. 

Principles 

Basic assumptions, consistent premises, logical principles and requirements which represent 
the general framework for developing auditing standards. 

Prior Period Errors  

Omissions from, and misstatements in, the entity’s financial statements for one or more 
prior periods arising from a failure to use, or misuse of, reliable information that: 

o was available when financial statements for those periods were 
authorized for issue; and 

o could reasonably be expected to have been obtained and taken into 
account in the preparation and presentation of those financial 
statements.  Such errors include the effects of mathematical mistakes, 
mistakes in applying accounting policies, oversights or misinterpretations 
of facts, and fraud. 

 

Process Evaluation 
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This assesses a programme activities' conformance to specific procedures, statutory and 
regulatory requirements, due process, programme design, and professional standards, or 
customer expectations. 

Programme 

Set of activities intended to contribute to an identifiable government objective (e.g. crop 
development).  It is an organised endeavour of an agency that has measurable objectives and 
a direct relationship to the agency's mission; it has a defined budget and staffing; and has an 
identifiable target population. 

 

Programme Budgeting.   

See Performance Budgeting. 

Programme Evaluation 

Programme evaluations are systematic studies conducted periodically or on an ad hoc basis 
to assess how well the programme outcomes are being achieved. They are often conducted 
by individuals external to the programme, either inside or outside the organisation 
concerned, but their results are of great importance to the organisation. Various types of 
programme evaluations can be identified and used, depending on the type of organisation 
and the type of programme.  The results of programme evaluation should be used in the 
budget formulation process to suggest ways in which the programme could be changed. 

Public Account  

Is the Government’s official bank account.  All the bank accounts of the State, maintained at 
various commercial banks, in which are held the moneys of the Consolidated Fund and the 
Trust Fund.  

Public Accountability 

The obligations of persons or entities, including public enterprises and corporations, 
entrusted with public resources to be answerable for the fiscal, managerial and program 
responsibilities that have been conferred on them, and to report to those that have conferred 
these responsibilities on them. 

Public Financial Corporations  

Are government-controlled entities which perform central bank functions, accept demand, 
time or savings deposits and/or are authorised to incur liabilities and acquire financial assets 
in the market on their own account.  

Public Investment Programme 

This is multi-year aspect of the budget process which focused on identifying the need for, and 
then seeking funds for, capital items which can attract investment and help to build the 
economy or increase employment or otherwise help to accomplish the nation’s major goals.  
Public investment programmes should always be included as a part of the larger budget 
formulation process, especially regarding capital expenditures and the relationship between 
capital items and the recurrent costs of supporting them in future years. 

Publicly Owned Enterprise 



PASAI  Financial Audit Manual – Glossary, Templates and Case 
Study 

28 

Any legal entity which is separate from the government, but where over 50 percent is owned 
by the state directly or indirectly.   

Public Sector 

General government, plus all public enterprises.  

 

Quality Assurance Checklist  

A checklist to ensure that output costings meet the information quality standards required 
for consideration in the budget process.  

Reconciliation 

The checking of one set of records with another, to ensure consistency.  For example, the 
daily statement from the Central Bank should be reconciled (checked) against the spending 
unit's own records of transactions.  The two documents should align, or any discrepancy 
should be checked and reported. 

Recurrent Expenditure 

These are the expenditure which is made on a regular basis to sustain the current activities of 
a budget organisation.  They include salaries, utility costs, office supplies, transportation and 
similar items. 

Reducing Balance Method (Depreciation)  

The asset is depreciated by a set percentage each year. (Generally applied where an asset is 
expected to yield more service in earlier reporting periods than in later ones).  

Regularity Audit 

According to ISSAI #2005 regularity audit embraces: 

(a) attestation of financial accountability of accountable entities, involving 
examination and evaluation of financial records and expression of opinions on 
financial statements; 

(b) attestation of financial accountability of the government administration as a 
whole; 

(c) audit of financial systems and transactions, including evaluation of compliance 
with applicable statutes and regulations; 

(d) audit of internal control and internal audit functions; 

(e) audit of the probity and propriety of administrative decisions taken within the 
audited entity; and 

(f) reporting of any other matters arising from or relating to the audit that the 
Supreme Audit Institution considers should be disclosed. 

The terms “regularity audit” and “financial audit” are often used interchangeably. Such 
references to audits include an audit of financial statements, and some or all of the 
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elements set out in a) to f) above, depending on the mandate of the Supreme Audit 
Institution. 

Report 

The auditor's written opinion and other remarks on a set of financial statements as the result 
of a financial or regularity audit or the auditor's findings on completion of a performance 
audit. 

Reporting Standards 

The framework for the auditor to report the results of the audit, including guidance on the 
form and content of the auditor's report. 

Resources 

The inputs that are necessary to perform the activities necessary for the successful delivery 
of an output to customers.  Inputs refer to people costs, equipment cost, and capital cost. 

The cost of inputs in the Management Plan must match with the costs shown in the budget 
output structure. 

Restructuring  

A programme that is planned and controlled by management, and materially changes either: 

o the scope of an entity’s activities; or 

o the manner in which those activities are carried out. 

Results 

The output, outcome or impact (intended or unintended, positive and/or negative) of a 
development intervention. 

Results Chain 

The causal sequence for an intervention that stipulates the necessary sequence to achieve 
desired objectives, beginning with inputs, moving through activities and outputs, and 
culminating in outcomes, impacts, and feedback.  

Results-based Management (RBM) 

A management strategy focusing on performance and achievement of outputs, outcomes and 
impacts. 

Revenue  

The gross inflow of economic benefits or service potential during the reporting period when 
those inflows result in an increase in net assets/equity, other than increases relating to 
contributions from owners. 

Revaluation  

Is the act of recognising a reassessment of values of non-current assets at a particular date  

 

Risk Analysis/Assessment 
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A systematic process for assessing and integrating judgments about probable adverse 
conditions and/or events, as a basis for the appropriate budgetary treatment of those 
conditions or events. 

 

Sectoral Classification.  

See Functional classification. 

Spending Limits 

An amount less than, or equal to, the allotment that is provided to a spending unit for a 
specified period of time. Spending limits may be varied during the course of the fiscal year in 
accordance with the results of monthly or quarterly reviews of budget performance. 

Spending Unit 

The lowest administrative division which controls a separate budget and has the authority to 
spend budgetary funds 

Stakeholders 

All of those who have an interest (either direct or indirect) in an institution, its activities and 
its achievements.  These may include clients or customers, partners, employees, 
shareholders/owners, government or regulators. 

State Enterprise.  

See Publicly Owned Enterprise. 

Statement of Assets and Liabilities 

A financial statement that shows, at the end of each reporting period, each class of assets and 
liabilities of an organisation.  The public sector equivalent of the Balance Sheet of private 
companies. 

Statutory 

Decided or controlled by law. 

Straight Line (Depreciation)  

Calculates depreciation charges for assets which expire at a constant rate over their useful 
lives. (Can also be referred to as Prime Cost).  

Strategy 

Synonymous with action - a set of related activities designed to achieve a specific medium-
long term goal 

Sub-national Governments 

See Local Government 

 

 

Supervision 
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An essential requirement in auditing which entails proper leadership, direction and control at 
all stages to ensure a competent, effective link between the activities, procedures and tests 
that are carried out and the aims to be achieved. 

Supreme Audit Institution (SAI) 

The public body of a State which, however designated, constituted or organised, exercises by 
virtue of law, the highest public auditing function of that State. In some Supreme Audit 
Institutions there are a single appointed Auditor General who acts in a role equivalent to that 
of “engagement partner” and who has overall responsibility for public sector audits. Other 
Supreme Audit Institutions may be organised as a Court of Accounts or having a collegiate or 
board system. 

Surplus  

Results where operating revenue generated by a department is greater/less than the 
associated operating expenses for a particular accounting period.  This is also known as the 
operating result.  

Sustainability 

The continuation of benefits from an intervention after the intervention has been completed. 
The probability of continued long-term benefits. The resilience to risk of the net benefit flows 
over time. 

 

Target (MTEF Target)  

The final products, goods, or services produced over a given period of time, by an institution, 
in order to achieve its objectives.  An MTEF target corresponds to an output. 

Taxes 

Economic benefits or service potential compulsorily paid or payable to public sector entities, 
in accordance with laws and or regulations, established to provide revenue to the 
government. Taxes do not include fines or other penalties imposed for breaches of the law 

Transfers-in  

Inflows of future economic benefits or service potential from non-exchange transactions, 
other than taxes. 

Transparency 

Transparency of fiscal and financial information is essential for an informed executive, 
legislature, and the public at large (normally through the filter of competent legislative staff 
and capable public media). It is essential not only that information be provided, but that it be 
relevant and in understandable form.  Providing large amounts of unexplained financial 
information to the public does nothing to improve fiscal transparency. The IMF underlines the 
importance of clarity of fiscal roles and responsibilities; public availability of information; 
open processes of budget preparation, execution and reporting; and independent reviews 
and assurance of the integrity of fiscal forecasts, information and accounts.  
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Unit Cost    

Is the full cost is divided by the number of output units produced.  

Units of Use (Depreciation)  

Allocates depreciation in terms of economic units of production or usage rather than on the 
basis of time.  

User Charges 

Payment directly by the consumer for goods and services provided by the public sector to 
individuals or organisations in the private sector (whether for partial or total recovery of costs 
of provision) as well as the internal pricing of goods and services (i.e. user charges between 
public institutions and agencies) 

Value for Money   

Value for money (with a focus on objectives, whole of life costs and risk management) is a key 
criterion for each output evaluation project. There are often also non-financial matters to be 
considered in evaluating value for money. Value for money is much more than mere efficiency 
since it relates to the achievement of departmental objectives and/ or delivery of outputs.  

Values 

The values/principles describe how the department conducts itself when carrying out its 
business. Generally, the best statements of principles/values express the departments’ 
attitude and likely behaviour about three things: 

o People: the way employees and customers are treated; 

o Processes: the way things are managed in the department; and 

o Performance: the expectations of quality. 

Vision 

The Vision is a compelling image of the desired state for the department in the long-term 
future 

 

 

Warrant 

An authorisation from the Ministry of Finance and Economy to a budget organisation to spend 
budgetary funds for a particular category of spending during the fiscal year.  The funds are 
generally sub-divided by means of apportionments.  Individual spending organisations may 
issue sub-warrants to their subordinate spending units. 

Written Down Value (WDV)  



PASAI  Financial Audit Manual – Glossary, Templates and Case 
Study 

33 

This is the gross value of an asset (acquisition cost or current cost) less accumulated 
depreciation. 
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Template #1: Preliminary Engagement Activities 
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Source: Introduction to Risk-based Approach to Financial Auditing; Volume #1; IDI  
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Template #2: Sample of Audit Engagement Letter 
Source: IDI FA Implementation Handbook 

Engagement Reference No.           Dated: ………….. 
           
The Head of the Entity (Head of Management or those charged with governance) 
XYZ entity 
 
 
Sir/Madam, 
 

The objective and scope of audit 
 
As required under the SAI Audit Act and …. (other relevant laws), the SAI of …. (insert name 
of country) will conduct the audit of the Financial Statement of the XYZ entity, which 
comprise Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 20X1, Statement of 
comprehensive income, Statement of changes in equity, and Statement of cash flows for the 
year then ended, and notes to financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies (these are names of financial statements prepared on accrual basis, and 
names as provided in IFRS. In case of cash based accounting, the financial statement could 
comprise of Receipts and Payments Statements or Cash Receipts and Cash Payments, and 
Statement of Expenditure for the year ended 31 December 2016). This is a mandated audit 
as required by the Laws. We further confirm our understanding of this audit engagement by 
means of this letter. 
 
The objectives of our audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
International Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAI) will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements. 
 
Responsibilities of the Auditors 
 
We will conduct our audit in accordance with International Standards of Supreme Audit 
Intuitions (ISSAI). Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements. As a 
part of an audit in accordance with ISSAIs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
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• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. 
  

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. However, 
we will communicate to you in writing concerning any significant deficiencies in 
internal control relevant to the audit of the financial statements that we have 
identified during the audit. 

 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the entity to cease to continue as a going concern. 
 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
 

Because of the inherent limitations of an audit, together with the inherent limitations of 
internal control, there is an unavoidable risk that some material misstatements may not be 
detected, even though the audit is properly planned and performed in accordance with 
ISSAI. 
 
We will issue audit findings in the form of audit observations from time to time during audit 
requiring additional information, proper explanation and appropriate action from the 
management. 
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Responsibilities of the management 
Our audit will be conducted on the basis that [management and, where appropriate, those 
charged with governance] acknowledge and understand that they have responsibility: 
 

a) For the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with applicable financial reporting framework (in case where entity has used fair 
presentation framework) Or preparation of the financial statements in accordance 
with applicable financial reporting framework or XYZ law of ABC jurisdiction (in case 
where entity has used compliance framework); 

b) For such internal control as [management] determines it necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error; and 

i. To provide us with: 
ii. Access to all information of which [management] is aware that is relevant to 

the preparation of the financial statements such as records, documentation 
and other matters; 

iii. Additional information that we may request from [management] for the audit; 
and 

iv. Unrestricted access to persons within the entity from whom we determine it 
necessary to obtain audit evidence. 

As part of our audit process, we will request from [management and, where appropriate, 
those charged with governance], written confirmation concerning representations made to 
us in connection with the audit. We look forward to full cooperation from your staff during 
our audit. 
 
Audit Entry Conference 
The Audit Entry Conference shall be conducted at the commencement of audit. Amongst 
others, the contents of the engagement letter will be discussed in the Entry Conference. 
 
 
Disclosure of fraud and corruption 
If the management is aware of fraud and corruption that took place in the entity, they 
should disclose to the auditors during the audit entry conference or during audit. It is the 
responsibility of the management to institute adequate system of internal controls to 
prevent and detect fraud and corruption. 
 
 
Custody and control of documents 
The responsibility for custody and control of documents shall rest with the management. 
The auditor shall not remove documents from the entity’s premises without management’s 
consent. At the end of the audit, the auditors shall handover all the documents to the 
management. 
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Audit Exit Meeting 
An Audit Exit Meeting will be conducted within one month on completion of field audit. 
During the exit meeting, the auditor’s report on the financial statements, audit findings 
along with management’s responses will be discussed and finalised. 
 
 
Reporting 
On completion of audit, the auditor as designated by the SAI shall express an opinion as to 
whether or not the financial statements are prepared, in all material respect in accordance 
with financial reporting framework or gives a true and fair view of the financial performance 
of any entity.  
 
Agreement of terms 
Please sign and return the attached copy of this letter to indicate your acknowledgement of, 
and agreement with, the arrangements for our audit of the financial statements including 
our respective responsibilities. 
 
 
___(signed)_________________________________________ 
Head of SAI/Department/Division 
 
 
Acknowledged and agreed on behalf of XYZ Entity by 
 
 
(signed) 
...................... 
Name and Title Date 
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Template #3: Overall Audit Strategy 
How to use template: 
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Source: Introduction to Risk-based Approach to Financial Auditing; Volume #1; IDI  
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Template #4: The Entity in its Environment 
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Source: Introduction to Risk-based Approach to Financial Auditing; Volume #2; IDI  
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Template #5: Risks and Controls at the Assertion Level 
Purpose: the purpose of this template is to: 

• Document the extent of the planned reliance on relevant controls to respond to the 
asserted risks of material misstatements; and 

• Document any risks of material misstatements or assertions that can be addressed 
only through reliance on controls. 

 

Source: Introduction to Risk-based Approach to Financial Auditing; Volume #3; IDI  
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Template #6: Risks and Controls for Financial 
Statement as a Whole 
Purpose: the purpose of this template is to document any risk of material misstatements that 
affect the financial statements as a whole and any controls relevant to the audit that 
addresses the identified risk of material misstatement for the financial statements as a whole. 

The IDI Template #6 (Risk Register) appears as Template #12 in this manual.  Template #9 
(Further Audit Procedures) appears as Template #13 in this manual. 

 
How to use Template: 
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Expected Results: 
 

 
Source: Introduction to Risk-based Approach to Financial Auditing; Volume #3; IDI  
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Template #7: Control Environment Questionnaire 
 

Entity: Prepared by:  

Audit Year: Reviewed by: 

A.  Senior Management Structure and Expertise Result 
Yes/No 

Remarks or reference 
to working paper 

1.  Is there a clearly defined senior management structure?  
For example, an oversight board, operating board, board 
committees etc. 

  

2.  Are the responsibilities of senior management personnel 
clearly defined? (preferably in writing) 

  

3.   Are senior management employment contracts 
reasonable (in terms of length, remuneration conditions 
etc.)? 

  

4.  Are there appropriate checks and balances within senior 
management structure?  For example: 

• non-executive directors 

• audit committees 

• separation of chairman and chief executive responsibilities 

• departmental oversight 

  

5.  Does the board (or equivalent) have an appropriate range 
of expertise and experience? (As well as sales, procurement 
and operating expertise etc. There should be expertise in the 
areas of finance, accounting and controls.) 

  

B. Codes of Conduct   

1.  Do management promulgate a written code of conduct, 
applicable to both management and staff, to act as a 
benchmark for management and staff attitude and 
behaviour? 

  

2.  Does the code of conduct cover such areas as: acceptable 
practice, conflicts of interest, or expected standards of ethical 
and moral behaviour? 

  

3.  Is the code communicated throughout the body?  Is it 
periodically acknowledged by employees?                                     

  

4.  Are employees informed of what they should do if they 
encounter improper behaviour?               

  

5.   Are there written policies to regulate management’s 
dealings with employees, suppliers, customers, creditors and 
insurers? 
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 Result 
Yes/No 

Remarks or reference 
to working paper 

6.  Is there a written policy in respect of declaring transactions 
with related parties?     

  

7.  Is there a written policy in respect of the gifts and 
hospitality that may be accepted? 

  

8.  Is there a written policy in respect of declaring pecuniary 
benefits and outside financial interest (including such things 
as directorships, sponsorships, and commission payments) by 
key officers? 

  

9.  Are independent checks performed to reveal common 
ownership, directorships and family relationships before 
major contracts or orders are placed? 

  

C.  Management’s Attitude to Internal Controls   

1.  Do management encourage and act on independent 
assessments of the control environment and internal 
controls?  For example: 

• are our management letters reviewed and responded to 
at board level? 

• are internal audit reports on controls encouraged by 
senior management and responded to at board level? 

  

2.  Is there an appropriately constituted audit committee with 
oversight of internal and audit arrangements, and a remit to 
consider the operation of controls? 

  

3.  Does management respond robustly to breaches of codes 
of conduct and law?  And is there communication throughout 
the organisation of disciplinary action taken as a result of the 
breaches? 

  

4.  Does management ever override normal procedures, 
codes, internal controls for instance to pay urgent invoices or 
appoint personnel?  Are such overrides documented and 
investigated? 

  

5.  Does management provide adequate sources for an 
appropriate level of internal audit work? (Consider whether 
the internal audit function is of an appropriate size, quality 
and independence.) 
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D. Recruitment, Retention and Remuneration of 
Senior Staff 

Result 
Yes/No 

Remarks or 
reference to working 
paper 

1.   Are vacant senior positions widely advertised within 
the pool of suitably qualified individuals (internally and/or 
externally)? 

  

2.   Are promotion and appointment mechanisms 
transparent and based on objective and appropriate 
criteria so preventing undue patronage and nepotism? 

  

3.  Is there an independent review of remuneration 
(including termination payments)?  (ie. by the sponsoring 
department or sub-committee or remuneration board). 

  

4.  Are integrity and ethical criteria included in 
performance appraisal? 

  

5. Is there an independent review of the function and 
competence of key officers (ie. by Internal Audit, External 
Audit, Work Study or Supervisory Board?) 

  

6.   Are there job descriptions?  If so, do they contain 
sufficient reference to control related responsibilities? 

  

7.  Are executive functions reserved to appropriate levels 
of management? 

  

8. Do delegated authorities appear to be appropriate?   

E.  Hiring and Training Employees   

1.  Are recruitment policies set out in writing?  And are 
these applied by suitably qualified staff?  (Application 
screening and recruitment interviewing should be carried 
out by suitably trained management personnel who are 
aware of the requirements of the vacant job role and 
have appropriate skills.) 

  

2.  Are there appropriate procedures to verify candidates’ 
experience, qualifications and references? 

  

3.  Do hiring policies require investigations for criminal 
record? 

  

4.  Are new employees made aware of their 
responsibilities and management’s expectations of them, 
preferably via a detailed written job description, which is 
kept up to date over the course of their employment? 

  

5.  Is there a regular (at least six monthly) review of each 
employee’s job performance by relevant line 
management (and reviewed by more senior 
management)? 
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 Result 
Yes/No 

Remarks or 
reference to working 
paper 

6.  Do performance reviews cover the achievement of 
developmental and training needs, and the future 
developmental and training requirements of employees? 

  

7.  Are there appropriate disciplinary or remedial 
procedures for ineffective performance? 

  

F.  Management Oversight of Operations   

1. Is there a clearly defined management / organisation 
structure with clear reporting lines encompassing all of 
the organisation’s function and staff? 

  

2.  Are there up to date procedure manuals covering both 
operational and financial/ accounting procedures? 

  

3.  Do senior management meeting minutes indicate that 
management accounts and other management reports 
receive an appropriate amount of attention and are acted 
on? 

  

4.  Do the accounting records appear to be well ordered 
and complete, and are financial reconciliations carried 
out on a regular basis, for example:  

• bank reconciliations 

• sales ledger reconciliations 

• purchase ledger reconciliations 

• stock ledger reconciliations 

• payroll 

• fixed assets register 

  

5.  Is the budget setting process: 

• set out in a procedural manual? 

• carried out by suitable personnel? 

• accepted by line managers and those personnel who 
have operational responsibility? 

• subject to senior management approval 

• conducive to budget discipline 

  

6.  Are there mechanisms in place to ensure that senior 
management is informed in a timely manner of: 

• impending budget/cash overruns (or significant under 
runs) 

• losses or fraud 

• breakdowns in internal control. 
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 Result 
Yes/No 

Remarks or 
reference to working 
paper 

7.  Are there relevant and reliable performance 
measures/indicators in place?  Matters to consider here 
are: 

• frequency of reporting 

• reconciliation to / deliverability from the accounting 
records/management accounts or other reliable 
records 

• verification procedures, by, for example, internal 
audit, external audit, management. 

 
Is there any evidence of management manipulation of 
performance reporting, so as to enhance results, 
performance related pay etc? 

  

8.  Do senior management give appropriate 
consideration to the process and results of external audit 
and the published accounts? 

  

G.  Management Policies to Safeguard Against 
Losses, Fraud and Illegal Acts 

  

1.  Is there a written policy on dealing with fraud and 
other illegal acts that has been brought to the attention 
of all staff? 

  

2.  Are there physical safeguards in place to protect 
against: 

• stock and fixed asset losses and misappropriation, 

• unauthorized access to computer equipment, records 
and software, 

• loss of accounting and other records, 

• loss through fire, flood, accident etc. 

  

3.  Is there a specific officer responsible for physical 
security of the premises and assets? 

  

4.  Is there adequate division of duties within the 
accounting function? 

  

5.  Is the internal audit department independent of the 
accounting and operating function? 

  

6.   Are staff encouraged to seek advice on ethical 
matters and is there an independent source of such 
advice? 
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Overall conclusion 
Based on the above evaluation, are you satisfied that the overall control environment will 
ensure that the control procedures will operate effectively in practice?  
Yes/No 
Note: The auditor should report any deficiencies in the control environment to the 
management of the entity.  
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Template #8: The Entity’s Control Environment, Risk 
Assessment, Monitoring and Communications 
Considerations 
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Source: Introduction to Risk-based Approach to Financial Auditing; Volume #2; IDI  
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Template #9 Internal Audit Checklist  
MINISTRY/DEPARTMENT: _____________________________ 

DATE OF REVIEW:              ________ ____________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

Instructions: Answers to all questions to  be by way of a tick () in the Yes/No column with comments as required. 

 Y
e
s 

N
o 

Comments Schedule 
Number 

     
1. Role and Objectives     
 
1.1 Have the responsibilities of the internal audit 
division/section been properly determined and set out 
formally?  
 

    

 
1.2 Is it the responsibility of internal audit to review, 
appraise and report on: 
 

(a) The soundness, adequacy and application 
of financial and other management 
controls? 

(b)  The extent of compliance with, relevance 
and financial effect of established policies, 
plans and procedures? 

(c) The extent to which the organisation’s 
assets and interests are safeguarded from 
losses of all kinds arising from: 

(i) Fraud and other offences?; 
(ii) Waste, extravagance and 
inefficient administration, poor value-
for-money or other cause? 

(d) The suitability and reliability of financial 
and other management data developed 
within the organisation? 

 

    

 
1.3 Does the division/section operate independently of 
line management? 
 

    

  

 
Internal Audit Sections Quality Control Checklist 

Control Objective: To what extent does the Internal Audit Section 
conform to accepted best practice? 
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 Y
e
s 

N
o 

Comments Schedule 
Number 

 
1.4 Is audit activity restricted by management policy to 
the detriment of audit’s effectiveness? 
 

    

 
1.5 Does the chief internal auditor have direct access to 
the ministry/departmental head, if required? 
 

    

 
1.6 Is the division/section free from obligation to 
undertake duties within the organisation other than 
audit? 
 

    

2. Liaison with Audit Division 
 

    

 
2.1 Are regular meetings held with the Audit Division? 
 

    

 
2.2 Are the ministry/departmental audit plans co-
ordinated with those of the Audit Division? 
 

    

 
2.3 Is there an interchange of all reports issued? 
 

    

 
2.4 Has it been agreed that ministry/department 
auditors will notify the Audit Division at an early stage 
of any major fraud or loss? 
 

    

3. Organisation and Staffing     
 
Obtain and attach an organisational chart for the audit 
division/section, together with a statement of strength, 
divided between qualified, non-qualified and clerical 
staff. 
 

    

 
3.1 Is the overall strength of the division/section big 
enough for the work to be covered? 
 

    

 
3.2 Is the head of internal a qualified, experienced 
auditor? 
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 Y
e
s 

N
o 

Comments Schedule 
Number 

 
3.3 Is the proportion of professionally qualified and 
experienced staff adequate? 
 

    

 
3.4 Is there an adequate number of specialist staff in 
areas such as computers, contract, etc.? 
 

    

 
3.5 Are audit staff arranged into appropriate teams, 
each headed by a suitably experienced team leader? 
 

    

 
3.6 Do the members of the division/section have 
regular meetings for exchange of views and 
information? 
 

    

 
3.7 Have job descriptions been prepared for all staff? 
 

    

4. Training Arrangements     
 
4.1 Is there a designated audit training officer? 
 

    

 
4.2 Is there an in-service training programme and, if so, 
is the syllabus adequate? 
 

    

 
4.3 Are all new and inexperienced staff members 
expected to participate in the programme? 
 

    

 
4.4 Is there provision for staff to take external courses 
and is the method of selection of these courses 
satisfactory? 
 

    

 
4.5 Is a training record kept for each member of staff 
which records courses and lectures attended, 
examinations passed, practical experience acquired 
etc.?  And, if so, is it in a formalised competency 
framework? 
 

    

 
4.6 Is there feedback on courses from participants to 
enable the effectiveness and relevance of subjects to be 
assessed? 
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 Y
e
s 

N
o 

Comments Schedule 
Number 

 
4.7 Are all staff given an opportunity to take part in all 
aspects of auditing including drafting reports, 
flowcharting, preparing audit programmes etc.? 
 

    

5. Planning and Control of Audits     
 
5.1 Is there a long-term plan designed to ensure that all 
objectives are attained over a period? 
 

    

 
5.2 Is an annual plan, based on the resources available, 
prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
long-term plan? 
 

    

 
5.3 Does the plan give adequate cover, especially in 
high risk areas? 
 

    

 
5.4 Is any formal system of risk analysis employed? 
 

    

 
5.5 Is progress against the annual plan monitored at 
regular intervals and reported to the 
ministry/departmental head? 
 

    

 
5.6 Is audit time recorded and analysed to show how 
audit resources have been employed to enable 
comparisons with targets to be made? 
 

    

6. Quality Control of Audits     
 
6.1 Are planned visits made routinely by senior staff to 
auditors in the field to undertake on-the-spot 
inspections of work being carried out? 
 

    

 
6.2 Are in-depth checks carried out by senior staff on 
completed files and working papers to assess the 
quality of work carried out? 
 

    

 
6.3 Is any other system of quality control in force? 
 

    

7. Conduct of Audits     
 
7.1 Have audit programmes been prepared in respect of 
each service or department subject to audit and are 
they adequate? 
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 Y
e
s 

N
o 

Comments Schedule 
Number 

 
7.2 Are adequate audit files maintained for each service 
or department audited which contain details such as 
flowcharts, audit programme, working papers and 
correspondence relating to previous audits? 
 

    

 
7.3 Are files reviewed by senior staff on a planned basis 
in order to ensure that the audit programmes in use 
remain relevant to current systems and that other 
information is up to date? 
 

    

 
7.4 Before an audit is undertaken is the team fully 
briefed on any areas requiring special attention? 
 

    

 
7.5 Are systems in operation documented on audit files 
and are audit staff required to update this information 
on each audit visit? 
 

    

 
7.6 Are adequate audit working papers maintained for 
each audit so that the extent of audit work carried out 
can be established, the conclusion (drawn by the 
auditor from tests carried out) shown and any 
information relating to the audit readily obtained? 
 

    

 
7.7 Is audit work not carried out for any particular 
reason noted for follow up later? 
 

    

 
7.8 Are there standing instructions to audit staff that, if 
they become aware of a serious breakdown of control, 
this should be reported at once to the head of the 
division/section? 
 

    

 
7.9 Are there standing instructions to the chief internal 
auditor to make an immediate review when such a 
situation is reported and to report to the head of the 
ministry/department in order that corrective action can 
be taken? 
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 Y
e
s 

N
o 

Comments Schedule 
Number 

     
8. Audit Reports     
 
8.1 Is a satisfactory form of audit report in use for the 
reporting of audit findings, system weaknesses, control 
failures, losses or irregularities and for the submission 
of recommendations to management? 
 

    

 
8.2 Are proposed findings and recommendations 
discussed with the head of department concerned 
before conclusion of the audit? 
 

    

 
8.3 Are completed audit reports reviewed by team 
leaders and the chief internal auditor before being 
submitted to management? 
 

    

 
8.4 Are all reports issued countersigned by the chief 
internal auditor? 
 

    

 
8.5 Does the chief internal auditor report to the highest 
level of management within the organisation: 
 

(a) In all cases?; 
(b) Only for serious matters? 
 

    

 
8.6 Is there a satisfactory system of follow up on 
recommendations made to ensure that appropriate 
action is taken? 
 

    

9. Audit Techniques     
 
9.1 Is use made of the following techniques: 
 

(a) Flow Charting?; 
(b) Internal Control Questionnaires?: 
(c) Computer Assisted Audit Techniques?; 
(d) Statistical Sampling? 
 

    

 

Subject to the satisfactory resolution of any major points noted in the audit report, in my opinion we 
have met the overall audit objectives. 

_________________________   _______________ 

Signed       Date 
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Template #10: Preliminary Systems Evaluation 
Components of the Evaluation  

The structure of the evaluation involves four important stages:  

• Assessment of Inherent Risk;  

• Assessment of the Control Environment;  

• Assessment of the Accounting Systems; and  

• Assessment of the Property Systems.  

The Preliminary Systems Evaluation (PSE) Form sets out the judgements that the auditor 
needs to make by the end of the PSE process, in two stages. In the first stage, the auditor 
should examine the overall control environment (Overall Preliminary Systems Evaluation) of 
the audited body and in the second, he/she should evaluate the adequacy of the individual 
systems (Preliminary Systems Evaluation – Individual Systems).  

The higher the level of inherent risk, the more audit work is required to provide assurance to 
management on the application of accounting, financial and operational controls. 

 

# Questions 

Assessed 
Inherent Risk 
(H/M/L) 

Comments/Re
ferences 

A Standards of Behaviour   

1 Do senior management set high standards of behaviour and 
encourage staff to adhere to such standards? 

  

2 Has management established and implemented codes of 
conduct promoting integrity, openness and accountability? 

  

B Organisational Structure   

1 Are relationships between the Minister, Accounting Officer and 
Senior Management open and professional? 

  

2 Does the organisation have a formally-agreed, communicated 
and observed reporting structure? 

  

C External Perceptions   

1 Have there been any notable allegations of fraud or corruption 
in the past year? 

  

2 Is the organisation subject to a high degree of public scrutiny 
which reduces the scope for fraud, corruption and the 
manipulation of information? 

  

3 Is the organisation obliged to publish external reports requiring 
a high degree of assurance regarding the integrity of 
management information systems? 

  

D Management   

1 Is management excessively involved in day-to-day operations?   
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2 Are there financial or performance incentives for management 
to manipulate information and/or records? 

  

3 Does management have significant opportunities to manipulate 
records? 

  

4 Does management rely on Internal Audits to maintain an 
adequate internal control framework? 

  

E Staff   

1 Does the organisation have a high level of staff turnover?   

2 Do recruitment and training procedures yield staff with 
sufficient competencies to perform their duties? 

  

3 
Is there evidence of significantly low staff morale within the 
organisation?  

  

4  Are staff under significant time pressure in carrying out their 
duties?  

  

5  Do salaries and allowances provide staff with an acceptable 
standard of living?  

  

6  Are salaries and allowances linked to performance measures, 
which could provide staff with an incentive to manipulate 
financial information?  

  

F  Systems    

1  Does the complexity of major systems require increased audit 
scrutiny?  

  

G  Past Experience    

1  Did the prior year’s internal audit work reveal any material 
weaknesses in the systems or procedures?  

  

2  Does the report from the Controller and the Auditor General 
reveal any significant weaknesses in the systems or 
procedures?  

  

H  Revenue Collection / Expenditures    

1  Do the organisation’s activities involve a high level of revenue 
collection / expenditures, which could provide incentives for 
fraud, corruption and misappropriation?  

  

2  Are revenue collection / expenditure systems largely manually 
operated?  

  

I  Assets    

1  Do the organisation’s activities involve handling large volumes 
of cash in numerous locations?  

  

2  Does the organisation own moveable inventory or property of a 
high value, which could be open to misappropriation?  
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Note: Inherent risk at the organisational level should only be assessed as good (i.e. low risk) 
if a full review of Governance Arrangements supports this assessment. 

Audit Manager:                                                          Date: 

Head of the SAI:     Date:     
     
 
Overall Preliminary Systems Evaluation  

This form provides for a preliminary review of the organisation’s systems, in order to better 
inform future planning, to assess whether the control environment will support systems-
based auditing, and to ensure proper accounting records are maintained that can provide 
sufficient, relevant and reliable evidence. It is also used to make note of any unusual activities, 
specific weaknesses or other risks that need to be addressed by substantive tests.  

Conclusions       

# Audit Procedure Assessment 
A  Assessment of Materiality by Nature  High / Moderate / Low  

(Enter on risk assessment summary)  
B  Assessment of Inherent Risk at the System Level  High / Moderate / Low  

(Enter on risk assessment summary)  
C  Evaluation of the specific control environment  Satisfactory / Poor  

(Enter on risk assessment summary)  
 Are proper accounting records maintained which 

could provide sufficient, relevant and reliable 
evidence?  

Yes / No  

 Selected audit approach based on the evaluation 
of the specific control environment (systems-
based auditing or direct substantive testing)  

SBA / DST  
(Enter on risk assessment summary)  

D  Assessment of the system’s control risk  High / Moderate / Low  
(Enter on risk assessment summary)  

E  Has the examination revealed any unusual 
activities, specific weaknesses or other risks?  

Yes / No  

If yes, please state their nature and their effects on the different account areas.  

Audit Manager:                                                          Date: 

Head of the SAI:     Date:      

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Good  Reasonable  Poor  
Inherent risk at the 
organisational level is 
considered:  
(Enter on the risk 
assessment summary) 
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A. Assessment of Materiality by Nature  
 

# Objective 
Result 
(H/M/L) 

Comments/
References 

1  Are the transactions and operations processed by the 
system subject to high-level Political Scrutiny?  

  

2  Are the transactions and operations processed by the 
system subject to scrutiny by the public or the media?  

  

3  Would errors or a lack of transparency in the system 
damage perceptions of the organisation?  

  

4  Are the transactions processed by the system governed by 
statutory (legal) responsibility?  

E.g. tax assessments, procurement regulations, etc.  

  

5  Is the Ministry required to publicly report on the processing 
of transactions by the system?  

  

6  Is the information produced by the system used to produce 
public reports?  

  

7  Is the system subject to scrutiny from, and conditions 
imposed by, domestic or international financial lending 
institutions or donor agencies?  

  

 

B. Assessment of Inherent Risk at the System Level  
 

# Objective 
Result 
(H/M/L) 

Comments/
References 

1  Have there been any allegations of fraud or corruption in 
the processing of transactions within the system?  

  

2  Is management excessively involved in the system’s day-to-
day operations?  

  

3  Are staffing levels and competencies sufficient to ensure 
that transactions are properly processed in accordance with 
the established procedures?  

  

4  Does the system involve manual revenue collection without 
a known total of the expected revenue?  

  

5  Does the system involve handling large volumes of cash?    

6  Does the system involve moveable inventory or property 
which could be susceptible to theft?  

  

7  Is the system excessively complicated, so as to present a 
risk of transactions being incorrectly processed?  

  

8  Did the prior year’s audit work reveal any major errors or 
weaknesses in the system?  
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C. Evaluation of the Specific Control Environment  
 

# Objective 
Result 
(H/M/L) 

Comments/
References 

1  Are there defined, approved procedures for processing 
transactions?  

  

2  Do transactions require authorisation?    

3  Is there an adequate separation of duties between the 
system’s initiation, authorisation and processing phases?  

  

4  Are there procedures for ensuring the completeness of 
processing functions (e.g. management reviews, internal 
audits, etc.)?  

  

5  Are bank reconciliations performed periodically to ensure 
the completeness of processing actions?  

  

6  Are there supervisory checks to ensure processing accuracy 
(e.g. management checks of invoice accuracy)?  

  

7  Are cheques, receipt vouchers, etc., properly controlled?    

8  Is there an adequate audit trail?    
 
D. Assessment of the System’s Control Risk - Transactions  
 

# Objective 
Result 
(H/M/L) 

Comments/
References 

 Organisational Controls    
1  Do transactions require authorisation?    
2  Do the pre-authorisation checks conform to expectations?    
3  Are all the transactions subject to the same authorisation 

procedure?    

4  Does someone check that all transactions have been 
properly authorised before processing them?    

 Completeness and Measurements    
5  Are forms relating to each type of transaction clear, 

making it simple to record transactions correctly?    

6  Do the procedures involve extracting information from 
one form and entering data onto another for subsequent 
processing? If so, is it possible to redesign the form so 
that this transcription is avoided? (If so, please highlight 
this fact.)  

  

7  Where documents are pre-numbered, are sequential 
checks performed to ensure that each has been 
processed?  

  

8  Where documents are compared with another document 
before processing, does this adequately ensure they all 
get processed?  

  

9  When control totals are used, is the person checking the 
post-processing total against the pre-processing total 
different from the person who launched the original 
control total?  
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10  Where transactions are processed in batches, is the 
person checking the post-processing batch against the 
pre-processing batch different from the one who 
launched the original batch?  

  

11  Where a person checks completeness by replicating a 
process or calculation, is this person different from the 
one who performed the original process or calculation?  

  

 Occurrence and Propriety    
12  Is there a check to ensure the regularity of transactions 

after they have been initiated, by a person different from 
the person who initiated them?  

  

 Security    
13  Are transactions secure from unauthorised access during 

processing?    

 

E. Assessment of the System’s Control Risk - Property  
 

# Objective 
Result 
(H/M/L) 

Comments/
References 

 Records    

1  Is there a clear record of all property of this type?    

2  Are there clear instructions on maintaining these records 
and are they up to date?  

  

3  Are the records periodically checked against the physical 
property?  

  

4  Is the person checking the record someone other than the 
custodian?  

  

 Accountability    

5  Is there a clear record of the person who has custody of 
the property?  

  

6  Are there clear guidelines defining the persons who are 
authorised to have access to the property?  

  

7  Is there adequate information on which custodians can 
base their decisions about the use of the property?  

  

 Security    

8  Is the property stored under lock and key?    

9  Is security adequate to prevent access by unauthorised 
persons?  

  

10  Is the property used in accordance with MoF policies and 
directives in relation to this type of property?  
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Template #11: Misstatements and the Audit Opinion 
During the course of the audit, the SAI may identify misstatements which are other than 
trivial.  The trivial ones can be identified and communicated if the mandate so requires.  Thee 
template below is used to record all misstatements and the responses thereto.  Any 
misstatements not corrected by management are carried forward for further evaluation (see 
other templates below). 
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Source: Introduction to Risk-based Approach to Financial Auditing; Volume #3; IDI  
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Template #12: Risk Register 
 

 

 

Source: Introduction to Risk-based Approach to Financial Auditing; Volume #3; IDI  



PASAI  Financial Audit Manual – Glossary, Templates and Case 
Study 

88 

 

Template #13: Template for Designing Further Audit 
Procedures 
Purpose: to identify the nature, timing and extent of further audit procedures necessary to 
carry out the audit. 

 
Source: Introduction to Risk-based Approach to Financial Auditing; Volume #4; IDI  
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Template #14: Template for Identifying and Designing 
Special Audit Consideration Procedures 
 

 

Source: Introduction to Risk-based Approach to Financial Audit. 
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Template #15: Evaluation of Uncorrected Mistakes in 
the Financial Statements 
 

Prepared by Signature Reviewed & approved by Signature 

Name:     
Designation:   

Date: 
 

  
 
Documentation of list of observations traced from execution phase of the audit 
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Observation 
reference No. 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 

    

 

       

Total amount (Uncorrected misstatement considered as accounting error) Value WP Ref. 

Total amount of misstatement in classes of transactions/accounts balance  (A)  
 

The accumulated misstatement corrected (B)  
 

Final accumulated uncorrected misstatements C= (A)-(B)  
Traced 
to.. 

Materiality for financial statement as a whole   
Traced 
from 

Overall evaluation of uncorrected misstatement & ascertaining impact on financial statements 

Are the uncorrected misstatements material? (Yes/No)   

If the answer is YES, ascertain the impact on the financial statements as a whole (e.g. 
overstatement or understatement of income, expenditure, etc.) 

  

If the answer is NO, are the misstatements by nature material (state, with reason, if 
misstatements by nature are material and have an impact on the presentation of the 
financial statements) 
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Guidance on completing the working paper on evaluation of the effect of uncorrected 
misstatements in the financial statements 

Overall 
objective of 
completing the 
template 

The overall objective of this audit working paper is to record the evaluation of the effect 
of uncorrected material misstatements in the financial statements, which will become the 
basis for opinion in the auditor’s report.  

Applicable ISSAI ISSAI #2450, ISSAI #2500 

Guidance Audit observations are the exceptions that the auditor has noted while performing 
control testing procedures and substantive audit procedures. The observations to be 
recorded in this working paper template will be traced from the execution phase of the 
audit, specifically from the section on overall conclusion of control testing procedures and 
substantive testing procedures recorded by the auditor. 

 Column 2 In this column the auditor can record the related audit area (material 
classes of transactions or accounts balance) 

Column 3 In this column the audit team can categorize whether the 
misstatement/observation noted was a result of control deficiency, 
error, disclosure deficiency or any other matters. This categorization 
will assist the audit team in evaluating the effect of the misstatement 

Column 4 In this column, the team can record the gist of the observation. 
Column 5 In this column, record against each audit observation the amount 

involved that, if unresolved, may have an impact on the financial 
statements depending on whether it is material or not. 

Column 6 In this column, the auditor can record the working paper reference 
number in the section from which a particular observation has been 
traced (should be traced from the overall conclusion section of control 
testing procedures and substantive testing procedures). 

Column 7 The name of the auditor who performed the test of control or the 
substantive test, and who accordingly noted the misstatement and 
drafted the audit observation, can be recorded here for ease of follow-
up and to deal with the matter until it is resolved. 

Column 8 The summary or gist of management’s response to the audit 
observation can be recorded in this column.  

Column 9 Upon discussion with management during the audit or at the audit exit 
meeting on completion of the audit, some observations may or may not 
be resolved. This status can be recorded in this column. 

Column 10 In this column, the auditor can record the reference number of each 
audit observation, irrespective of whether it has been resolved.  

Recording the 
evidence of 
preparer and 
reviewer  

The Table indicating the name of the person who prepared and completed this working 
paper and the reviewer needs to be completed at the end. The preparer could be a team 
leader or one of the team members, who could then sign off accordingly. 
 
The reviewer, usually the audit supervisor, should sign off this document to ensure that 
the work done by the team has been reviewed accordingly. 
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Template #16: Example of an Auditor's Report on 
Financial Statements  
 
Report by the SAI to XXX  

[Appropriate recipient, e.g. Legislature, Parliament, etc.]  

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of XYZ Ministry, which comprise the 
Receipts and Payments statement for the year ended 30 June 20X1, schedules forming part, 
and a summary of other explanatory information. 

In our opinion, the financial statements of XYZ Ministry for the year ended 30 June 20XX are 
prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with XYZ Law of Jurisdiction X. 

Basis for Opinion 

 We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the 
Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial statements in [jurisdiction], and we have fulfilled our other responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion  

Key Audit Matters  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most 
significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition 
to the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section we have determined the 
matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.  

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements  

Management is responsible for the preparation of these financial statements in accordance 
with XYZ law of the Jurisdiction X, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial 
reporting process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
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considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements  

 

 [Include responses from the audited entity as appropriate, for example after the Opinion 
paragraph, in a summary under a heading of “Responses from the Audited Entity” or as a 
separate appendix] 

[Include constructive recommendations as appropriate, for example after the Opinion 
paragraph, in a summary under a heading of “Recommendations” or as a separate appendix]  

[Auditor’s signature]  

[Date of the auditor’s report]  

[Auditor’s address] 
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Template #17: Example of a Compliance Audit “Short 
Form” Report 
The format of compliance audit reports may vary depending on a number of factors, such as 
the mandate of the SAI in the specific matter being audited, relevant legislation, reporting 
practices or the complexity of the issues being reported. However, there is a set of minimum 
requirements to be met in order to present reporting formats that are consistent and 
understandable by the users. This will allow for a clear presentation of the work performed, 
the conclusions reached and identification of any unusual circumstances.  

This example is an audit to see if the body we are auditing had complied with the terms of its 
funding. 

Compliance Audit Report by the OAG  

[Appropriate recipient, e.g. Organisation XYZ]  

Report on [Government Agency ABC's Compliance with the Terms of the Funding 
Agreement with Organisation XYZ dated xx.xx.20XX]  

We have audited [government agency ABC's compliance with the terms of the funding 
agreement with organisation XYZ dated xx.xx.20XX as set out in the project accounts for the 
year ended 31.12.20XX, showing total expenditures of O$ xxx,xxx.xx].  

Management's Responsibility  

According to [the terms of the funding agreement with organisation XYZ dated xx.xx.20XX], 
the management at government agency ABC is responsible for [preparing complete project 
accounts in compliance with the terms of the funding agreement].  

Auditor's Responsibility  

Our responsibility is to independently express a conclusion on [the project accounts] based 
on our audit. Our work was conducted in accordance with the [INTOSAI Fundamental Auditing 
Principles and Guidelines for Compliance Audit]. Those principles require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and that we plan and perform the audit so as to obtain reasonable 
assurance as to whether [the use of the project funds are in compliance, in all material 
respects, with the terms of the funding agreement dated xx.xx.20XX].  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain sufficient, appropriate evidence to support 
our conclusions. The procedures performed depend on the auditor's professional judgment, 
including an assessment of the risk of material non-compliance, whether due to fraud or 
error. The audit procedures performed are those we believe to be most appropriate to the 
circumstances.  We believe that the gathered audit evidence is sufficient and appropriate, 
such as to form a basis for our conclusions.  

Conclusions  

Based on the audit work performed, we found that [government agency ABC's use of project 
funds received from organisation XYZ] is in compliance, in all material respects, with [the 
terms of the funding agreement dated xx.xx.20XX].  

[Responses from the audited entity as appropriate, for example in a summary under a heading 
of “Responses from the Audited Entity” or as an appendix]  
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[Recommendations as appropriate, for example under a heading of “Recommendations” or 
as an appendix] 
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Template #18: Example of a Qualified Opinion 
This example reflects a situation where there has been non-compliance with the authorities’ 
requirements, in particular with relevant legislation and with the purposes and intentions of 
the legislature, and where the auditor has determined that the effects are material but not 
pervasive. The introductory sections of the report and the sections after the compliance 
opinion are the same as in the example in Template #17.  

[appropriate introductory sections of the report]  

Audit Report  

[appropriate introductory text]  

Basis for Qualified Opinion  

During the year, government agency ABC received budget appropriations through the 
Ministry of Education for national educational purposes. My audit revealed that grant 
expenditures for the year included O$10 million to overseas high-tech manufacturers.  

Based on [the legislation governing the audited entity], government agency ABC did not have 
the power to make grants to overseas bodies. The grant expenditures paid out to overseas 
bodies were not applied to the purposes intended by the legislature and are therefore not in 
compliance with the requirements of the authorities that govern it.  

Opinion  

In my opinion, except for the expenditures paid to overseas bodies as described in the Basis 
for Qualified Opinion above, in all other material respects the activities, financial transactions 
and information reflected in the financial statements are in compliance with the requirements 
of the authorities that govern them.  

[appropriate concluding sections of the report] 
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Template #19: Example of an Adverse Opinion 
This example reflects a situation where there has been non-compliance with the authorities’ 
requirements, in particular with relevant legislation and with the purposes and intentions of 
the legislature, and where the auditor has determined that the effects are both material and 
pervasive. The introductory sections of the report, and sections after the opinion, are 
unchanged from the example in Template #17.   

[appropriate introductory sections of the report]  

Audit Report  

[appropriate introductory text]  

Basis for Adverse Opinion  

During the year, government agency ABC paid out social welfare benefits totalling O$500 
million. Pension payments accounted for 90% of the total welfare benefits paid out. The 
financial statements fairly reflect the amounts paid out. However, weaknesses identified in 
the controls surrounding the computer systems used to make pension payments revealed 
that the payments were not being made on a timely basis in accordance with [Relevant social 
welfare legislation, regulations, etc.]. The consequence of this weakness may be a violation 
of the legal rights of eligible pensioners.  

Opinion  

In my opinion, because of the significance of the matter discussed in the Basis for Adverse 
Opinion, the activities, financial transactions and information reflected in the financial 
statements are not in compliance with the requirements of the authorities that govern them.  

[appropriate concluding sections of the report] 

 

  



PASAI  Financial Audit Manual – Glossary, Templates and Case 
Study 

98 

Template #20: Example of a Disclaimer 
This example reflects a situation where the auditor has not been able to obtain sufficient, 
appropriate audit evidence in regard to expenditures being in compliance with the 
authorities’ requirements, in particular with relevant legislation and with the purposes and 
intentions of the legislature, and where the auditor has determined that the effects are both 
material and pervasive. The introductory sections of the report and the sections after the 
opinion are the same as in the example in Template #17.   

[appropriate introductory sections of the report]  

Audit Report  

[appropriate introductory text]  

Basis for Disclaimer  

During the year, government agency ABC received budget appropriations through the 
Ministry of Education for national educational purposes. Our audit revealed that grant 
expenditures for the year, as reflected in the financial statements, included O$10 million to a 
private research institution. This grant accounted for 90% of total grant expenditure for the 
year.  

The evidence available to me for determining whether the grant expenditure was paid out in 
accordance with [Relevant legislation, regulations, etc.] was limited. Due to hurricane 
damage, government agency ABC was unable to provide sufficient documentation to 
demonstrate that the private research institution was eligible to receive such grants. There 
were no other satisfactory procedures I could carry out to determine if the payments were 
paid out in accordance with relevant legislation and were therefore applied to the purposes 
intended by the legislature.  

Disclaimer  

Because of the limitation of scope described in the Basis for Disclaimer above, I am unable 
to form an opinion as to whether the activities, financial transactions and information 
reflected in the financial statements are in compliance with the requirements of the 
authorities that govern them.  

[appropriate concluding sections of the report] 

  



PASAI  Financial Audit Manual – Glossary, Templates and Case 
Study 

99 

Template #21: Example of an Emphasis of Matter and 
Other Matter(s) Paragraph 
In some situations, there may be a need to elaborate on particular matters that do not affect 
the compliance opinion. An Emphasis of Matters or Other Matters paragraph is used in such 
circumstances as illustrated in the following example. The introductory sections of the report 
and the sections after the compliance opinion are the same as in the example in Template 
#17.   

[appropriate introductory sections of the report]  

Audit Report  

[appropriate introductory text  

Opinion  

In my opinion, in all material respects, the activities, financial transactions and information 
reflected in the financial statements are in compliance with the requirements of the 
authorities that govern them.  

Emphasis of Matter  

I draw the reader’s attention to Note xx attached to the financial statements. This note 
explains the uncertainty related to the pending legal decision regarding the agency's 
interpretation of the requirements of the environmental legislation dated xx.xx.20xx. My 
opinion has not been qualified in respect of this matter.  

Other Matter  

I draw the reader’s attention to the agency's compliance with the procurement legislation 
dated xx.xx.20xx, in force for agency ABC's jurisdiction. The terms of this legislation are 
contradictory to the terms of the procurement legislation dated yy.yy.20yy, which is being 
implemented for all jurisdictions that are parties to the ZZZ general trade agreement. This 
includes agency ABC's jurisdiction. There is a need for the legislature to give this matter 
further attention such that the necessary amendments to the procurement legislation dated 
xx.xx.20xx may be enacted to bring the two texts into alignment.  

[appropriate concluding sections of the report] 
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Case Study: Financial Auditing Part One: Auditing the 
Annual Financial Statements 
Introduction 

This first part of the Case Study covers the substantive audit work to be undertaken in 
order to be able to form an audit opinion.  The second part (see below) of the Case 
Study covers the formation of that opinion based on the results of the audit of the AFS.  
Whilst aiming to be comprehensive, the work can only provide a degree of guidance.   
There is no easy way of learning how to audit.  No matter how good the manuals and 
templates, there is nothing better than hands-on, practical experience working with an 
auditor who “knows the ropes”.  This is why we will be having a series of pilot audits. 
Today there is considerable convergence between public and private sector 
accounting and, thus, public and private sector auditing.  Many of the International 
Standards for Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAI) are merely restated commercial 
International Standards on Auditing (ISA). 
Accordingly, the paragraphs describing the audit action to be taken are aimed at both 
public and private sector audits.  Where a proposed check is not applicable to the 
sector being audited, it may be ignored. 
This section of the Case Study starts out with a set of pro forma Annual Financial 
Statements. 
 

Preliminary Audit Work 

The first stage of the audit is related to the contents and structure of the report 
rather than to the figures themselves.  The audit questions to ask are: 

• Legislation: have the AFS been produced in accordance with the relevant 
legislation?  For example, if the legislation requires accrual-based accounting 
was this applied?  If not, this will be a key item in the audit report – whether or 
not it affects the audit certificate will depend on the variance form the 
legislation and whether it has had any material effect on the AFS. 
 

• Standards: have the AFS been produced in accordance with accounting 
standards?  These can be national standards, the International Public Sector 
Accounting Standards (IPSAS) of the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as appropriate.  Unless the national standards match or 
exceed the IPSAS, failure by central or local government to follow these 
should be reported upon in the audit report. 
 

• Structure: do the AFS follow the structure in terms of the number of different 
statements and their internal content? 
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Detailed Audit Work 
The second stage of the AFS audit examines the actual figures.  This is will done 
covering five areas: 

• Consolidated Assets and Liabilities: the “balance sheet” which is a 
“snapshot” of the balances as at the end of the financial year; 

• Statement of Consolidated Fund (Revenues and Expenditure): all three 
statements should have the same total figures categorised in different ways.  
We will look at the traditional Ministry by Ministry approach; 

• Statements of Changes in Net Assets/Equity: we will examine the changes 
to the Revaluations and Currency Translation Reserve Funds; 

• Statement of Consolidated Cash Flow: this basically involves restating 
balances in a different format; and  

• Statement of Accounting Policies and Notes to the Financial 
Statements: we simply ensure that the statements exist and accurately 
reflect the entity’s policies. 

Statement #1: Consolidated Assets and Liabilities 

This is the public sector equivalent of the balance sheet used by commercial 
concerned with bodies.  The statement is divided into Assets: Current Assets (which 
can be readily converted into cash equivalent) and Non-current Assets (which are long 
term assets) and Liabilities – also divided into Current (due within the year) and Non-
current (longer term debt).  The audit process is to take each element of the statement 
and to verify its existence and value. 

Statement 1: Government of the Republic of Oceania 
Statement of Consolidated Assets and Liabilities (Financial 
Position) as of 31 December 2019 

 2019 2019 2018 2018 

ASSETS     
Current Assets: 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Receivables 
Inventories  
Prepayments 
Investments 
 

 
 

X 
X 
X 
X 
X 

  
 

X 
X 
X 
X 
X 

 

Total Current Assets  X  X 

Non-current assets: 
 
Receivables 
Investments 
Other financial assets 

 
 

X 
X 
X 

  
 

X 
X 
X 
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Infrastructure, plant and equipment 
Land and buildings 
Intangible assets 
Other non-financial assets 
 

X 
X 
X 
X 

X 
X 
X 
X 

Total Non-current Assets 
 

 X  X 

 
TOTAL ASSETS 

  
X 

  
X 

     

LIABILITIES     

 
Current liabilities: 
 
Payables 
Short-term borrowings 
Current portion of borrowings 
Provisions 
Employee benefits 
Superannuation 
 

 
 
 

X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 

  
 
 

X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 

 

Total Current Liabilities  X  X 

 
Non-current liabilities: 
 
Payables 
Borrowings 
Provisions 
Employee benefits 
Amounts Held in Trust for Third Parties 
Superannuation 
 

 
 
 

X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 

  
 
 

X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 

 

Total Non-current Liabilities  X  X 

 
TOTAL LIABILITIES 

  
X 

  
X 

 
NET ASSETS 

  
X 

  
X 

 
NET ASSETS/EQUITY 

    

 
Capital contributed by other government 
entities 
Reserves 
Accumulated surpluses/(deficits)  

 
 

X 
X 
X 

  
 

X 
X 
X 
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Total Net Assets/Equity X X 
 

The following paragraphs provide an overview of the steps required to audit some of 
the elements of the Statement.  They can be used as a “template” for auditing other 
similar areas.  The project will be developing audit manuals and audit 
programmes/checklists which are the documents to be used when undertaking the 
audit work.  
Accounting Records 

The following points should be considered: 

- The accounting records should be maintained on the basis of the double entry 
principles to facilitate accuracy and completeness; 

- All entries other than from books of prime entry (i.e. journals, adjustments and 
transfers) should be authorised by senior management;  

- The nominal ledger should be balanced regularly and should be the subject of 
regular review; and 

- Final accounts should be properly extracted from the nominal ledger. 

When examining book-keeping special attention should be given to the year-end 
procedures and the "cut-off" date. 

Particular attention must be given to any suspense accounts.  Items should only 
appear here temporarily whilst the true nature of the item is found out.  Thus, any 
suspense item appearing in two consecutive year’s accounts should be queried and 
reasons found why it has not been cleared. 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The practice of obtaining independent bank certificates is essential to the proper 
discharge of our responsibilities. This is often called “audit assertions”.  The following 
points are important: 

o A standard request letter should be sent for all the client's bank accounts; 
o Authority for the bank to disclose the information regarding the client must 

be given; 
o Letters should be sent at least one week in advance; and 
o Additional information which may be required should be requested in a 

separate letter. 
The standard letter relates to requests to the clearing banks and it may not always be 
appropriate for requests to secondary banks, banks offering special services or banks 
outside the country. 
On examining bank reconciliations it is important to ensure that all reconciliation items 
are valid as it is not just arithmetical accuracy which is being confirmed. 
It is good practice to coincide the audit of the bank reconciliations with the date on which 
debtors are circularised for positive confirmation. 
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If available, returned cheques are an important confirmation for audit purposes and those 
which are required should be requested, allowing sufficient time for the cheques to be 
returned. 
The extent of work conducted to verify cash is often excessive compared to the 
materiality of the asset.  Often an analytical review of the cash balances will be adequate 
verification.  Consideration must be given to the nature of cash as an asset and the ease 
with which it may be fraudulently converted. 
If cash is counted (e.g. during a ministry audit) it is important to ensure that all the floats 
are presented simultaneously.  The procedure is most effective when conducted on a 
surprise basis and consideration should also be given to confirming cash balances at the 
same date as bank balances.  This ensures, where the cashier is responsible for both 
bank and cash, that misappropriated funds cannot be made good by transfers between 
cash and bank or vice versa. 
It is essential that no member of staff ever takes or retains custody of cash without being 
in the presence of the cashier or a senior officer of the client.  On returning the float the 
cashier should be asked to sign the working paper confirming return, intact, of the cash 
float. 
Where bank overdrafts may be legally set off against bank balances this should be done 
for the purposes of balance sheet disclosure.  Where no right of set off exists bank 
overdrafts must be shown separately in current liabilities. 
Bank balances should normally be included at the amount shown in the cash book.  
Where cheques have been processed through the cash book but not issued at the year 
end the amount should be adjusted to creditors. 
Where bank balances are held in countries where exchange regulations do not permit 
the free transfer of funds back to your country the amount of such funds and the details 
of restrictions should be disclosed in the accounts. 
Receivables (Creditors) 

A creditors’ circularisation is a fundamental audit procedure for the verification of trade 
and other creditors, in the absence of adequate supplier statement reconciliations.  
Where the client regularly reconciles creditors with suppliers’ statements it will normally 
be adequate to review the reconciliations giving particular attention to the reconciling of 
disputed items. 
It is best practice to select a sample of trade and other creditors for audit verification and: 

o Review supplier statement reconciliation, if available; or 
o Send out positive circularisation requests. 

The procedures (and the considerations regarding timing) for carrying out a creditors’ 
circularisation are the same as for debtors (see below). 
Alternative procedures are required in the absence of external evidence arising from a 
supplier's statement reconciliation or a circularisation upon review of the client's systems 
for ensuring that all liabilities are properly recorded and tests on the unpaid items by 
reference to the underlying accounting records. 
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Inventories (Stock and Work-in-Progress)  

Any balances of tangible items, such as stores, must be supported by properly 
authorised schedules which must be checked by the auditor. 
Stocks and Work-in-Progress should be classified as a current asset as they will 
normally be realised or consumed within one year and may include: 
 

o Goods or other assets purchased for resale ("Goods for Resale); 
o Consumable Stores; 
o Raw Materials and Components purchased for incorporation into 

products for resale ("Raw Materials"); 
o Products and Services in intermediate stages of completion ("Work in 

Progress"); and 
o Finished Goods. 

 
Stocks and Work-in-Progress (other than long term contract work in progress) should be 
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value of the separate items or groups of 
similar items. 
 
Cost is defined as being that expenditure which has been incurred in the normal 
course of business in bringing the product or service to its present location and 
condition.  This expenditure includes the cost of purchase (purchase price, handling 
and delivery charges, duties and other similar items) plus the cost of conversion, where 
applicable, less trade discounts, rebates and subsidies. 
 
Costs of conversion are those costs which are specifically attributable to units of 
production (i.e. direct labour, direct expenses, sub-contract work, and includes 
production and other overheads as appropriate). 
 
Production and other overheads are those costs attributable in the particular 
circumstances of the business to bringing the product or service to its present location 
and condition based on a normal level of activity taking one year with another. 
 
Some of the important points are: 

o  Abnormal costs such as idle capacity, spoilage and other losses which 
under normal conditions would be avoidable should be excluded from 
costs of conversion; 

o Normally costs of general management should be excluded, but in 
smaller businesses where the general manager is responsible for all 
functions (administration, selling, production), costs should be reasonably 
allocated over functions; 

o Costs of central service departments should be allocated on a fair basis 
over the departments and functions that they serve; and 

o Where firm sales contracts are entered into overheads relating to design, 
marketing and selling incurred before manufacture may be included in 
arriving at costs of conversion. 
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Net realisable value is the actual or estimated selling price (net of any trade, but not 
cash, discounts) at which it is expected that items of stocks and work-in-progress can be 
disposed of without creating either profit or loss on sale, less: 

o All further costs to completion; and 
o All costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distributing. 

 
A long term contract is one entered into for manufacture or building of a substantial 
entity or entities of the provision of a service where the time taken to manufacture, build 
or provide is such that a substantial proportion of all such contract work will extend for 
a period exceeding one year. 
 
Such work-in-progress should be stated in the accounts at cost plus any attributable 
profit, less any foreseeable losses and progress payments received and receivable.  If, 
however, anticipated losses on individual contracts exceed costs incurred to date less 
progress payments received and receivable, such excesses should be shown separately 
as provisions. 
 
In ascertaining cost, it is not normally appropriate to include interest payable on borrowed 
money unless sums borrowed can be identified as financing specific contracts.  Where 
related interest is included in work-in-progress, the facts should be clearly stated in the 
accounts. 
 
The audit of contract work-in-progress is a good example of the importance of 
gaining an understanding of the industry in order to carry out an effective audit.  It 
is necessary with contract work-in-progress to recognise, and where possible minimise, 
the subjective areas of judgement. 
 
The main points to be concerned about, and to form an opinion on, are: 

o The type of contract entered into; 
o Whether suitable care has been taken in the tender, particularly at the 

estimating and profit addition stage; 
o Whether a suitable costing system is in operation; 
o Seeing that suitable adjustments are made to interim valuations to 

account for front-end loading and accruals; 
o Identifying guarantees and penalty clauses; 
o Establishing that the client has a correct procedure for dealing with 

escalation clauses, variations and claims; and 
o Whether the client has an adequate forecasting system to enable a view 

to be taken on the future profitability of contracts. 
The verification of stocks and work-in-progress, for most clients, is the most 
critical aspect of the audit.  It is essential that audit procedures are allocated the 
appropriate degree of priority and that the procedures are adapted to the individual 
circumstances of the client.  In particular, the final accounts audit programme 
should be drafted to meet these specific requirements. 
 
Where clients rely on a physical count to determine the physical quantities of stocks for 
account purposes you should attend the physical count.  The objectives of 
attendance are: 
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o To gain physical contact with the stocks; 
o To assess the effectiveness of the client's stocktaking procedures; and 
o To assess the condition of the stocks. 

The following procedures should be followed: 
o A copy of the stocktaking instructions should be obtained prior to the 

count and reviewed.  Any deficiencies should be discussed with the client 
and corrected before the count date; 

o You should be present at the start of the count to ensure that prescribed 
administrative procedures are followed; 

o Particular attention should be given to ensuring that all areas of the 
counting are covered by audit checks.  This is most easily achieved by 
obtaining a plan of the areas to be covered and allocating the areas 
accordingly; 

o Test counts should concentrate upon items of a high value, easily 
portable nature; and 

o You should be present at the completion of the count to ensure that all 
stocktaking documents are accounted for and unauthorised amendments 
are not made. 

Where perpetual counting is used to verify the reliability of continuous records used for 
accounting purposes, the following points should be considered: 

o The counting should be based upon a planned cycle designed to cover 
the whole of the stocks during the cycle; 

o The client should be requested to retain evidence of the count 
reconciliations and adjustments should be reflected in the continuous 
records; and 

o Test counts should be carried out as a feature of the audit in addition to 
tests of the processing of transactions into and out of the continuous 
records. 

Where standard costs are used in the valuation of stocks and work-in-progress, it is 
necessary to consider whether the standard costs approximate to actual costs.  Factors 
which should be taken account of are: 

o The date at which the standards were set and the extent to which they 
reflect anticipated future costs; 

o The method by which standard costs are adjusted by variances to reflect 
actual costs; 

o The length of the production cycle; and 
o The activity levels assumed in including production overheads in the 

standard costs. 
Where the client uses independent experts to value stocks you should obtain a 
certificate from the specialists showing the bases of valuation adopted and make 
independent tests on the valuation.  In the light of the reputation of the expert, the 
significance of the stocks involved and the work conducted by you it will be necessary to 
assess whether the stock valuation is acceptable. 
 
If stocks are held by third parties on behalf of the client it is acceptable to obtain a 
certificate confirming the stocks held, except where the quantities held are so significant 
that inspection of the stocks is essential. 
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Prepayments (Debtors) 

Debtors normally include: 
o Amounts due from Customers in respect of sales ("Trade Debtors"); 
o Sundry Pre-payments; 
o Bills Receivable; and 
o Loans. 

Where any one category is substantial it may be appropriate to disclose the item 
separately. 
Amounts should be included in debtors only if they are expected to be realised within 
one year.  Deferred debtors may be included only when disclosure of their terms of 
payments and of the amount thereof are disclosed in the notes to the accounts. 
A debtors’ circularisation is a fundamental audit procedure for the verification of 
trade and other debtors as the circularisation obtains external confirmation of the 
existence, ownership and valuation (to a certain extent) of the debt.  The procedure is 
cost-effective in terms of audit effort and avoids the often time-consuming alternative 
procedures referred to below. 
Alternative procedures are required for debts selected for verification where either: 

o No (or inadequate) reply is received; or 
o The client requests that the debt is not circularised. 

Alternative procedures should concentrate upon a review of the client's system for 
controlling the debts and tests on the unpaid items by reference to the underlying 
accounting records. 
The circularisation of debtors may be either a positive or negative request.  Negative 
circularisation, which involves requesting a debtor to reply only if in disagreement with 
the balance, can be misleading in that it may be imprudent to assume that a debt exists 
purely in the absence of a reply.  The use of negative circularisation is not, therefore, 
recommended. 
Positive circularisation involves requesting debtors to confirm their agreement or 
disagreement with the debt.  The following points are important: 

o The procedure must be discussed in advance with the client to obtain 
approval for all the balances to be circularised; 

o Requests must be issued on client headed paper and signed by a 
company official, as only the client may request the debtor to divulge the 
information to you; 

o A copy of the customer's statement should be enclosed, where possible, 
to enable the identification of the cause of any differences; 

o The debtor must be asked to confirm the balance direct to you.  Failure to 
do this invalidates the procedure.  A reply-paid envelope should always 
be enclosed for use by the debtor; 

o A member of your staff must control the issue of requests.  Where the 
client prepares the requests from our list, each one must be checked 
before sealing for dispatch; and 

o A schedule must be retained of all debtors circularised for subsequent 
examination. 
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Second requests should be issued to debtors who have not replied and, if after a further 
reasonable period, no reply is received the alternative procedures must be followed. 
Certain debtors are sometimes unable to confirm a balance at a given point in time but 
are willing to confirm specific items as being outstanding.  In these circumstances a 
sample of invoices should be selected and forwarded to the debtor for confirmation that 
they were outstanding at the relevant date. 
Debtors, wherever possible, should be circularised at the balance sheet date.  Where 
this practice does not allow sufficient time to receive and reconcile the replies to first and 
second requests, circulars can be sent out at a date prior to the balance sheet date.  
Where internal control procedures are adequate it will normally be sufficient to carry out 
restricted additional procedures on the balances selected for circularisation at the 
balance sheet date.  These procedures may include a reconciliation of certain balances 
between the circularisation and balance sheet dates, particularly for major balances 
which were difficult to reconcile.  Where external control procedures are weak it may be 
essential to circularise the balances at the balance sheet date and delay the audit 
clearance. 
Bills receivable are written evidence of debt which as negotiable instruments are often 
discounted on a "recourse" basis with a bank or finance company. 
Bills receivable should be verified in an identical manner to normal trade debtors, 
although additional procedures may be required. 
 

Investments 

The existence of any investments should be confirmed by sighting the certificates, 
confirmation from the bank, brokers, etc. 
Fixed assets have the fundamental characteristic that they are held with the objective or 
earning money, directly or indirectly, and not for the purpose of resale.  Investments 
which are intended to be held continuously should not be included as a current asset and 
should be separately disclosed in the balance sheet. 
However, readily realisable investments which represent funds available but not 
immediately required for use in the business but which are expected to be realised within 
one year should be classified as current assets. 
Investments should normally be included in the accounts at cost, subject to any 
necessary provision for diminution in value.  In deciding whether any provision is 
necessary: 

o Where investments are held as fixed assets, the material consideration 
will be their long-term value to the business rather than their current 
market value.  A provision will normally be necessary if there has been a 
material diminution in value of an apparently permanent nature even 
though a loss has not been realised at the balance sheet date; and 

o Where investments are held as current assets, the material consideration 
will be their current market value.  If, at the balance sheet date, the 
market value of listed investments is below the amount at which they are 
stated in the balance sheet, the disclosure of that value will indicate the 
diminution of value.  However, in the absence of special circumstances it 
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would not be satisfactory merely to give such an indication by means of a 
note because an overstatement of the total current assets will not be 
avoided unless a provision is made for the diminution of value. 

The recommended method for estimating the amount of the provision for diminution in 
value of investments is to compare the cost of each investment with its value and provide 
for the full diminution in value of those investments which have diminished in value 
without taking into account any appreciation in value of other investments. 
 
The treatment of profits/losses arising on the disposal of investments should be: 

o Where investments were held as current assets the profit or loss should 
be treated as a normal trading item.  If the amount is so material as to be 
exceptional then it should be disclosed as an exceptional item in the 
notes to the accounts; and 

o Where investments were not held for the purpose of resale, any profit or 
loss should be disclosed as an extraordinary item, if material. 

Share certificates should be inspected at the balance sheet date except: 
o Where investments of a trading company are relatively few in number, 

the internal control procedures satisfactory and the value does not 
represent a material part of the company's assets.  Inspection may be 
made a short period after the year end but without prior notice to the 
client; and 

o Where a large volume of investments are held the inspection may be 
made during the year with a sample test at the year-end but only if 
internal control procedures are satisfactory. 

 
Infrastructure, Plant and Vehicles 

The checklist below illustrates the type of document that needs to be developed for every 
area of audit.  It ensures that any auditor can undertake the audit to the standard required 
to produce audit evidence to an acceptable degree of assurance. 
This document would be used as part of the audit of Statement of Consolidated Fund 
(Revenues and Expenditure) (Profit and Loss Account) but one the overall result of the 
audit will be the reliability (or otherwise) of the Plant and Vehicle balances. 
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National Audit Office 

MINISTRY/DEPARTMENT:______________________________ 
DATE OF REVIEW:____________________________________ 
_________________________________________________________________________
_ 
 
 

 

 

Instructions: Answers to all questions to be by way of a tick () in the Yes/No column with comments as required. 

 Y
e
s 

N
o 

Comments Schedule 
Number 

     
1. Acquisition and Disposal of Vehicles 
and Plant 
Objective: to ensure that proper 
management controls operate with regard 
to the purchasing, leasing, hire and 
disposal of vehicles and plant. 

    

1.1 Is there a laid down procedure for the 
authorisation of additional/replacement 
vehicles?  If so, is it sound and is it 
followed? 

    

1.2 Is the reason given for the additional 
/replacement vehicles valid within overall 
vehicle replacement policy? 

    

1.3 Was the tendering process used for 
the purchase? 

    

1.4 Is there a laid down procedure for the 
disposal of vehicles?  If so, is it sound and 
is it followed? 

    

 
1.5 Was the credit received for the vehicle 
disposal? 

    

 
1.6 Are the entries in the leasing register 
accurate? 

    

 
1.7 Are the entries in the plant register 
accurate? 

    

 
1.8 When was the last performance audit 
of buying v leasing v hiring undertaken? 

    

Plant and Vehicles - Checklist 
Overall Objective: To ensure that there is an effective plant and vehicle 
management system operating. 
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 Y
e
s 

N
o 

Comments Schedule 

Number 

     

2. Hired Vehicles 
Objective: to confirm that the hire of 
vehicles is in accordance with laid down 
policy. 

    

2.1 Was hire in accordance with laid down 
policy? 

    

 
2.2 Were quotations for hire obtained? 

    

2.3 Are the rates and details of hire 
invoices correct? 

    

2.4 Is economic use being made of hired 
vehicles (i.e. that vehicles are not idle 
whilst hired transport is in use)? 

    

3. Maintenance of Vehicles 

Objective: to ensure that control is being 
exercised over vehicle and plant running 
costs, including fuel, tyres, batteries and 
spare parts. 

    

3.1 Is there a sound policy in place for 
servicing and repairs? 

    

3.2 When was the last time that in-house 
servicing v private servicing the subject of 
a VFM audit study? 

    

3.3 Is servicing being carried out regularly 
(time or mileage) in accordance with a laid 
down programme? 

    

3.4 Are inspections carried out regularly 
(time or mileage) in accordance with a laid 
down programme? 

    

3.5 Where vehicles are serviced by 
outside firms, are checks made as to the 
frequency and quality of such services? 
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 Y
e
s 

N
o 

Comments Schedule 
Number 

3.6 Do all vehicles comply with legal 
standards of road-worthiness? 

    

3.7 If vehicles are insured, either with 
outside companies or through an 
insurance fund, are claims made for 
accidents? 

    

3.8 Is the system for recording both 
expenditure and maintenance adequate?  
Does it produce detailed management 
information?  If so, what information and 
who uses it? 

    

3.9 Compare charges for standard jobs 
between depots and with the private 
sector.  If there is a marked difference, 
consider a detailed VFM audit study. 

    

4. Vehicle Running 
Objective: that control is being exercised 
over the utilisation of vehicles and plant. 

    

4.1 Are the receipts and issues of petrol, 
diesel and oil from stocks properly 
controlled and recorded? 

    

4.2 If purchases from outside garages are 
permitted, is that the system sound? 

    

4.3 Is there a record of kilometres per 
litre?  If so, who is responsible for 
reviewing it and following up anomalies?  
Examine the record and ensure that 
obvious anomalies have been acted upon. 

    

4.4 Are tyre issues in accordance with laid 
down policy? Is there a record of tyre 
issues?  If so, who is responsible for 
reviewing it and following up anomalies?  
Examine the record and ensure that 
obvious anomalies have been acted upon. 

    

4.5 Are spare part issues in accordance 
with laid down policy? Is there a record of 
spare part issues?  If so, who is 
responsible for reviewing it and following 
up anomalies?  Examine the record and 
ensure that obvious anomalies have been 
acted upon. 
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 Y
e
s 

N
o 

Comments Schedule 
Number 

4.6 Are driver’s log books properly 
completed, checked and anomalies 
followed up? 

    

5. Use of Vehicles 
Objective: to ensure that control is being 
exercised over the utilisation of vehicles 
and plant. 
 

    

5.1 Are the supervisory arrangements 
satisfactory? 

    

5.2 Has careful consideration been given 
for routing vehicles, delivery/collection 
routes, etc.? 

    

5.3 Is the vehicle being used suited to the 
task (i.e. is a Toyota Hilux being used 
when a normal car could do the same job 
at less cost)? 

    

5.4 Is there a policy for authorising 
vehicles to be taken home?  If so, is it 
sound? 

    

5.5 Are vehicle costs ever re-charged to 
users?  If so, is the system sound? 

    

5.6 If vehicles are “off the road”, is the time 
involved and the reasons for the non-
availability reasonable? 

    

5.7 How good is the quality of vehicle use 
statistics and the management information 
derived therefrom? 

    

5.8 Are the security arrangements for the 
garaging of vehicles adequate? 

    

5.9 Are the security arrangements for the 
custody of spares and tools adequate? 
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 Y
e
s 

N
o 

Comments Schedule 
Number 

     

6. Vehicle Costing 
Objective: to ensure that there is a sound 
system of vehicle costing, preferably 
computerised to re-charge vehicle costs to 
service departments. 

    

6.1 Is there a sound system for recording 
all expenditure by vehicle and allocating 
these costs on a departmental user basis? 

    

6.2 Is any such system computerised?  If 
not, are there plans to introduce one in the 
near future? 

    

 

Subject to the satisfactory resolution of any major points noted in the audit report, in my 
opinion we have met the overall audit objectives. 

 

_________________________   _______________ 

Signed       Date 

 

 
Land and Buildings 

Here is another checklist which covers Land and Buildings.  The audit point for 
“balance-sheet” purposes is very simple – does the property exist, is it owned by the 
organisation and is the valuation reasonable? 
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National Audit Office 

MINISTRY/DEPARTMENT:______________________________ 
DATE OF REVIEW:__________________________________ 

 

 

 

Instructions: Answers to all questions to be by way of a tick () in the Yes/No column with comments as required. 

 Y
e
s 

N
o 

Comments Schedule 
Number 

     

1. Land and Buildings Register 
 

    

1.1 Do financial regulations require a land 
and building register to be kept? 

    

1.2 If so, does the head of the 
establishment have a copy of the 
instructions relating to land and buildings? 

    

1.3 Inspect all land and buildings which the 
department has.   Is there any indication of 
under occupation of either land or 
buildings? 

    

1.4 If sites are not fully occupied, could re-
arrangement of the department’s 
operations free up land, buildings or parts 
of buildings for use by other departments 
or for disposal? 

    

1.5 Has management ever undertaken a 
review of its use of land and buildings?  If 
so, when?  Obtain a copy of the report and 
verify its findings and whether any action 
was taken on its conclusions. 

    

1.6 Have the land and buildings been 
revalued?  If so, when.  Obtain a copy of 
the report.  Ensure that the values are 
those used in the balance sheet. 

    

Subject to the satisfactory resolution of any major points noted in the audit report, in my 
opinion we have met the overall audit objectives. 

_______________________   _______________ 

Signed       Date 

Land and Buildings Register - Checklist 
Overall Objective: To ensure that the department is utilising its land and 
buildings efficiently and identify any surplus to requirements. 
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Intangible Assets 

Unless it is considered prudent to carry forward preliminary expenses they should be 
written off as incurred. 
The treatment of goodwill varies considerably from company to company.  It may be 
carried forward at cost, written off on purchase or over a fixed number of years or held 
at cost until apparent that cost exceeds current value. 
Provisions and Reserves 

Sound accounting practice will require the use of a variety of reserves. 
However, these need to be kept to a minimum with regards affective PFM. 
This means that as well as examining opening balances, the inflows and outflows during 
the year and the closing balances, the auditor should consider whether or not the 
provision or reserve should exist at all. 
Superannuation 

In the past this was not an important topic as the funds tended to be self-financing.  
However, this is no longer the case in many cases and companies often have very high 
superannuation commitments which greatly exceed other items on the balance sheet. 
If the amount is material, the auditor must ascertain whether the organisation has any 
concrete plans for managing the problem. 
Contingencies 

The audit procedures concerning contingencies fall into three categories: 

o Establishing existence; 
o Monitoring development; and 
o Concluding on the appropriate treatment and disclosure. 

Contingent gains and losses should be identified by: 

o Direct requests to the client's bankers and solicitors; 
o Review of the procedure for recording and bringing claims to the attention 

of management; 
o Examination of minutes, correspondence and other appropriate 

documents (i.e. bills rendered by solicitors); 
o Discussions with the client's legal department; 
o Discussions with management obtaining a list of potential matters with 

estimates of possible financial impacts; 
o Inclusion of a relevant paragraph in the letter of representation; and 
o Review of registers of charges for items relating to guarantees in respect 

of third parties. 
 

Having established the existence of a contingency, it is necessary for the directors to 
monitor developments until the matter in question is finally resolved and the auditor 
should, in turn, review such developments.  This will include a review of correspondence 
and other documentary evidence, discussions with the appropriate client personnel to 
obtain an up-to-date company view on the position and direct contact with relevant third 
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parties.  The decision as to how any particular contingency should be accounted for 
involves subjective judgement by management, in particular: 

o Is the outcome a "probability", "possibility" or "remote possibility" of a gain 
or loss; 

o Is the contingent gain or loss capable of "reasonable" estimation?: and 
o Does a minimum level of disclosure, which avoids prejudicing the 

company's position, nevertheless meet the requirements of any 
legislation as well as the need to give a "true and fair" view? 

Clearly, there is no definition of "possibility" as against "probability" or of what may be 
reasonable in given circumstances.  Just as management must exercise sound 
judgement, so must the auditor.  Where there is doubt, the concept of prudence must 
prevail and it is the auditor's duty, after independent consideration of all the facts, to 
ensure that it does. 
Post Balance Sheet Events 

When preparing and auditing financial statements which are intended to give a "true and 
fair" view of the financial position and results of the client, regard must be given to events 
which occur after the balance sheet date which either provide evidence of conditions 
existing at the balance sheet date or may require disclosure because of their significance. 
Events arising after the balance sheet date need to be reflected in the financial 
statements if they provide additional evidence of conditions that existed at the balance 
sheet date and materially affect the amounts to be included.  To prevent financial 
statements from being misleading, disclosure needs to be made by way of notes of any 
material event arising after the balance sheet date which provide evidence for conditions 
not existing at that date.  Disclosure is required where this information is necessary for a 
proper understanding of the financial position. 
A post balance sheet event is an event which occurs between the balance sheet date 
and the date on which the financial statements were approved by the board of directors.  
It is not intended to include preliminary consideration of matters which may lead to a 
decision by the board in the near future.  If events which occur after the date on which 
the financial statements were approved by the board are material, the board should 
consider publishing the relevant information so that users of financial statements are not 
misled. 
The process involved in the approval of financial statements by the directors will vary 
depending on the management structure and the procedures followed in preparing and 
agreeing the financial statements.  However, the date of approval will normally be the 
date of the board meeting at which the financial statements are formally approved or, in 
respect of unincorporated bodies, the equivalent date.   
In respect of group accounts, the date of approval is the date the group accounts are 
formally approved by the board of the holding company. 
Events occurring after the balance sheet date may be classified into two categories: 
"adjusting events" and "non-adjusting events". 
Adjusting events are events which provide additional evidence relating to conditions 
existing at the balance sheet date.  They require changes in the amounts to be 
included in the financial statements. 
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Some events occurring after the balance sheet date, such as deterioration in the 
operating results and in the financial position may indicate a need to consider whether it 
is appropriate to use the going concern concept in the preparation of financial 
statements.  If the going concern concept is no longer applicable, changes in the 
amounts to be included in the financial statements will be required. 
Non-adjusting events are events which arise after the balance sheet date and concern 
conditions which did not exist at that time; consequently, they do not result in changes in 
the amounts in the financial statements.  They may, however, be of such materiality that 
their disclosure is required by way of notes to ensure that the financial statements 
are not misleading. 
Disclosure would be required of the reversal or maturity after the end of the year of 
transactions entered into before the year, the substance of which was primarily to alter 
the appearance of the company's balance sheet.  Such alterations include those 
commonly known as "window dressing". 
There are certain post balance sheet events which, because of statutory requirements 
or customary audit practices, are reflected in financial statements and so fall to be treated 
as adjusting events.  These include proposed dividend, amounts appropriated to 
reserves, the effects of changes in taxation and dividends receivable from subsidiary and 
associated companies. 
Separate disclosure of adjusting events is not normally required as they do no more than 
provide additional evidence in support of items in the financial statements. 
In determining which non-adjusting events are of sufficient materiality to require 
disclosure, regard should be had to all matters which are necessary to enable users of 
financial statements to assess the financial position. 
In respect of each post balance sheet event which is required to be disclosed, the 
following information should be stated by way of notes to the financial statements: 

o The nature of the event; and 
o  An estimate of the financial effect, or a statement that it is not practicable 

to make such an estimate. 
The estimate of the financial effect should be disclosed before taking account of taxation.  
The taxation implications should be explained, where necessary, for a proper 
understanding of the financial position.  The date on which the financial statements are 
approved should be disclosed in the financial statements. 
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Statement #2: Statement of Consolidated Fund (Revenues and 
Expenditure) 
 
Overview 

As we have seen above, the data contained in this equivalent of the profit and loss 
account is presented in three different ways.  However, as the total must be the same 
(if they are not there is a serious problem with the AFS!), it is only necessary to audit 
one of them.  As the traditional approach of external audit is to work on a ministry by 
ministry basis (whether or not they have their own AFS), this is the best approach to 
take. 
Statement 2a: Government of the Republic of Oceania 

Statement of Consolidated Revenue and Expenditure (Financial 
Performance – Classification of Expenses by Nature) for the Year 
Ended 31 December 2019 
 
Actual 
2018 

 Actual 
2019 

Final 
Budget 
2019 

Original 
Budget 
2019 

 
 

X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
 

Operating Revenue: 
 
Taxes 
Fees, fines, penalties and licenses  
Revenue from exchange transactions  
Transfers from other governments 
Other operating revenue 
 

 
 

X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
 

 
 

X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
 

 
 

X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
 

X Total Operating Revenue 
 

X X X 

 
 

(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

Operating Expenses: 
 
Wages, salaries, employee benefits 
Grants and other transfer payments  
Supplies and consumables used 
Depreciation/amortisation expense   
Other operating expenses 
 

 
 

(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
 

(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
 

(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

(X) Total Operating Expenses 
 

(X) (X) (X) 

(X) 
 

(X) 
(X) 
X 

Surplus/(deficit) from operating 
activities 
Finance costs 
Transfer to Funds 
Gain on sale: property, plant, 
equipment  
 

(X) 
 

(X) 
(X) 
X 

(X) 
 

(X) 
(X) 
X 

(X) 
 

(X) 
(X) 
X 



PASAI  Financial Audit Manual – Glossary, Templates and Case 
Study 

121 

(X) Total non-operating 
revenue/(expenses) 
 

(X) (X) (X) 

X Net surplus/(deficit) for the period 
 

X X X 
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Statement 2b: Government of the Republic of Oceania 

Statement of Consolidated Revenue and Expenditure (Financial 
Performance – Classification of Expenses by Function) for the Year 
Ended 31 December 2019 
Actual 
2018 

 Actual 
2019 

Final 
Budget 
2019 

Origin
al 
Budge
t 2019 

 Operating Revenue    
 

X 
X 
X 
X 
X 

 
Taxes 
Fees, fines, penalties and licenses 
Revenue from exchange transactions 
Transfers from other government entities 
Other operating revenue 

 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 

 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 

 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 

X Total Operating Revenue  X X X 
     
 Operating Expenses    

 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 

 
General public services 
Defence 
Public order and safety 
Education 
Health 
Social protection 
Housing and community amenities 
Recreational, cultural and religion 
Economic Affairs 
Environmental protection 

 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 

 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 

 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 

X Total operating expenses X X X 
     

X Surplus/(deficit) from operating 
activities  

X X X 

(X) 
X 

Finance costs  
Gains on sale of property, plant and 
equipment  

(X) 
X 

(X) 
X 

(X) 
X 

X Total non-operating revenue 
(expenses) 

X X X 

     
 

X 
Net surplus/(deficit) before 
extraordinary items 

 
X 

 
X 

 
X 

(X) Extraordinary items  (X) (X) (X) 
X Net surplus/(deficit) for the period 

 
X X X 

NB The totals will agree those of Statement 2a.   
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Statement 2c: Government of the Republic of Oceania 

Statement of Consolidated Revenue and Expenditure (By Ministry) 
for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 
 

Actual 
2018 

Code and Ministry/Agency Actual 
2019 

Final 
Budget 

2019 

Origin
al 

Budge
t 2019 

 REVENUE    
 
 
 
 

X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
 

X 

Code: Ministry of Finance 
 
Operating Revenue 
 
Taxes 
Fees, fines, penalties and licenses  
Revenue from exchange transactions  
Transfers from other governments 
Other operating revenue 
 
Total Operating Revenue 
 

 
 
 
 

X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
 

X 

 
 
 
 

X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
 

X 

 
 
 
 

X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
 

X 

 NB Operating Revenue shown only 
under MF; in practice every ministry 
with Operating Revenue will be shown 
separately. 
 

   

 
 

X 
X 
X 
 

X 

Other Revenue 
 
Unclaimed Monies from Trust Fund 
Transfers from other Funds 
Grants 
 
Total Other Revenue 
 

 
 

X 
X 
X 
 

X 

 
 

X 
X 
X 
 

X 

 
 

X 
X 
X 
 

X 

     
 
 

X 
 

X 
 

X 
 

X 
 

X 

Total: Consolidated Fund Revenue 
 
Ministry Operating Revenue 
 
Unclaimed Monies from Trust Fund 
 
Transfers from other Funds 
 
Grants 
 
Grand Total – Consolidated Fund 
Revenue 

 
 

X 
 

X 
 

X 
 

X 
 

X 

 
 

X 
 

X 
 

X 
 

X 
 

X 

 
 

X 
 

X 
 

X 
 

X 
 

X 
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 EXPENDITURE    
     
 Code 01: Cabinet of Ministers     
 

(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 

Operating Expenditure: 
Wages, salaries, employee benefits 
Grants and other transfer payments  
Supplies and consumables used 
Depreciation/amortisation expense   
Other operating expenses 
 
Total Operating Expenditure 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 
 Code 02: Constitutional Court     
 

(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 

Operating Expenditure: 
Wages, salaries, employee benefits 
Grants and other transfer payments  
Supplies and consumables used 
Depreciation/amortisation expense   
Other operating expenses 
 
Total Operating Expenditure 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 
 
 

Code 03: Parliament 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 

Operating Expenditure: 
Wages, salaries, employee benefits 
Grants and other transfer payments  
Supplies and consumables used 
Depreciation/amortisation expense   
Other operating expenses 
 
Total Operating Expenditure 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 
 
 

Code 04: Office of the President  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 

Operating Expenditure: 
Wages, salaries, employee benefits 
Grants and other transfer payments  
Supplies and consumables used 
Depreciation/amortisation expense   
Other operating expenses 
 
Total Operating Expenditure 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 
  



PASAI  Financial Audit Manual – Glossary, Templates and Case 
Study 

125 

 
 

Code 05: Office of the Public 
Prosecutor  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 

Operating Expenditure: 
Wages, salaries, employee benefits 
Grants and other transfer payments  
Supplies and consumables used 
Depreciation/amortisation expense   
Other operating expenses 
 
Total Operating Expenditure 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 
 
 

Code 06: Supreme Court  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 

Operating Expenditure: 
Wages, salaries, employee benefits 
Grants and other transfer payments  
Supplies and consumables used 
Depreciation/amortisation expense   
Other operating expenses 
 
Total Operating Expenditure 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 
 
 

Code 07: Ministry of Agriculture and 
Food  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 

Operating Expenditure: 
Wages, salaries, employee benefits 
Grants and other transfer payments  
Supplies and consumables used 
Depreciation/amortisation expense   
Other operating expenses 
 
Total Operating Expenditure 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 
 
 

Code 08: Ministry of Communications  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 

Operating Expenditure: 
Wages, salaries, employee benefits 
Grants and other transfer payments  
Supplies and consumables used 
Depreciation/amortisation expense   
Other operating expenses 
 
Total Operating Expenditure 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 
 
 
 

 
 
Code 09 onwards:  
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Operating Expenditure for every ministry 
and agency 
     

 
 
 

(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 

 
Summary of Ministry Operating 
Expenditure: 
 
Wages, salaries, employee benefits 
Grants and other transfer payments  
Supplies and consumables used 
Depreciation/amortisation expense   
Other operating expenses 
 
Total Operating Expenditure 

 
 
 

(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 

 
 
 

(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 

 
 
 

(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 
 
 

X 
X 
 

X 

Repayment of Borrowing 
 

- Consolidated Fund 
- Other Funds 

 
Total Repayment of Borrowing 

 
 

X 
X 
 

X 

 
 

X 
X 
 

X 

 
 

X 
X 
 

X 
 
 

X 
 

X 

Transfers 
 

- Other Funds 
 
Total Transfers 

 
 

X 
 

X 

 
 

X 
 

X 

 
 

X 
 

X 
 
 

 (X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

Total: Consolidated Fund Expenditure 
 
Ministry Operating Expenditure  
Borrowing Repayments 
Transfers 
Grand Total – Consolidated Fund 
Expenditure 

 
 

 (X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
 

 (X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
 

 (X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
 

X 
(X) 
X 

SURPLUS (DEFICIT) FOR YEAR 
 
Grand Total CF Revenue 
Grand Total CF Expenditure 
Surplus (Deficit) for Year 

 
 

X 
(X) 
X 

 
 

X 
(X) 
X 

 
 

X 
(X) 
X 

     
 
 

X 
X 
X 

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS (DEFICIT) 
 
Accumulated Surplus (Deficit) 31 January 
Surplus (Deficit) for Year 
Accumulated Surplus (Deficit) 31 
December 

 
 

X 
X 
X 

 
 

X 
X 
X 

 
 

X 
X 
X 

 

As with the balance sheet, for those items shown in the Annual Audit Plan for review, 
you will obtain a schedule which makes up the balance shown in the statement and 
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test it for existence and amount.  For the key expenditure areas (e.g. wages and 
salaries and procurement) you will rely on the Systems/Compliance Audit work 
undertaken during the Interim Audit Phase to confirm the validity of the data. 
 
Revenue 

Revenue audit will cover: 

o Taxes; 
o Fees, fines, penalties and licenses;  
o Revenue from exchange transactions;  
o Transfers from other governments; and 
o Other operating revenue. 

Of these, the two key areas are taxes (including customs duties) and transfers from 
other governments (direct budgetary support). 
 

- Tax Revenues 

The range of topics which can be examined as part of the audit of tax revenues include: 
 
o economy, efficiency and effectiveness of tax revenues administration; 
o administration of particular types of taxes; 
o accounting and record of particular types of taxes, reporting; 
o accounting of tax receivables, tax arrears and overpaid taxes; 
o audited persons procedure of administration of particular types of taxes; 
o internal control system; 
o tax evasions in connection with legal adjustment and control mechanisms of 

particular types of taxes; 
o impact of a new legislative provision on administration and collection of 

particular types of taxes;  
o effectiveness of newly adopted legislation; and 
o comparison of efficiency of administrative authority divisions inside the 

institution, throughout institutions or in relation to similar foreign administrative 
authorities 

 
The table below indicates possible audits performed with focus on a specific type of 
tax revenue: 
 
Tax Revenues Audit Topics 
  
VAT 
 

VAT tax administration (procedures, efficiency); intra-community 
transactions; tax credits; fiscal receipts; evaluation of the anti 
VAT fraud strategy; VAT - eco-contributions; impact of legislative 
changes on the fight against VAT frauds etc. 
 

Income tax 
 

compliance audit of corporate income tax; property declaration 
versus income declaration; income tax of specific groups of 
taxpayers etc 
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Excise tax 
 

tax administration 
 

Revenues 
from  
lottery 

income completeness 
 

Efficiency of 
tax  
administration 
 

income completeness; efficiency of system of tax collection 
 

Tax fraud 
 

fraud prevention plan of the tax administration; system of fight 
against tax fraud 
 

Tax arrears 
 

evaluation of tax arrears; revenue from VAT falling in arrears; 
collection  
procedures; results achieved by the tax amnesty 
 

Tax 
incentives 
 

tax incentives; agricultural concessions 
 

Tax revenues 
of  
regional units 
 

regular audit of tax revenues of municipalities; performance audit 

 
Auditors are required to identify key processes, risks and mitigating controls relating 
to income taxes. In particular, the auditors should assess the adequacy and 
implementation of internal controls put in place by the management of the Revenue 
Authority (if any), as these controls are in place to ensure that all returns are received; 
correctly assessed and amount outstanding are collected.  
 
Auditors are also required to be aware of other activities that indirectly impact on the 
assessment, collection and allocation of revenue. Specifically, the auditors should 
identify and evaluate supporting IT systems.  The auditors should identify risks posed 
by these systems and provide appropriate audit response which provides assurance 
over the effective protecting of revenue. 
 
The table below provides an indication of the sort of audit tests we can apply. 
 



 
Tax Topic Risk Controls Audit Programme 
    

Assessment Eligible income 
tax  
payers have not 
been  
identified 
 

The Revenue Authority  
(RA) has processes in 
place for identifying 
and bringing eligible 
traders/ customers to 
tax.  
 

Tests of Control: 
Assess procedures in operation at NBR, which ensure eligible income 
taxpayers are identified and brought to tax.  
 
Substantive Test: Option A 
To clarify from understanding the system – are there independent 
sources for  
identifying new traders/individuals subject to income tax –and is 
information  
assessable – (for instance, land registry, motor licensing office, 
Company  
Registration).   
Select a sample of eligible traders from other independent sources 
and confirm these to the register of eligible traders maintained by RA.  
 
Option B  
Select a sample of newly registered traders/customers and by 
reference to their available supporting information (in their respective 
files) confirm these have been promptly identified and brought to tax 
(e.g. for newly registered trader, confirm the trader has registered for 
tax in accordance with the time period allowed by law).  
Ensure appropriate procedures are observed for a sample of new 
traders/customers registration.  

 • Non‐
submission of 
returns  
• Late 
submission of 
returns  

Returns/declarations  
received are 
periodically  
compared to the list of 
registered taxpayers  

Tests of Control: 
Inspect evidence that the delegated official has reconciled the returns 
received to the list of taxpayers.  
 
Substantive Test: 
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• Non‐payment 
of penalties  
 

Returns/declarations 
submitted late that 
penalties are charged 
to those taxpayers.  

Reconcile the list of taxpayers to the return received and identify 
taxpayer who did not submit returns / declarations or submitted returns 
late. For taxpayers who did not submit returns / declarations to identify 
whether the penalties were charged correctly.  

 Possible 
collusion  
between the tax  
assessment 
staff and tax 
payer results in 
incorrect 
assessment of 
liability 
 

A higher officer 
performs regular 
review of assessments 
carried out by the 
assessment officers 
(The criteria to select 
files for review should 
be consistently 
applied).  
 

Tests of Control: 
Inspect evidence of regular review of Assessment Officers’ work by an 
independent higher officer. Inspect files assessed and confirm whether 
selection criteria for assessments have been applied consistently.  
 
Substantive Test: 
For selected sample of returns /declarations:  
• Compare income on supporting documents to estimated taxable 
income on the return and test to confirm that the taxes have been 
correctly charged.  
• Where practicable, agree income declared to other independent 
sources.  

    
Collection Revenue 

received is not 
recorded,  
misallocated, 
recorded at 
incorrect 
amounts or in 
the incorrect 
period  
 

Regular independent  
reconciliations 
between  
assessments, revenue 
recorded in the ledger 
and amounts 
deposited in the bank 
 

Tests of Control: 
For selected periods inspect proof of reconciliations between 
assessments and receipts.  
 
Substantive Test: 
For selected assessments confirm that payments have been recorded:  

o At the correct amounts;  
o In the correct account; and 
o In the correct period.  

 Cash receipts 
are not banked 
on a timely 
basis.  
 

Regular daily / weekly 
deposit of cash 
received.  
 

Tests of Control: 
Inspect proof of:  

o Regular banking of cash received; 
o Independent reconciliation of cash received and deposit slips;  
o Daily cash ups for all cashiers; 
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Independent 
reconciliations 
between receipts 
issued and amounts 
deposited in the bank.  
 

o Adequate segregation of duties between cashiers, persons 
safeguarding cash and persons depositing in the bank.  

Substantive Test:  
For a selected sample of receipts issued confirm that cash was 
banked timely.  
For selected days confirm that all cash received have been adequately 
accounted for and banked timely.  

 Amount 
assessed as 
due is not paid.  
 

Good procedures in 
place to ensure unpaid 
liabilities are pursued.  
 

Tests of Control: 
Inspect evidence of review of arrears report by a higher authority.  
 
Substantive Tests: 
For a sample of outstanding amount, confirm follow – up action has 
been effected in accordance with the organisation’s debt management 
policy.  

Allocation Amount is 
incorrectly  
classified into 
head of duty or 
accounts 
 

Independent checking 
of classification of 
revenue.  
 

Tests of Control: 
Inspect proof of regular review of revenue allocation by an official 
other than the preparer of the revenue schedule.  
 
Substantive Tests: 
Select a sample of revenue receipts and agree to supporting evidence 
to confirm correct and appropriate classification of transaction. 
 

Refunds Refunds of 
income tax are 
incorrectly 
made – wrong 
amount or to 
wrong person.  
 

Independent 
verification and 
authorisation of 
refunds prior to 
payment.  
 

Test of Control: 
Confirm appropriate segregation of duties exists between the 
preparers and authorisers of refunds.  
 
Substantive Test: 
Select a sample of refunds and confirm that the claim to supporting 
evidence and establish that the refund has been reviewed and 
authorised by an appropriate official other than the preparer. 

Write-Offs Income tax due 
is written off 

Write‐offs are 
authorised 

Test of Control: 
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incorrectly or 
prematurely.  
 

independently by 
higher authority.  
 

Inspect proof supporting that write‐offs can only be approved at the 
authorised level.  
 
Substantive Test:  
Select a sample of Income Tax write‐offs and confirm that this has 
been authorised at the appropriate level and that the amount paid 
agreed with the amount authorised.  
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- Non-tax Revenues 

With regards non-tax revenues, possible audits include: 
 

o administration of selected revenues; 
o internal control system; 
o economy, efficiency and effectiveness of expenditures on administration of 

these revenues; 
o audited persons procedure of administration of selected revenues; 
o accounting and record of selected revenues, reporting; 
o impact of a new legislative provision on administration and collection of 

selected revenues; 
o effectiveness of legislation and its adjustments; and 
o comparison of efficiency of administrative authority divisions inside the 

institution, throughout and institutions or in relation to similar foreign 
administrative authorities. 

 
The table below indicates possible audits performed with focus on a specific type of 
non-tax revenue: 
 
Non-Tax Revenues Audit Topics 
  
Revenues from State  
Property 
 

revenues due to government property department; 
economic management of companies with a state 
share; state property managed by a special 
government unit 
 

Fees collected from  
Embassies/High 
Commissions 
 

compliance audit; revenues collected from 
embassies abroad 

Other 
 

management of the derelict, confiscated property or 
property handed over to the state otherwise; fees 
from the Land and Public Registry; public 
broadcasting services - revenue from advertising; 
results of operations of privatisations; collections of 
fees and penalties 
 

 
Transfer from other Governments 

Where the government is in receipt of direct budgetary support, this is likely to be a 
material element in its annual revenue. 
Audit work is limited to ensuring that the full amounts allocated by the external donor 
are stated in the AFS. 
This can be achieved by direct discussions with the aid donors to obtain a schedule of 
how much was paid when and by what means.  These amounts then need to be 
followed through to the AFS. 
Any discrepancies should be followed up and reported upon in the Audit Report. 
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Expenditure 

Expenditure will be divided into five areas:  
o Wages, salaries, employee benefits;  
o Grants and other transfer payments; 
o Supplies and consumables used; 
o Depreciation/amortisation expense (if on a non-cash basis); and   
o Other operating expenses. 

Of these, the two key areas are wages, salaries and employee benefits and supplies 
and consumables used. 
 

- Wages, Salaries and Employee Benefits 

The annual expenditure on salaries and wages is usually the largest single item of 
expenditure for most public bodies. 
Particularly in the case of large payrolls, satisfactory audit cover can only be achieved by 
careful planning and by the intelligent direction of staff; both to ensure that the effort is 
properly focussed and that interest in maintained. 
At all but the smallest organisation, it will be impossible to contemplate covering the 
whole payroll at audit each year.  It is necessary to break the payroll down into convenient 
groups or classes so that the relative size and importance of each may be judged.  
Payrolls are generally broken into such groups for administrative purposes.   
For example, each department's salaries will be grouped separately as may professional 
sub-divisions within the department.  The auditor should take advantage of whatever 
grouping are adopted, schedule them and record against each the total number of 
employees and their total pay.  This record can then be used in planning and controlling 
a programme designed to effect a thorough and complete review of the payroll in total 
over a predetermined period of not more than five years. 
The organisation's system for payroll (or for the section under examination) should next 
be ascertained and recorded (or if a previous record exists it should be established that 
it is still valid).  The flowchart type of system is particularly suitable in payroll auditing and 
systems questionnaires can also provide valuable assistance to less experienced staff 
engaged on ascertaining systems. 
Having completed the record, a detailed appraisal of the system should be carried out, 
having always in mind the fundamental principle of complete separation of duties of: 

o Certifying Timesheets and Attendance Records; 
o Writing up the Wages and Salary Registers or submitting the payroll input 

data to the computer; 
o Making up Wage Packets, preparing cheques, etc.;  
o Paying Out Wage Packets, dispatching cheques, etc.; and 
o Custody and Disposal of Returned Wage Packets. 

The following are some of the matters which should be considered in appraising payroll 
procedures: 

o Who has control of appointments to salaried posts or engagement of 
labour?  Has the organisation a fixed establishment for each section of 



PASAI  Financial Audit Manual – Glossary, Templates and Case 
Study 

135 

the labour force?  If authority is given to a Chief Officer for engagement 
of employees what confirmation of his action is required? 

o Are there written authorities for: 
 new employees; 
 retirements, transfers, resignations, dismissals and changes; 
 grading; and 
 voluntary payroll deductions. 

o Are these authorities held in safe custody away from the officers 
responsible for making up the payrolls or submitting payroll input data? 

o What evidence (other than payrolls) is available concerning employees?  
It may comprise minutes of Staff/ Establishment or other Committee, 
Chief Officer's reports, personal superannuation records, etc.  Having in 
view security against fraud, enquire as to the source of the information 
and the extent to which it is independent of the officer charged with 
making the payments; 

o Who makes out the time sheets or other time records and who certifies 
their correctness?; 

o Who prepares the pay-sheets?  If this is done by the spending 
department, is the Finance department responsible for entering 
deductions and net pay due?  In which department is gross pay totalled?  
If in the Finance department are pre-totalled control figures provided by 
spending departments of gross pay or number of employees or number 
of time sheets?; 

o Where incentive bonus schemes are in operation are there satisfactory 
arrangements for ensuring that work has actually been done and not 
been overstated?  Are the certification arrangements satisfactory?  Is 
adequate management information produced to enable chief officers to 
exercise overall control through review of bonus levels?; 

o Who certifies the correctness of gross pay, and is the method of doing so 
adequate.  For example, can other names be inserted after certification 
and is the total amount certified in words?; 

o Where payment is made: at central offices, establishment, pay station, on 
the job, etc.; 

o How is payment made (direct to bank, by cheque, by receipt presentable 
at bank, by money order, by cash) and by whom (by post, by cashier, by 
pay clerk, by head teacher, by foreman).  If by cash, who makes up the 
pay packets, who has custody of them and where are they kept pending 
pay-out?  Consider if anyone could extract a pay packet from proper 
custody.  Are adequate precautions taken on the transfer of cash from 
the bank?  Is the cash-in-transit policy adequate in the sum insured and 
the conditions?; 

o If a security firm is under contract to carry out all or any of the following 
functions: 

 collecting payroll cash from bank; 
 making up pay packets; or 
 distributing pay packets to pay stations 
 what discharge is given and received by the security firm, and 

what is their responsibility for any losses?  Is the extent to which 
the security firm accepts responsibility for losses taken into 
account in fixing the amount of insurance?  What evidence is 
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there of the security firm's insurance cover and payment of 
premium due?; 

o To what date or day of the week is payment made?  Is payment ever 
made in advance (e.g. holidays, emergencies)?; 

o What is the procedure for drawing cash for wages (and possibly some 
salaries)?  Also for drawing cheques for disposal of income tax, savings, 
and voluntary deductions?  Consider if the procedures are secure.  Is 
cash (involving unnecessary risk) drawn for any of the contributions or 
deductions?; 

o What are the arrangements for dealing with unclaimed wages?  After 
their return to the place of proper custody are they kept independently of 
the clerk responsible for preparation of the time sheets?; 

o To what extent is payment made to proxies and what safeguards exist?; 
o What evidence is available to substantiate pension and compensation 

payments (e.g. life certificates or personal attendance); 
o If individual receipts are taken, consider if they are adequate.  If a system 

of witnessed payments is operative, consider the adequacy of the 
certificates given by the pay clerk, witnesses and the stamping officer 
and the facilities for the witness to check which payments he has seen; 

o What is the authority for the scales of remuneration paid?; 
o If overtime is worked to any unusual manner, enquire closely into the 

reason; 
o Are the records of holidays and sickness adequate?; and 
o Where payments are made to casual staff enquire closely into the system 

to ensure that all practical steps are taken to make it difficult to introduce 
a false claim for wages. 

From this sort of system appraisal the auditor will obtain a clear view of the organisation's 
arrangements and of: 

o Weaknesses: which he must ensure (by detailed testing) have not been 
exploited.  Remediable weaknesses he must seek to have corrected and 
those which cannot be corrected he must note to make sure that 
appropriate audit tests against exploitation are applied at subsequent 
audits; and 
 

o Strengths: on which (after testing to make sure that the system is 
working properly) he will be able to rely in deciding the extent of detailed 
examination necessary.  These points of strength are also worth noting 
for reference at subsequent audits when a limited amount of testing will 
establish whether the strengths still exist and justify the continued 
reliance placed on the system (or that aspect of it). 

Before deciding on the extent of checking to be carried out it is also necessary to 
ascertain the extent and quality of internal audit work on the payroll (or aspects of the 
payroll) under examination.  Duplication of internal audit work is obviously to be avoided 
as far as possible, but some re-examination will be necessary to obtain satisfaction about 
the quality of internal audit's work. 
Two other useful techniques (comparative and marginal auditing) are available to assist 
in the reduction of payroll audit effort to manageable proportions and in the identification 
of blocks of expenditure calling for particular examination.  These processes involve: 
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o Comparative Audit: Comparing blocks of expenditure on salaries for 
specific classes of employees with the corresponding expenditures as 
shown in printed abstracts of the audited accounts for the last three years 
and with the current year's estimates.  Any material changes should be 
noted and a satisfactory explanation found.  This test may be a little more 
difficult in the case of weekly wages employees whose numbers may 
fluctuate with the activities of the organisation and seasonal conditions.   
 

o Marginal Auditing: Inquire into and note details of any changes in pay 
scales during the year.  On the basis of the numbers of employees in 
each grade approximate the amount that this years’ payroll should total 
based on last years’ figures plus the increase.  The test can be 
considered satisfactory if the answer can, within a small margin, be 
reconciled with the actual expenditure. 

In carrying out the examination of systems and in the detailed examination of payrolls 
the possibility of fraud must be borne in mind.  The reported payroll frauds are both many 
and varied but, in most cases, there is the common element of systems weakness.  In 
small organisations with few staff there is no prospect of segregation of duties and 
systems weakness in inevitable.  However, the auditor must recognise that the weakness 
exists and carry out sufficient testing to satisfy himself that it has not been abused.   
In larger authorities, with scope for separation of duties, weaknesses can still arise 
because: 

o A system was defective from the outset; 
o There have been unauthorised changes in the system; or 
o At some point in the procedure staff have not been sufficiently vigilant. 

The following is a list of the main types of payroll fraud: 

o Straightforward theft of pay packets or of cash extracted from pay 
packets.  This may happen anywhere in the chain of cash handling; 

o Theft of unpaid wages; 
o Theft of cash drawn for savings or other payroll deductions; 
o Inflation by employees of hours worked (including overtime and hours 

worked for sessional fees) or of work stated to have been done for 
incentive bonus schemes.  Some recent bonus frauds have been very 
extensive both in amount and numbers of staff involved; 

o Similar inflation by supervisory or wages staff either in collusion with 
employees or with opportunity to extract cash before packets reach 
employees; 

o Introduction of "ghosts" on to the payroll or the retention or revival of 
leavers. Frauds of this type can be very sophisticated and have even 
included the falsification of minutes indicating appointment; 

o Retention on pensions payroll of deceased pensioners; 
o Misappropriation of arrears of pay or pension; 
o Misappropriation of refunded superannuation contributions: usually 

unclaimed refunds on resignation or death; 
o Over-casting of payroll or of payroll summaries or wages cash book; and 
o Fictitious advances of pay. 



PASAI  Financial Audit Manual – Glossary, Templates and Case 
Study 

138 

In his examination of sections of the payroll, the auditor should keep in mind the 
possibility of identifying areas in which the organisation might achieve more effective use 
of manpower.   
The following are some sources of independent check which may be used to confirm the 
names or total number of the employees who ought to appear in a payroll: 

o If staff numbers are set from outside the organisation (or centrally within 
it) check that the rules for the numbers of staff allowed to be employed 
are being followed; 

o Check any service cards held by outside bodies (e.g. for teachers or 
doctors); 

o Where National Insurance or other cards exist, examine these; 
o Evidence of PAYE income tax deductions from employees pay may be 

called for at audit, including copies of schedules accompanying 
remittances to the Inland Revenue Commissioners in respect of 
deductions.  If the latter are not available, it should be possible to tie up 
the total deductions for a particular period, as shown by the salary and 
wage sheets, with the amount shown on the official receipt from the 
Collector of Taxes; 

o Personal superannuation records of employees (if they are kept by an 
officer other than the one responsible for making up pay sheets or paying 
the men); 

o Establishment department records of the approved establishment for 
each section or department; 

o Periodic returns by Heads of Departments or establishments of the 
names of all employees.  Some organisations obtain these as safeguards 
against the failure of "negative" computerised pay systems (i.e. systems 
which continue to pat the employee until told to stop); and 

o Internal audit records of physical checking of employees on the payroll.  
Some internal audit sections carry out this sort of check, usually in 
association with visits to "outside" establishments. 
 

Time and work records, including time sheets etc., if properly completed are the best 
evidence of an employee's claim to the amount of pay due and the service chargeable 
with the cost.  They should record facts only, be made out and signed by the employee 
and be certified as correct by his superior.  Where, as is often the case with regard to 
salaries, the preparation of the payroll must commence during the pay period, a firm rule 
should be adopted that adjustments for absences, sick leave, etc. are given effect up to 
a stated date in each pay period and that those occurring later will be adjusted in the next 
pay period. 
Time records should be closely scrutinised, signatures should be compared with those 
on any other documents and indications of any kind that a time sheet may not be genuine 
must be closely followed up.  The possibility of cross-checks with other records should 
be borne in mind (e.g. workmen's timesheets with stores issued or transport records; 
home helps with debtor account and supervisor's visit reports; etc.). 
Gross pay due as shown on payrolls should be tested with time records (if any) and 
allocations of expenditure to service headings should be test checked with time sheets 
or other records of work carried out.  Particular attention should be paid to allocations of 
grant earning services or rechargeable works. 
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The gross pay of officers is often allocated monthly, as it is paid, to expenditure heads 
according to a pre-determined formula.  The auditor should ensure that these allocations 
are in accord with actual time records kept for representative periods by the officers 
concerned and that, whenever work is reallocated, a check is made that the formula is 
still valid. 
Prescribed or recommended scales of pay exist for most categories of public sector 
worker.  If the scales paid differ from these it will be necessary to consider whether such 
payments are legal. 
 

- Supplies and Consumables  

There are many different categories of expenditure under this heading.  By way of 
example, we will examine Plant and Vehicles.  However, the same general approach 
can be applied to other categories. 
An account of the running expenses of each item of plant and each vehicle should be 
maintained showing the day to day expenditure thereon.  This account, used in 
conjunction with the relative log-book or journey sheets, will provide data from which 
appropriate unit costs (e.g. per mile, hour or day) should be calculated.  Most computers 
are programmed to produce weekly or monthly tabulations of such unit costs for each 
vehicle or item of plant in respect of: 

o running costs; and 
o repair and maintenance. 

A review of these individual costs will assist in deciding whether the retention in service 
of an old vehicle or item of plant is warranted on economic grounds or whether the level 
of expenditure on other vehicles is such as to call for special investigation, or whether 
hiring is more economical than buying or vice versa. 
Methods of charging out running expenses to service accounts may be either: 

o by apportionment at the end of the year of the total running expenses in 
proportion to user as recorded in the log-books, journey sheets or time 
sheets.  This method clears the running expenses account; or 

o by flat rate charge (e.g. so much per mile, per hour, etc.) based on 
estimated current costs taking into account the estimated usage for the 
year or on the previous years’ actual costs.  This method will give rise to 
a deficit or surplus on the running expense account and it is important to 
ensure that current charges are adjusted in the light of cost changes. 

The accountancy treatment adopted by the organisation as regards both the 
purchase of new vehicles or plant and the depreciation provision are matters of 
concern to the auditor.  No difficulty arises when purchase cost is debited directly to a 
loan account or renewals fund and the running expenses account bears the annual debt 
service charge or calculated contribution to the renewals fund in respect of depreciation.   
Alternatively, the whole of the purchase cost can be charged to revenue in the year in 
which it is purchased.  Where this procedure is followed, however, it is essential, if correct 
costing is to be maintained, that the charge be made direct to the revenue account and 
excluded from the running expenses account and that, annually over the estimated 
service life of the item, a charge is made for depreciation.  Memorandum records should 
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be maintained by the Chief Officer responsible to show the basis of such depreciation 
calculations. 
 
Plant and Vehicles: Audit Checks 

Where a new vehicle or item of plant is acquired during the financial year, examine the 
accountancy treatment having regard to whether the acquisition has been financed from 
loan, renewals fund or revenue. 
Check that fleet owner's discount or trade-in value of old items of plant, where 
appropriate, have been deducted from the purchase price. 
Ensure that a running expenses account is maintained in respect of each major item of 
plant or vehicle. 
Scrutinise running expenses accounts and draw attention to any uneconomical costs 
which suggests that replacement is desirable.  Inquire into abnormal expenditure, 
especially on tyres, fuels and batteries.   
Tyres are marked with either an individual or batch number.  Enquire whether this 
number and the mileometer reading is recorded when a tyre is fitted or removed.  See 
that discounts are obtained on the purchase of new tyres.  Discounts vary but should be 
substantial.  Major maintenance expenditure may be checked against the vehicle history 
files which should cover the life of the vehicle. 
Similarly, examine critically the life of other items.  Except in the smallest organisations, 
discounts should be obtained on all purchases and the auditor should ensure that the 
market has been thoroughly tested.  Prices may be checked against trade catalogues.  
Although most firms supplying parts charge an "exchange" price, if they do not ensure a 
credit is obtained for any part returned to a firm. 
Examine the basis for apportionment or charge to main service and rechargeable works 
accounts and draw attention to any inadequacy of the rate charges. 
Scrutinise log books, journey sheets and drivers time sheets for indications: 

o of work carried out which may be rechargeable and verify that all such 
charges are set up in the debtors’ accounts; 

o of excessive idle or waiting time and of the possibility that one or more 
vehicles may be dispensed with.  Entries for washing, cleaning and 
maintenance should be regarded with caution, especially if done in 
overtime.  Overtime payments to mechanics needs careful review.  If the 
explanation is that the vehicle cannot be serviced in normal work time 
alternatives should be considered; and 

o of unrecorded or improper use of vehicles, which may be revealed by 
breaks in the series of mileometer readings or by excessive mileage 
being recorded of legitimate journeys.  

Compare vehicles registration books with payments to the licensing authority and ensure 
that the correct rates of duty have been paid. 
Call for a register of all vehicles and plant and the certificate of the responsible officer at 
the year-end for items in service at that date.  Compare this will the running expense 
records to identify any items not in use. 
Watch for income from the disposal of vehicles and trace the receipts not only of the sale 
proceeds but also for refunds of licence duties and insurance premiums. 
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Where repairs are carried out to remedy defects arising within the warranty period, 
ensure that the cost is recovered from the vehicle supplier.  When special heavy-duty 
batteries are fitted, enquire about the use of, or credit for, the ordinary battery replaced. 
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Statement #3: Statements of Changes in Net Assets/Equity 
This is a fairly simple statement to audit. 
The starting point is the Balance of Net Assets from the previous years audited AFS.  
This amount is adjusted for the effects of any Changes in Accounting Policy; in most 
years this will be zero.  However, if there are changes in accounting policy it will be 
necessary to audit the affect that this has on the balance and ensure that the amount 
shown in the AFS is reasonable. 
The revised balance is then adjusted for any Revaluation/Devaluation of Property; 
any change being reflected in the Revaluation Reserve.  If there are change the audit 
process will be to obtain the revaluation certificates and ensure that they are been 
made by an appropriately qualified surveyor and for valid reasons. 
The balance is further adjusted in respect of Currency Translation Differences 
(CTD) which will be reflected in the Currency Translation Reserve. If you translate 
the financial statements using different foreign exchange rates, then the balance sheet 
would not balance (i.e. assets will not equal liabilities plus equity).  Therefore, CTD, or 
currency translation difference arises – it’s a balancing figure and shows the difference 
from translating the financial statements in the presentation currency. 
These are unlikely to be material amounts but if they seem high – or fluctuate markedly 
over time – they should be investigated. 
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Statement 3: Government of the Republic of Oceania 

Statement of Changes in Net Assets/Equity for the Year 
Ended 31 December 2019 
 
 Capital 

Contributed 
Revaluation 
Reserve 

Currency 
Translation 
Reserve 

Accumulated 
Surpluses/ 
(Deficits) 

Total 

Balance as at 31/12/2017  
X 

 
X 

 
(X) 

 
X 

 
X 

Changes in Accounting 
Policy 

 
(X) 

   
(X) 

 
(X) 

Restated Balance  
X 

 
X 

 
X 

 
X 

 
X 

      
Surplus on Revaluation of 
Property 

  
X 

   
X 

 
Deficit on Revaluation of 
Investments 

  
(X) 

   
(X) 

 
Currency Translation 
Differences 

   
(X) 

  
(X) 

 
Net gains and losses not 
recognised in the statement 
of financial performance 
 

  
X 
 

 
(X) 

  
X 

 
Net Surplus for Period 

    
X 

 
X 

Balance as at 31/12/2018  
X 

 
X 

 
(X) 

 
X 

 
X 

      
Deficit on Revaluation of 
Property 

  
(X) 

   
(X) 

 
Surplus on Revaluation of 
Investments 

  
X 

   
X 

 
Currency Translation 
Differences 

   
(X) 

  
(X) 

 
Net gains and losses not 
recognised in the statement 
of financial performance 
 

  
(X) 

 
(X) 

  
(X) 

 
Net Deficit for Period 

    
(X) 

 
(X) 

 
Balance as at 31/12/2019 

 
X 

 
X 

 
(X) 

 
X 

 
X 
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Statement #4: Statement of Consolidated Cash Flow 
This is a fairly straight forward statement of balances extracted from the Revenue and 
Expenditure figures.  Therefore, as long as this process has been done correctly, there 
will be little audit work to do. 
The Ministry of Finance should have a working paper (possibly a spreadsheet) which 
shows how each of the balances in the Statement has been obtained. 
The figures should be come those on the Statement of Consolidated Assets and 
Liabilities (balance sheet) and Statement of Consolidated Fund (profit and loss 
account).  This should be confirmed. 
 

Statement 4: Government of the Republic of Oceania 

Statement of Consolidated Cash Flow for Year  
Ended 31 December 2019 
 2019 2018 
Cash Flows From Operating Activities   
Receipts   
 
Taxation 
Sales of goods and services 
Grants 
Interest received 
Other receipts 

 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 

 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 

 X X 
Payments   
 
Employee costs 
Superannuation 
Suppliers 
Interest paid 
Other payments 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

Net cash flows from operating activities X X 
   
Cash Flows From Investing Activities   
 
Purchase of plant and equipment 
Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment 
Proceeds from sale of investments 
Purchase of foreign currency securities 

 
(X) 
X 
X 

(X) 

 
(X) 
X 
X 

(X) 
Net cash flows from investing activities (X) (X) 
   
Cash Flows From Financing Activities   
 
Proceeds from borrowings 
Repayment of borrowings 

 
X 

(X) 

 
X 

(X) 
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Distribution/dividend to government 
 

(X) (X) 

Net cash flows from financing activities 
 

X X 

   
 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents 

 
X 

 
X 

 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 

 
X 

 
X 

 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 
 

 
X 

 
X 
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Statement #5: Statement of Accounting Policies and Notes to the 
Annual Financial Statements (AFS) 
The Accounting Policies used in the production of the AFS are important in enabling 
users to fully understand them.  Accordingly, it is important that the auditor ensures 
that they are comprehensive and accurately stated.   
With regards Notes to the Accounts, the auditor has to determine whether or not 
they form a fundamental part of the AFS on which users of the accounts will need to 
rely.  This will determine the depth of audit work required. 
If the notes are merely statements, the auditor can check them for relevance and 
accuracy.  If they are tables of data, the auditor can comment on whether the structure 
is meaningful and in line with good international practice. 
The extent to which the Notes are audited must be detailed in the Audit Report together 
with reasoning for that approach. 
There follows a pro forma example of a Statement of Accounting Policies and 
Notes to the Accounts.  Although headed “Republic of Oceania” this is fictional data 
indicating the sort of thing we would expect to see in this statement.  Further, it is not 
a recommendation as to the model which Oceania should follow. 

 

Statement 5: Government of the Republic of Oceania 

Statement of Accounting Policies and Notes to the Financial 
Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 

Reporting Entity 

The Financial Statements of the Government of Republic of Oceania have been 
prepared in accordance with the legal requirements of the country.  

The Government Reporting Entity comprises: 

 Central Government 
o Ministries 
o Agencies 

 Local Government 
o Districts  
o Towns  
o Districts of Cities 

 Funds 
o Fund #A; and 
o Fund #B. 

It does not include the following in the consolidation, though details may be shown by 
way of notes to the accounts. 

 Government Business Enterprises; or 
 Trust Funds. 
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Accounting Policies 

These financial statements comply with International Public Sector Accounting 
Standards. The measurement base applied is historical cost adjusted for revaluations 
of certain property, plant and equipment and marketable securities held for trading 
purposes. The modified accrual basis of accounting has been used unless otherwise 
stated. 
 

Reporting and Forecast Period 

The reporting and forecast period for these financial statements is the year ended 31 
December 2019. 
 
The Original Budget is the original forecast for the financial year, as presented in the 
2019 Budget on xx/xx/2018. The revised forecast has been prepared using actual data 
which was available at the time of the finalisation of the Budget forecasts (xx/xx/2019). 
 

Revenue 

- Revenue levied through the Government’s legal powers 

The Government provides many services and benefits that do not give rise to revenue. 
Further, payment of tax does not, of itself, entitle a taxpayer to an equivalent value of 
services or benefits, as there is no direct relationship between paying tax and receiving 
Government services and transfers.  

Such revenue is received through the exercise of the Government’s legal power. 
Where possible, revenue is recognised at the time the debt to the Government 
arises.  The Table below indicates such revenue; it should be updated for the 
Oceania Republic specific revenue sources. 

 

Revenue Type Revenue Recognition Point 
  
Income Tax When payment to individual is made 
Excise duty  When goods are subject to duty 
Road user charges and motor 
vehicle fees  

When payment for the fee or charge is 
made 

Other indirect taxes  When the debt to the Government arises 
Other revenue When the debt to the Government arises 

 
- Revenue earned through operations 

If revenue has been earned by the Government in exchange for the provision of 
outputs (products or services) to third parties, the Government receives its revenue 
through operations. Such revenue is recognised when it is earned. 
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- Investment income 

Investment income is recognised in the period in which it is earned. 
 

Gains 

Realised gains arising from sales of assets or the early repurchase of liabilities are 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance in the period in which the 
transaction occurs. 
 
Unrealised gains arising from changes in the value of property, plant and equipment 
are recognised as at balance date.  
 

Expenses 

- General 

Expenses are recognised in the period to which they relate. 
 

- Welfare benefits 

Welfare benefits are recognised in the period when an application for a benefit has 
been received and the eligibility criteria met. 
 

- Grants and subsidies 

Where grants and subsidies are discretionary until payment, the expense is 
recognised when the payment is made. Otherwise, the expense is recognised when 
the specified criteria have been fulfilled and notice has been given to the Government. 

 
- Losses 

Realised losses arising from sales of assets or the early repurchase of liabilities are 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance in the period in which the 
transaction occurs. 
 
Unrealised losses (excluding foreign-exchange losses) arising from changes in the 
value of property, plant and equipment, and investments and marketable securities 
held for investment and unlisted equity investments are recognised at balance date.  
 

- Foreign-currency transactions 

Short-term transactions covered by forward exchange contracts are translated into 
Oceania $ using the forward rates specified in those contracts. 
 
Other transactions in foreign currencies are translated into Oceania $ using the 
exchange rate on the date of the transaction.  Exchange differences arising on 
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settlement of these transactions are recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Performance. 
 
Outstanding foreign-exchange contracts are translated at the closing exchange rate. 
Exchange gains and losses are included in the Statement of Financial Performance in 
the period in which they arise. 

 
- Depreciation 

NB This section is included for completeness.  It is not applicable under the modified 
accruals basis of accounting but is required under full accrual accounting.  Then the 
rates used should be those related to the Republic of Oceania’s unique situation. 
 
Depreciation should be charged on a straight-line basis at rates calculated to allocate 
the cost or valuation of an item of property, plant and equipment, less any estimated 
residual value, over its estimated useful life. Typically, the estimated useful lives of 
different classes of property, plant and equipment are as follows (again this will need 
to be customised for Oceania’s unique situation): 
 
Item Period 
  
Freehold buildings  25 to 60 years 
  
Specialist military equipment  5 to 25 years 
  
Other plant and equipment  3 to 25 years 
  
Highways:  
Pavement (surfacing)  7 years 
Pavement (other)  36 years 
Bridges  90 to 100 years 
  
Aircraft (except specialist military equipment)  10 to 20 years 
  
Electricity distribution network  2 to 80 years 
  
Electricity generation assets  25 to 55 years 

 

Notes to the Accounts 

- Introduction 

This section will contain all material relevant to the accounts which is not recorded 
elsewhere.  Possible examples are included below.  If data is not available for 2019, it 
should be shown by way of note to the accounts at some future date when it does 
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become available.  This section merely shows how the data can be presented if so 
desired – it is not prescriptive. 

- Contingent Liabilities 

Government of the Republic of Oceania 

Statement of Guarantees and Other Contingent Liabilities for Year 
Ended 31 December 2019 
  Total 

Potential 
Exposure 
As at 31 
December 
2019 

Exposure 
for 2019 

Exposure 
as at 31 
December 
2018 

External Loans 
Guaranteed 

    

Borrower Lender    
 
List all Borrowers 

 
List all Lenders 

 
X 

 
X 

 
X 

 
Total External 
Loans Guaranteed 

  
X 

 
X 

 
X 

 
Domestic Loans 
Guaranteed 

    

Borrower Lender    
 
List all Borrowers 

 
List all Lenders 

 
X 

 
X 

 
 
X 

 
Total Domestic 
Loans Guaranteed 

  
X 

 
X 

 
X 

Other Contingent 
Liabilities 

    

 
Legal claim against 
the Government 

  
X 

 
X 

 
X 

 
Total Other 
Contingent 
Liabilities 

  
X 

 
X 

 
X 

 
Total Guarantees 
and Other 
Contingent 
Liabilities 

  
X 

 
X 

 
X 

- Trust Funds 
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Trust Funds do not form part of the Government’s funds and would not, normally, be 
included in the budget submitted for approval.  In addition, they should also have 
separate bank accounts outside of the Single Treasury Bank account. 
 
However, the Government is acting as a steward of such funds and should account 
for this stewardship.  The most effective way of doing this is by way of a note to annual 
financial statements. 
 
The following table should appear in the Notes to the Accounts for Trust Funds not 
included in other financial statements: 
 

Government of the Republic of Oceania 
Trust Fund Statement for Year Ended 31 December 2019 

Fund Opening 
Balance 
1/1/2019 

Receipts Payments Closing 
Balance 
31/12/2019 

     
Trust Fund A X X (X) X 
Trust Fund B X X (X) X 
Trust Fund C X X (X) X 
     
TOTAL X X (X) X 

 

- Summary of Public Debt Liability 

Another useful item to include in the Notes to the Accounts is a summary of public 
debt liability – how much is owed to whom. 

 
Government of the Republic of Oceania 
Public Debt Liability Statement for Year Ended 31 December 2019 
 
Source of Borrowing 2019 

Foreign 
Currency 

2019 
O$ 

2018 
Foreign 

Currency 

2018 
O$ 

 
Domestic: 
Bonds (%) 
Treasury Bills 

  
 

X 
X 
X 

  
 

X 
X 
X 

 
Total Domestic Borrowing 

  
X 

  
X 

     
External Loans: 
 
Loans in SDR 
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   - Project A 
 
Loans in US Dollars 
   - Project B (4.7%) 
   - Project C (5.24%) 
 
Loans in Japanese Yen 
    - Project D (4.25%) 
 
Etc. 

X 
 
 

X 
X 
X 
 

X 
X 

X 
 
 

X 
X 
X 
 

X 
X 

X 
 
 

X 
X 
X 
 

X 
X 

X 
 
 

X 
X 
X 
 

X 
X 

Total External Loans  X  X 
     
Total Public Debt Liability  X  X 

 

- Other Statements 

Other Statements can also be included in the Notes, if the government thinks it useful 
for the users of the accounts.   Normally, materiality will be the main factor to be 
considered when deciding whether or not to include such Statements.   However, 
Statements such as amount of On-lending and Write-offs are of interest in terms of 
transparency whatever the amounts.  
 
There is no laid down format for such statements but they would generally follow the 
design of that of Public Debt Liability above.  
 
Statements which could be considered for inclusion are: 
 

• Statement of Investments; 
• Statement of Sinking Funds; 
• Statement on On-lending; and 
• Statement of Write-offs. 
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Case Study: Financial Auditing Part Two: Forming the 
Audit Opinion 
Introduction 
Once the audit work is completed, it is time to form the audit opinion – which must be 
based on the evidence found during the audit process – and to write the audit report. 
The ISSAI for this comprise #2700, #2701, #2705, #2706, #2710 and #2720. 
These were updated in 2016 and renumbered in 2019 and whilst there were no 
fundamental changes to the previous standards, there are some changes to the titles 
and structure of the report format and to the details required to meet the standard – 
although most of these would have been included previously anyway!.  This seems to 
be a “dumbing down” of the standards by over-prescribing the format. 
The rest of the section of the course cites the standards and highlights the main 
features of each. 
However, there is no substitute for reading the standards in full and their 
accompanying “Practice Notes”. 
It is also important to realise that not every section of the standards applies to every 
audit.  However, if the standard does apply to your particular audit it must be followed 
in full. 
 

ISSAI #2700: Forming an Opinion on the Financial Statements  
 

Introduction 

101. The auditor shall form an opinion on whether the financial statements are 
prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the applicable financial reporting 
framework. 
11. In order to form that opinion, the auditor shall conclude as to whether the auditor 
has obtained reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. That conclusion 
shall take into account:  

(a)The auditor’s conclusion, in accordance with ISA #330, whether sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence has been obtained;  
(b) The auditor’s conclusion, in accordance with ISA #450, whether uncorrected 
misstatements are material, individually or in aggregate; and  
(c) The evaluations required by paragraphs 12–15. 

12. The auditor shall evaluate whether the financial statements are prepared, in all 
material respects, in accordance with the requirements of the applicable financial 
reporting framework. This evaluation shall include consideration of the qualitative 

 
1 NB Paragraph numbering follows that of ISSAI #2700. 
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aspects of the entity’s accounting practices, including indicators of possible bias in 
management’s judgments.  
 
13. In particular, the auditor shall evaluate whether, in view of the requirements of the 
applicable financial reporting framework:  
 

(a) The financial statements appropriately disclose the significant accounting 
policies selected and applied. In making this evaluation, the auditor shall 
consider the relevance of the accounting policies to the entity, and whether they 
have been presented in an understandable manner;  
(b) The accounting policies selected and applied are consistent with the 
applicable financial reporting framework and are appropriate;  
(c) The accounting estimates made by management are reasonable;  
(d) The information presented in the financial statements is relevant, reliable, 
comparable, and understandable.  

 
In making this evaluation, the auditor shall consider whether:  
 

• All information that should have been included has been included, and 
whether such information is appropriately classified, aggregated or 
disaggregated, and characterized; and 
• The overall presentation of the financial statements has been undermined by 
including information that is not relevant or that obscures a proper 
understanding of the matters disclosed.   

 
(e) The financial statements provide adequate disclosures to enable the 
intended users to understand the effect of material transactions and events on 
the information conveyed in the financial statements; and   
(f) The terminology used in the financial statements, including the title of each 
financial statement, is appropriate. 

 
14. When the financial statements are prepared in accordance with a fair presentation 
framework, the evaluation required by paragraphs 12–13 shall also include whether 
the financial statements achieve fair presentation. The auditor’s evaluation as to 
whether the financial statements achieve fair presentation shall include consideration 
of: 
  

(a) The overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements; 
and 

(b) Whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

 
15. The auditor shall evaluate whether the financial statements adequately refer to or 
describe the applicable financial reporting framework.  
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Form of Opinion  

16. The auditor shall express an unmodified opinion when the auditor concludes that 
the financial statements are prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the 
applicable financial reporting framework.  
 
17. If the auditor:  

(a) concludes that, based on the audit evidence obtained, the financial 
statements as a whole are not free from material misstatement; or  
(b) Is unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to conclude that the 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, the auditor 
shall modify the opinion in the auditor’s report in accordance with ISA #705 
(Revised).  

 
18. If financial statements prepared in accordance with the requirements of a fair 
presentation framework do not achieve fair presentation, the auditor shall discuss the 
matter with management and, depending on the requirements of the applicable 
financial reporting framework and how the matter is resolved, shall determine whether 
it is necessary to modify the opinion in the auditor’s report in accordance with ISA #705 
(Revised). 
  
Auditor’s Report 

20. The auditor’s report shall be in writing. 
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Auditor’s Report for Audits Conducted in Accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing 
 
Title  

21. The auditor’s report shall have a title that clearly indicates that it is the report of 
an independent auditor.  
 
Addressee 

22. The auditor’s report shall be addressed, as appropriate, based on the 
circumstances of the engagement. 
 
Auditor’s Opinion  

23. The first section of the auditor’s report shall include the auditor’s opinion and 
shall have the heading “Opinion.”  
 
24. The Opinion section of the auditor’s report shall also:  

(a) Identify the entity whose financial statements have been audited;  
(b) State that the financial statements have been audited;  
(c) Identify the title of each statement comprising the financial statements;  
(d) Refer to the notes, including the summary of significant accounting policies; 
and  
(e) Specify the date of, or period covered by, each financial statement 
comprising the financial statements.  
 

25. When expressing an unmodified opinion on financial statements prepared in 
accordance with a fair presentation framework, the auditor’s opinion shall, unless 
otherwise required by law or regulation, use one of the following phrases, which are 
regarded as being equivalent:  
 

(a) In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all 
material respects, […] in accordance with [the applicable financial reporting 
framework]; or  
(b) In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair 
view of […] in accordance with [the applicable financial reporting framework].  

 
27.  If the reference to the applicable financial reporting framework in the auditor’s 
opinion is not to IFRS issued by the International Accounting Standards Board or 
IPSAS issued by the International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board, the 
auditor’s opinion shall identify the jurisdiction of origin of the framework.  
 
Basis for Opinion  

28. The auditor’s report shall include a section, directly following the Opinion section, 
with the heading “Basis for Opinion”, that:  
 

(a) States that the audit was conducted in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing;  
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(b) Refers to the section of the auditor’s report that describes the auditor’s 
responsibilities under the ISA;  
(c) Includes a statement that the auditor is independent of the entity in 
accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to the audit and 
has fulfilled the auditor’s other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. The statement shall identify the jurisdiction of origin of the 
relevant ethical requirements or refer to the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA 
Code);  
(d) States whether the auditor believes that the audit evidence the auditor has 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for the auditor’s 
opinion.  

 
Going Concern  

29. Where applicable, the auditor shall report in accordance with ISA 570 (Revised).  
 
Key Audit Matters  

30. For audits of complete sets of “general purpose financial statements” of listed 
entities, the auditor shall communicate key audit matters in the auditor’s report in 
accordance with ISA #701.  
 
31. When the auditor is otherwise required by law or regulation or decides to 
communicate key audit matters in the auditor’s report, the auditor shall do so in 
accordance with ISA #701.   
 
Other Information 

32. Where applicable, the auditor shall report in accordance with ISA #720 (Revised). 
 
Responsibilities for the Financial Statements  

33. The auditor’s report shall include a section with a heading “Responsibilities of 
Management for the Financial Statements.” The auditor’s report shall use the term that 
is appropriate in the context of the legal framework in the particular jurisdiction and 
need not refer specifically to “management”. In some jurisdictions, the appropriate 
reference may be to those charged with governance.  
 
34. This section of the auditor’s report shall describe management’s responsibility for:  
 

(a) Preparing the financial statements in accordance with the applicable 
financial reporting framework, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and  
(b) Assessing the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern and whether 
the use of the going concern basis of accounting is appropriate as well as 
disclosing, if applicable, matters relating to going concern. The explanation of 
management’s responsibility for this assessment shall include a description of 
when the use of the going concern basis of accounting is appropriate. 
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35. This section of the auditor’s report shall also identify those responsible for the 
oversight of the financial reporting process, when those responsible for such oversight 
are different from those who fulfil the responsibilities described in paragraph 34 above. 
In this case, the heading of this section shall also refer to “Those Charged with 
Governance” or such term that is appropriate in the context of the legal framework in 
the particular jurisdiction.  
 
36. When the financial statements are prepared in accordance with a fair presentation 
framework, the description of responsibilities for the financial statements in the 
auditor’s report shall refer to “the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements” or “the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view,” 
as appropriate in the circumstances.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  

37. The auditor’s report shall include a section with the heading “Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements.”  
 
38. This section of the auditor’s report shall:  
 

(a) State that the objectives of the auditor are to: 
(i) Obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error; and  
(ii) Issue an auditor’s report that includes the auditor’s opinion.  

(b) State that reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISA will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists; and  
(c) State that misstatements can arise from fraud or error, and either:  

(i) Describe that they are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements; or  
(ii) Provide a definition or description of materiality in accordance with 
the applicable financial reporting framework.  

 
39. The Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of 
the auditor’s report shall further:  
 

(a) State that, as part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, the auditor exercises 
professional judgment and maintains professional scepticism throughout 
the audit; and  

(b) Describe an audit by stating that the auditor’s responsibilities are:  
 

(i) To identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error; to design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks; and to obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for the 
auditor’s opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
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may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  
(ii) To obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. In circumstances when the 
auditor also has a responsibility to express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of internal control in conjunction with the audit of the 
financial statements, the auditor shall omit the phrase that the auditor’s 
consideration of internal control is not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  
(iii) To evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made 
by management. 
  
(iv) To conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the 
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If the auditor concludes that a material 
uncertainty exists, the auditor is required to draw attention in the 
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify the opinion. The auditor’s 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of 
the auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause an 
entity to cease to continue as a going concern.  
 
(v) When the financial statements are prepared in accordance with a fair 
presentation framework, to evaluate the overall presentation, structure 
and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  
 

40. The Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section 
of the auditor’s report also shall: 

(a) State that the auditor communicates with those charged with 
governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that the auditor identifies during the audit;  
 
(b) For audits of financial statements of listed entities, state that the 
auditor provides those charged with governance with a statement that 
the auditor has complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence and communicates with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on the auditor’s 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards; and 
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(c) For audits of financial statements of listed entities and any other 
entities for which key audit matters are communicated in accordance 
with ISA #701, state that, from the matters communicated with those 
charged with governance, the auditor determines those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the 
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. The auditor 
describes these matters in the auditor’s report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, the auditor determines that a matter should not be 
communicated in the auditor’s report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh 
the public interest benefits of such communication. (Ref: Para. A53)  

 
Location of the description of the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements  

41. The description of the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements required by paragraphs 39–40 shall be included:  

 

(a) Within the body of the auditor’s report;  
(b) Within an appendix to the auditor’s report, in which case the auditor’s 
report shall include a reference to the location of the appendix; or  
(c) By a specific reference within the auditor’s report to the location of 
such a description on a website of an appropriate authority, where law, 
regulation or national auditing standards expressly permit the auditor to 
do so. 

 
42. When the auditor refers to a description of the auditor’s responsibilities on a 
website of an appropriate authority, the auditor shall determine that such description 
addresses, and is not inconsistent with, the requirements in paragraphs 39–40 of 
this ISA.  
 

Other Reporting Responsibilities  

43. If the auditor addresses other reporting responsibilities in the auditor’s report on 
the financial statements that are in addition to the auditor’s responsibilities under the 
ISA, these other reporting responsibilities shall be addressed in a separate section 
in the auditor’s report with a heading titled “Report on Other Legal and Regulatory 
Requirements” or otherwise as appropriate to the content of the section, unless 
these other reporting responsibilities address the same topics as those presented 
under the reporting responsibilities required by the ISAs in which case the other 
reporting responsibilities may be presented in the same section as the related report 
elements required by the ISA. 
 
44. If other reporting responsibilities are presented in the same section as the related 
report elements required by the ISA, the auditor’s report shall clearly differentiate the 
other reporting responsibilities from the reporting that is required by the ISA. 
 
45. If the auditor’s report contains a separate section that addresses other reporting 
responsibilities, the requirements of paragraphs 21–40 of this ISA shall be included 
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under a section with a heading “Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements.” 
The “Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements” shall follow the “Report 
on the Audit of the Financial Statements.”  

 
 
Name of the Engagement Partner  

46. The name of the engagement partner shall be included in the auditor’s report on 
financial statements of listed entities unless, in rare circumstances, such disclosure 
is reasonably expected to lead to a significant personal security threat. In the rare 
circumstances that the auditor intends not to include the name of the engagement 
partner in the auditor’s report, the auditor shall discuss this intention with those 
charged with governance to inform the auditor’s assessment of the likelihood and 
severity of a significant personal security threat.  

 
Signature of the Auditor  

47. The auditor’s report shall be signed.   
 
Auditor’s Address  

48. The auditor’s report shall name the location in the jurisdiction where the auditor 
practices.  

 
Date of the Auditor’s Report  

49. The auditor’s report shall be dated no earlier than the date on which the auditor 
has obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence on which to base the auditor’s 
opinion on the financial statements, including evidence that:  

(a) All the statements and disclosures that comprise the financial 
statements have been prepared; and  
(b) Those with the recognized authority have asserted that they have 
taken responsibility for those financial statements.  

 
Auditor’s Report Prescribed by Law or Regulation  

50. If the auditor is required by law or regulation of a specific jurisdiction to use a 
specific layout, or wording of the auditor’s report, the auditor’s report shall refer to 
International Standards on Auditing only if the auditor’s report includes, at a minimum, 
each of the following elements:  

(a) A title.  
(b) An addressee, as required by the circumstances of the engagement.  
(c) An Opinion section containing an expression of opinion on the 
financial statements and a reference to the applicable financial reporting 
framework used to prepare the financial statements (including identifying 
the jurisdiction of origin of the financial reporting framework that is not 
International Financial Reporting Standards or International Public 
Sector Accounting Standards, see paragraph 27).  
(d) An identification of the entity’s financial statements that have been 
audited.  
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(e) A statement that the auditor is independent of the entity in 
accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to the audit 
and has fulfilled the auditor’s other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements. The statement shall identify the jurisdiction of 
origin of the relevant ethical requirements or refer to the IESBA Code.  
(f) Where applicable, a section that addresses, and is not inconsistent 
with, the reporting requirements in paragraph 22 of ISA #570 (Revised).  
(g) Where applicable, a Basis for Qualified (or Adverse) Opinion section 
that addresses, and is not inconsistent with, the reporting requirements 
in paragraph 23 of ISA #570 (Revised).  
(h) Where applicable, a section that includes the information required by 
ISA 701, or additional information about the audit that is prescribed by 
law or regulation and that addresses, and is not inconsistent with, the 
reporting requirements in that ISA.18 (Ref: Para. A72–A75)  
(i) Where applicable, a section that addresses the reporting 
requirements in paragraph 24 of ISA #720 (Revised).  
(j) A description of management’s responsibilities for the preparation of 
the financial statements and an identification of those responsible for the 
oversight of the financial reporting process that addresses, and is not 
inconsistent with, the requirements in paragraphs 33–36.  
(k) A reference to International Standards on Auditing and the law or 
regulation, and a description of the auditor’s responsibilities for an audit 
of the financial statements that addresses, and is not inconsistent with, 
the requirements in paragraphs 37–40. (Ref: Para. A50–A53)  
(l) For audits of complete sets of “general purpose financial statements” 
of listed entities, the name of the engagement partner unless, in rare 
circumstances, such disclosure is reasonably expected to lead to a 
significant personal security threat.  
(m) The auditor’s signature.  
(n) The auditor’s address.  
(o) The date of the auditor’s report. 
 

Information Presented with the Financial Statements  

53. If supplementary information that is not required by the applicable financial 
reporting framework is presented with the audited financial statements, the auditor 
shall evaluate whether, in the auditor’s professional judgment, supplementary 
information is nevertheless an integral part of the financial statements due to its nature 
or how it is presented. When it is an integral part of the financial statements, the 
supplementary information shall be covered by the auditor’s opinion.  
54. If supplementary information that is not required by the applicable financial 
reporting framework is not considered an integral part of the audited financial 
statements, the auditor shall evaluate whether such supplementary information is 
presented in a way that sufficiently and clearly differentiates it from the audited 
financial statements. If this is not the case, then the auditor shall ask management to 
change how the unaudited supplementary information is presented. If management 
refuses to do so, the auditor shall identify the unaudited supplementary information 
and explain in the auditor’s report that such supplementary information has not been 
audited.  
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ISSAI #2701: Communicating Key Audit Matters in the Independent 
Auditor’s Report  
Determining Key Audit Matters (see ISSAI #2700; paragraph #30, #31 and #40) 

9. The auditor shall determine, from the matters communicated with those charged 
with governance, those matters that required significant auditor attention in performing 
the audit. In making this determination, the auditor shall take into account the following:  

(a) Areas of higher assessed risk of material misstatement, or significant 
risks identified in accordance with ISA #315 (Revised); 
(b) Significant auditor judgments relating to areas in the financial 
statements that involved significant management judgment, including 
accounting estimates that have been identified as having high estimation 
uncertainty; and 
(c) The effect on the audit of significant events or transactions that 
occurred during the period.  

 
10. The auditor shall determine which of the matters determined in accordance with 

paragraph 9 were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of 
the current period and therefore are the key audit matters.  

 
Communicating Key Audit Matters  

11. The auditor shall describe each key audit matter, using an appropriate subheading, 
in a separate section of the auditor’s report under the heading “Key Audit Matters,” 
unless the circumstances in paragraphs 14 or 15 apply. The introductory language in 
this section of the auditor’s report shall state that:  

(a) Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditor’s professional 
judgment, were of most significance in the audit of the financial 
statements [of the current period]; and  
(b) These matters were addressed in the context of the audit of the 
financial statements as a whole, and in forming the auditor’s opinion 
thereon, and the auditor does not provide a separate opinion on these 
matters. 

 
Key Audit Matters Not a Substitute for Expressing a Modified Opinion  

12. The auditor shall not communicate a matter in the Key Audit Matters section of the 
auditor’s report when the auditor would be required to modify the opinion in 
accordance with ISA #705 (Revised) as a result of the matter.  
 
Descriptions of Individual Key Audit Matters  

13. The description of each key audit matter in the Key Audit Matters section of the 
auditor’s report shall include a reference to the related disclosure(s), if any, in the 
financial statements and shall address:  
 

(a) Why the matter was considered to be one of most significance in the 
audit and therefore determined to be a key audit matter; and  
(b) How the matter was addressed in the audit.  



PASAI  Financial Audit Manual – Glossary, Templates and Case 
Study 

165 

 
Circumstances in Which a Matter Determined to Be a Key Audit Matter Is Not 
Communicated in the Auditor’s Report  

14. The auditor shall describe each key audit matter in the auditor’s report unless:  
(a) Law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter; or  
(b) In extremely rare circumstances, the auditor determines that the 
matter should not be communicated in the auditor’s report because the 
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. This shall 
not apply if the entity has publicly disclosed information about the matter.  

 
 
Interaction between Descriptions of Key Audit Matters and Other Elements 
Required to Be Included in the Auditor’s Report  

15. A matter giving rise to a modified opinion in accordance with ISA #705 (Revised), 
or a material uncertainty related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern in accordance with ISA #570 
(Revised), are by their nature key audit matters. However, in such circumstances, 
these matters shall not be described in the Key Audit Matters section of the auditor’s 
report and the requirements in paragraphs 13–14 do not apply. Rather, the auditor 
shall:  

(a) Report on these matter(s) in accordance with the applicable ISA(s); and  
(b) Include a reference to the Basis for Qualified (Adverse) Opinion or the 
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section(s) in the Key Audit 
Matters section.  

 
Form and Content of the Key Audit Matters Section in Other Circumstances  

 
16. If the auditor determines, depending on the facts and circumstances of the entity 
and the audit, that there are no key audit matters to communicate or that the only key 
audit matters communicated are those matters addressed by paragraph 15, the 
auditor shall include a statement to this effect in a separate section of the auditor’s 
report under the heading “Key Audit Matters.”   
 
Communication with Those Charged with Governance  

17. The auditor shall communicate with those charged with governance:  
 

(a) Those matters the auditor has determined to be the key audit matters; 
or  
(b) If applicable, depending on the facts and circumstances of the entity 
and the audit, the auditor’s determination that there are no key audit 
matters to communicate in the auditor’s report.  

 
Documentation  
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18. The auditor shall include in the audit documentation: 
(a) The matters that required significant auditor attention as determined 
in accordance with paragraph 9, and the rationale for the auditor’s 
determination as to whether or not each of these matters is a key audit 
matter in accordance with paragraph 10;  
(b) Where applicable, the rationale for the auditor’s determination that 
there are no key audit matters to communicate in the auditor’s report or 
that the only key audit matters to communicate are those matters 
addressed by paragraph 15; and  
(c) Where applicable, the rationale for the auditor’s determination not to 
communicate in the auditor’s report a matter determined to be a key 
audit matter. 

 
  



PASAI  Financial Audit Manual – Glossary, Templates and Case 
Study 

167 

ISSAI #2705: Modification to the Opinion in the Independent 
Auditor’s Report 
 

Circumstances When a Modification to the Auditor’s Opinion Is Required  

6. The auditor shall modify the opinion in the auditor’s report when:  
 

(a) The auditor concludes that, based on the audit evidence obtained, 
the financial statements as a whole are not free from material 
misstatement; or  
(b) The auditor is unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
to conclude that the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement.  
 

Determining the Type of Modification to the Auditor’s Opinion  

- Qualified Opinion  

7. The auditor shall express a qualified opinion when:  
(a) The auditor, having obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence, 
concludes that misstatements, individually or in the aggregate, are 
material, but not pervasive, to the financial statements; or  
(b) The auditor is unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
on which to base the opinion, but the auditor concludes that the possible 
effects on the financial statements of undetected misstatements, if any, 
could be material but not pervasive. 

 
- Adverse Opinion  

8. The auditor shall express an adverse opinion when the auditor, having obtained 
sufficient appropriate audit evidence, concludes that misstatements, individually or in 
the aggregate, are both material and pervasive to the financial statements.  
 

- Disclaimer of Opinion  

9. The auditor shall disclaim an opinion when the auditor is unable to obtain sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence on which to base the opinion, and the auditor concludes 
that the possible effects on the financial statements of undetected misstatements, if 
any, could be both material and pervasive.  
10. The auditor shall disclaim an opinion when, in extremely rare circumstances 
involving multiple uncertainties, the auditor concludes that, notwithstanding having 
obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding each of the individual 
uncertainties, it is not possible to form an opinion on the financial statements due to 
the potential interaction of the uncertainties and their possible cumulative effect on the 
financial statements.  
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Consequence of an Inability to Obtain Sufficient Appropriate Audit Evidence 
Due to a Management-Imposed Limitation after the Auditor Has Accepted the 
Engagement  

11. If, after accepting the engagement, the auditor becomes aware that management 
has imposed a limitation on the scope of the audit that the auditor considers likely to 
result in the need to express a qualified opinion or to disclaim an opinion on the 
financial statements, the auditor shall request that management remove the limitation.  
12. If management refuses to remove the limitation referred to in paragraph 11 of this 
ISA, the auditor shall communicate the matter to those charged with governance, 
unless all of those charged with governance are involved in managing the entity, and 
determine whether it is possible to perform alternative procedures to obtain sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence.  
13. If the auditor is unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence, the auditor 
shall determine the implications as follows:  

(a) If the auditor concludes that the possible effects on the financial 
statements of undetected misstatements, if any, could be material but 
not pervasive, the auditor shall qualify the opinion; or  
(b) If the auditor concludes that the possible effects on the financial 
statements of undetected misstatements, if any, could be both material 
and pervasive so that a qualification of the opinion would be inadequate 
to communicate the gravity of the situation, the auditor shall: 

(i) Withdraw from the audit, where practicable and possible under 
applicable law or regulation; or  
(ii) If withdrawal from the audit before issuing the auditor’s report is 
not practicable or possible, disclaim an opinion on the financial 
statements.  

14. If the auditor withdraws as contemplated by paragraph 13(b)(i), before 
withdrawing, the auditor shall communicate to those charged with governance any 
matters regarding misstatements identified during the audit that would have given rise 
to a modification of the opinion.  
 
Other Considerations Relating to an Adverse Opinion or Disclaimer of Opinion  

15. When the auditor considers it necessary to express an adverse opinion or disclaim 
an opinion on the financial statements as a whole, the auditor’s report shall not also 
include an unmodified opinion with respect to the same financial reporting framework 
on a single financial statement or one or more specific elements, accounts or items of 
a financial statement. To include such an unmodified opinion in the same report in 
these circumstances would contradict the auditor’s adverse opinion or disclaimer of 
opinion on the financial statements as a whole. [This is obvious – a further example of 
“dumbing down!] 
 

 
Form and Content of the Auditor’s Report When the Opinion Is Modified  

- Auditor’s Opinion  
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16. When the auditor modifies the audit opinion, the auditor shall use the heading 
“Qualified Opinion,” “Adverse Opinion,” or “Disclaimer of Opinion,” as appropriate, for 
the Opinion section.  
 

- Qualified Opinion  

17. When the auditor expresses a qualified opinion due to a material misstatement in 
the financial statements, the auditor shall state that, in the auditor’s opinion, except for 
the effects of the matter(s) described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section:  

(a) When reporting in accordance with a fair presentation framework, the 
accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects 
(or give a true and fair view of) […] in accordance with [the applicable 
financial reporting framework]; or  
(b) When reporting in accordance with a compliance framework, the 
accompanying financial statements have been prepared, in all material 
respects, in accordance with [the applicable financial reporting 
framework].  

When the modification arises from an inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit 
evidence, the auditor shall use the corresponding phrase “except for the possible 
effects of the matter(s) ...” for the modified opinion.   
 

- Adverse Opinion  

18. When the auditor expresses an adverse opinion, the auditor shall state that, in the 
auditor’s opinion, because of the significance of the matter(s) described in the Basis 
for Adverse Opinion section:  
 

(a) When reporting in accordance with a fair presentation framework, the 
accompanying financial statements do not present fairly (or give a true 
and fair view of) […] in accordance with [the applicable financial reporting 
framework]; or  
(b) When reporting in accordance with a compliance framework, the 
accompanying financial statements have not been prepared, in all 
material respects, in accordance with [the applicable financial reporting 
framework].  
 

- Disclaimer of Opinion  

19. When the auditor disclaims an opinion due to an inability to obtain sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence, the auditor shall:  

(a) State that the auditor does not express an opinion on the 
accompanying financial statements;  
(b) State that, because of the significance of the matter(s) described in 
the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section, the auditor has not been able 
to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an 
audit opinion on the financial statements; and  
(c) Amend the statement required by paragraph 24(b) of ISA 700 
(Revised), which indicates that the financial statements have been 
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audited, to state that the auditor was engaged to audit the financial 
statements.  
 

Basis for Opinion  

20. When the auditor modifies the opinion on the financial statements, the auditor 
shall, in addition to the specific elements required by ISA 700 (Revised): 

(a) Amend the heading “Basis for Opinion” required by paragraph 28 of 
ISA 700 (Revised) to “Basis for Qualified Opinion,” “Basis for Adverse 
Opinion,” or “Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion,” as appropriate; and 
(b) Within this section, include a description of the matter giving rise to 
the modification.  

21. If there is a material misstatement of the financial statements that relates to specific 
amounts in the financial statements (including quantitative disclosures), the auditor 
shall include in the Basis for Opinion section a description and quantification of the 
financial effects of the misstatement, unless impracticable. If it is not practicable to 
quantify the financial effects, the auditor shall so state in this section. (Ref: Para. A22)  
22. If there is a material misstatement of the financial statements that relates to 
qualitative disclosures, the auditor shall include in the Basis for Opinion section an 
explanation of how the disclosures are misstated.  
23. If there is a material misstatement of the financial statements that relates to the 
non-disclosure of information required to be disclosed, the auditor shall:  

(a) Discuss the non-disclosure with those charged with governance;  
(b) Describe in the Basis for Opinion section the nature of the omitted 
information; and  
(c) Unless prohibited by law or regulation, include the omitted 
disclosures, provided it is practicable to do so and the auditor has 
obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence about the omitted 
information. (Ref: Para. A23)  

24. If the modification results from an inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit 
evidence, the auditor shall include in the Basis for Opinion section the reasons for that 
inability.  
25. When the auditor expresses a qualified or adverse opinion, the auditor shall amend 
the statement about whether the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for the auditor’s opinion required by paragraph 28(d) of ISA 700 
(Revised) to include the word “qualified” or “adverse”, as appropriate.  
26. When the auditor disclaims an opinion on the financial statements, the auditor’s 
report shall not include the elements required by paragraphs 28(b) and 28(d) of ISA 
700 (Revised). Those elements are:  

(a) A reference to the section of the auditor’s report where the auditor’s 
responsibilities are described; and  
(b) A statement about whether the audit evidence obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for the auditor’s opinion.  

27. Even if the auditor has expressed an adverse opinion or disclaimed an opinion on 
the financial statements, the auditor shall describe in the Basis for Opinion section the 
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reasons for any other matters of which the auditor is aware that would have required 
a modification to the opinion, and the effects thereof.  

 
Description of Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements When the Auditor Disclaims an Opinion on the Financial 
Statements  

28. When the auditor disclaims an opinion on the financial statements due to an 
inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence, the auditor shall amend the 
description of the auditor’s responsibilities required by paragraphs 39–41 of ISA 700 
(Revised) to include only the following:  

(a) A statement that the auditor’s responsibility is to conduct an audit of 
the entity’s financial statements in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing and to issue an auditor’s report;  
(b) A statement that, however, because of the matter(s) described in the 
Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section, the auditor was not able to obtain 
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit 
opinion on the financial statements; and  
(c) The statement about auditor independence and other ethical 
responsibilities required by paragraph 28(c) of ISA #700 (Revised).  
 

Considerations When the Auditor Disclaims an Opinion on the Financial 
Statements  

29. Unless required by law or regulation, when the auditor disclaims an opinion on the 
financial statements, the auditor’s report shall not include a Key Audit Matters section 
in accordance with ISA #701 or an “Other Information” section in accordance with ISA 
#720 (Revised).  
 
Communication with Those Charged with Governance  

30. When the auditor expects to modify the opinion in the auditor’s report, the auditor 
shall communicate with those charged with governance the circumstances that led to 
the expected modification and the wording of the modification.   
 
NB The table on the next page gives guidance as to the form of certificate to use in 
diagrammatic form. 
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ISSAI #2706: Emphasis of Matter Paragraphs and Other Matter 
Paragraphs in the Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
Emphasis of Matter Paragraphs in the Auditor’s Report  

8. If the auditor considers it necessary to draw users’ attention to a matter presented 
or disclosed in the financial statements that, in the auditor’s judgment, is of such 
importance that it is fundamental to users’ understanding of the financial statements, 
the auditor shall include an Emphasis of Matter paragraph in the auditor’s report 
provided:  

(a) The auditor would not be required to modify the opinion in 
accordance with ISA #705 (Revised) as a result of the matter; and  
(b) When ISA #701 applies, the matter has not been determined to be a 
key audit matter to be communicated in the auditor’s report.  

9. When the auditor includes an Emphasis of Matter paragraph in the auditor’s report, 
the auditor shall:  

(a) Include the paragraph within a separate section of the auditor’s 
report with an appropriate heading that includes the term “Emphasis 
of Matter”; 

(b) Include in the paragraph a clear reference to the matter being 
emphasized and to where relevant disclosures that fully describe the 
matter can be found in the financial statements. The paragraph shall 
refer only to information presented or disclosed in the financial 
statements; and  

(c) Indicate that the auditor’s opinion is not modified in respect of the 
matter emphasized.  
 

Other Matter Paragraphs in the Auditor’s Report  

10. If the auditor considers it necessary to communicate a matter other than those that 
are presented or disclosed in the financial statements that, in the auditor’s judgment, 
is relevant to users’ understanding of the audit, the auditor’s responsibilities or the 
auditor’s report, the auditor shall include an Other Matter paragraph in the auditor’s 
report, provided:  

(a) This is not prohibited by law or regulation; and  
(b) When ISA #701 applies, the matter has not been determined to be 
a key audit matter to be communicated in the auditor’s report.  

11. When the auditor includes an “Other Matter” paragraph in the auditor’s report, the 
auditor shall include the paragraph within a separate section with the heading “Other 
Matter,” or other appropriate heading.  

 
Communication with Those Charged with Governance  

12. If the auditor expects to include an Emphasis of Matter or an “Other Matter” 
paragraph in the auditor’s report, the auditor shall communicate with those charged 
with governance regarding this expectation and the wording of this paragraph.  
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ISSAI #2710: Comparative Information Corresponding Figures and 
Comparative Financial Statements 
 
Audit Procedures  

7. The auditor shall determine whether the financial statements include the 
comparative information required by the applicable financial reporting framework and 
whether such information is appropriately classified. For this purpose, the auditor shall 
evaluate whether:  
 

(a) The comparative information agrees with the amounts and other 
disclosures presented in the prior period or, when appropriate, have 
been restated; and  
(b) The accounting policies reflected in the comparative information are 
consistent with those applied in the current period or, if there have 
been changes in accounting policies, whether those changes have 
been properly accounted for and adequately presented and disclosed.  

8. If the auditor becomes aware of a possible material misstatement in the 
comparative information while performing the current period audit, the auditor shall 
perform such additional audit procedures as are necessary in the circumstances to 
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to determine whether a material 
misstatement exists. If the auditor had audited the prior period’s financial statements, 
the auditor shall also follow the relevant requirements of ISA #560.  If the prior period 
financial statements are amended, the auditor shall determine that the comparative 
information agrees with the amended financial statements.  
9. As required by ISA #580, the auditor shall request written representations for all 
periods referred to in the auditor’s opinion. The auditor shall also obtain a specific 
written representation regarding any restatement made to correct a material 
misstatement in prior period financial statements that affect the comparative 
information.  
 

Audit Reporting  

- Corresponding Figures  

10. When corresponding figures are presented, the auditor’s opinion shall not refer 
to the corresponding figures except in the circumstances described in paragraphs 
11, 12, and 14. (Ref: Para. A2)  
11. If the auditor’s report on the prior period, as previously issued, included a 
qualified opinion, a disclaimer of opinion, or an adverse opinion and the matter which 
gave rise to the modification is unresolved, the auditor shall modify the auditor’s 
opinion on the current period’s financial statements. In the Basis for Modification 
paragraph in the auditor’s report, the auditor shall either:  

(a) Refer to both the current period’s figures and the corresponding 
figures in the description of the matter giving rise to the modification 
when the effects or possible effects of the matter on the current 
period’s figures are material; or  



PASAI  Financial Audit Manual – Glossary, Templates and Case 
Study 

175 

(b) In other cases, explain that the audit opinion has been modified 
because of the effects or possible effects of the unresolved matter on 
the comparability of the current period’s figures and the corresponding 
figures. (Ref: Para. A3–A5)  

 
11. If the auditor obtains audit evidence that a material misstatement exists in the prior 

period financial statements on which an unmodified opinion has been previously 
issued, and the corresponding figures have not been properly restated or 
appropriate disclosures have not been made, the auditor shall express a qualified 
opinion or an adverse opinion in the auditor’s report on the current period financial 
statements, modified with respect to the corresponding figures included therein.  

 
- Prior Period Financial Statements Audited by a Predecessor Auditor  

13. If the financial statements of the prior period were audited by a predecessor auditor 
and the auditor is not prohibited by law or regulation from referring to the predecessor 
auditor’s report on the corresponding figures and decides to do so, the auditor shall 
state in an Other Matter paragraph in the auditor’s report:  

(a) That the financial statements of the prior period were audited by the 
predecessor auditor;  
(b) The type of opinion expressed by the predecessor auditor and, if 
the opinion was modified, the reasons therefore; and  
(c) The date of that report.  

 
- Prior Period Financial Statements Not Audited  

14. If the prior period financial statements were not audited, the auditor shall state in 
an “Other Matter” paragraph in the auditor’s report that the corresponding figures are 
unaudited. Such a statement does not, however, relieve the auditor of the requirement 
to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence that the opening balances do not contain 
misstatements that materially affect the current period’s financial statements. 
 

- Comparative Financial Statements  

15. When comparative financial statements are presented, the auditor’s opinion shall 
refer to each period for which financial statements are presented and on which an 
audit opinion is expressed.  
16. When reporting on prior period financial statements in connection with the current 
period’s audit, if the auditor’s opinion on such prior period financial statements differs 
from the opinion the auditor previously expressed, the auditor shall disclose the 
substantive reasons for the different opinion in an Other Matter paragraph in 
accordance with ISA #706 (Revised). 
 
 
 
 

- Prior Period Financial Statements Audited by a Predecessor Auditor  
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17. If the financial statements of the prior period were audited by a predecessor 
auditor, in addition to expressing an opinion on the current period’s financial 
statements, the auditor shall state in an “Other Matter” paragraph:  

(a) that the financial statements of the prior period were audited by a 
predecessor auditor;  
 
(b) the type of opinion expressed by the predecessor auditor and, if the 
opinion was modified, the reasons therefore; and  
(c) the date of that report,  

unless the predecessor auditor’s report on the prior period’s financial statements is 
reissued with the financial statements.  
18. If the auditor concludes that a material misstatement exists that affects the prior 
period financial statements on which the predecessor auditor had previously 
reported without modification, the auditor shall communicate the misstatement with 
the appropriate level of management and, unless all of those charged with 
governance are involved in managing the entity, those charged with governance and 
request that the predecessor auditor be informed. If the prior period financial 
statements are amended, and the predecessor auditor agrees to issue a new 
auditor’s report on the amended financial statements of the prior period, the auditor 
shall report only on the current period.  
 

- Prior Period Financial Statements Not Audited  

19. If the prior period financial statements were not audited, the auditor shall state in 
an “Other Matter” paragraph that the comparative financial statements are 
unaudited. Such a statement does not, however, relieve the auditor of the 
requirement to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence that the opening balances 
do not contain misstatements that materially affect the current period’s financial 
statements. 
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ISSAI #2720: The Auditor’s Responsibility Relating to Other 
Information in Documents Containing Audited Financial Statements 
 
Obtaining the Other Information  

13. The auditor shall:  
 

(a) Determine, through discussion with management, which 
document(s) comprises the annual report, and the entity’s planned 
manner and timing of the issuance of such document(s);  
(b) Make appropriate arrangements with management to obtain in a 
timely manner and, if possible, prior to the date of the auditor’s report, 
the final version of the document(s) comprising the annual report; and  
(c) When some or all of the document(s) determined in (a) will not be 
available until after the date of the auditor’s report, request 
management to provide a written representation that the final version of 
the document(s) will be provided to the auditor when available, and 
prior to its issuance by the entity, such that the auditor can complete 
the procedures required by this ISA.  

 

Reading and Considering the Other Information  

14. The auditor shall read the other information and, in doing so shall:  
 

(a) Consider whether there is a material inconsistency between the 
other information and the financial statements. As the basis for this 
consideration, the auditor shall, to evaluate their consistency, compare 
selected amounts or other items in the other information (that are 
intended to be the same as, to summarize, or to provide greater detail 
about, the amounts or other items in the financial statements) with such 
amounts or other items in the financial statements; and  
(b) Consider whether there is a material inconsistency between the 
other information and the auditor’s knowledge obtained in the audit, in 
the context of audit evidence obtained and conclusions reached in the 
audit.  
 

15. While reading the other information in accordance with paragraph 14, the auditor 
shall remain alert for indications that the other information not related to the financial 
statements or the auditor’s knowledge obtained in the audit appears to be materially 
misstated.  

 
Responding When a Material Inconsistency Appears to Exist or Other 
Information Appears to Be Materially Misstated  

16. If the auditor identifies that a material inconsistency appears to exist (or becomes 
aware that the other information appears to be materially misstated), the auditor shall 
discuss the matter with management and, if necessary, perform other procedures to 
conclude whether:  
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(a) A material misstatement of the other information exists;  
(b) A material misstatement of the financial statements exists; or  
(c) The auditor’s understanding of the entity and its environment needs 
to be updated.  
 

Responding When the Auditor Concludes That a Material Misstatement of the 
Other Information Exists  

17. If the auditor concludes that a material misstatement of the other information 
exists, the auditor shall request management to correct the other information. If 
management:  

(a) Agrees to make the correction, the auditor shall determine that the 
correction has been made; or  
(b) Refuses to make the correction, the auditor shall communicate the 
matter with those charged with governance and request that the 
correction be made.  

18. If the auditor concludes that a material misstatement exists in other information 
obtained prior to the date of the auditor’s report, and the other information is not 
corrected after communicating with those charged with governance, the auditor shall 
take appropriate action, including:  

 
(a) Considering the implications for the auditor’s report and 
communicating with those charged with governance about how the 
auditor plans to address the material misstatement in the auditor’s 
report (see paragraph 22(e)(ii)); or  
(b) Withdrawing from the engagement, where withdrawal is possible 
under applicable law or regulation.  

19. If the auditor concludes that a material misstatement exists in other information 
obtained after the date of the auditor’s report, the auditor shall:  
 

(a) If the other information is corrected, perform the procedures 
necessary in the circumstances; or  
(b) If the other information is not corrected after communicating with 
those charged with governance, take appropriate action considering 
the auditor’s legal rights and obligations, to seek to have the 
uncorrected material misstatement appropriately brought to the 
attention of users for whom the auditor’s report is prepared.  
 

Responding When a Material Misstatement in the Financial Statements Exists 
or the Auditor’s Understanding of the Entity and Its Environment Needs to Be 
Updated 

20. If, as a result of performing the procedures in paragraphs 14–15, the auditor 
concludes that a material misstatement in the financial statements exists or the 
auditor’s understanding of the entity and its environment needs to be updated, the 
auditor shall respond appropriately in accordance with the other ISA.   
 
 
Reporting  
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21. The auditor’s report shall include a separate section with a heading “Other 
Information”, or other appropriate heading, when, at the date of the auditor’s report:  
 

(a) For an audit of financial statements of a listed entity, the auditor has 
obtained, or expects to obtain, the other information; or  
(b) For an audit of financial statements of an entity other than a listed 
entity, the auditor has obtained some or all of the other information.  

22. When the auditor’s report is required to include an “Other Information” section in 
accordance with paragraph 21, this section shall include: (Ref: Para. A53)  
 

(a) A statement that management is responsible for the other 
information;  
(b) An identification of:  

(i) Other information, if any, obtained by the auditor prior to the 
date of the auditor’s report; and  
(ii) For an audit of financial statements of a listed entity, other 
information, if any, expected to be obtained after the date of the 
auditor’s report;  

(c) A statement that the auditor’s opinion does not cover the other 
information and, accordingly, that the auditor does not express (or will 
not express) an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion 
thereon;  
(d) A description of the auditor’s responsibilities relating to reading, 
considering and reporting on other information as required by this ISA; 
and  
(e) When other information has been obtained prior to the date of the 
auditor’s report, either:  

(i) A statement that the auditor has nothing to report; or  
(ii) If the auditor has concluded that there is an uncorrected 
material misstatement of the other information, a statement that 
describes the uncorrected material misstatement of the other 
information.  

23. When the auditor expresses a qualified or adverse opinion in accordance with 
ISA 705 (Revised), the auditor shall consider the implications of the matter giving 
rise to the modification of opinion for the statement required in paragraph 22(e).  

 
Reporting Prescribed by Law or Regulation  

24. If the auditor is required by law or regulation of a specific jurisdiction to refer to the 
other information in the auditor’s report using a specific layout or wording, the auditor’s 
report shall refer to International Standards on Auditing only if the auditor’s report 
includes, at a minimum:  
 

(a) Identification of the other information obtained by the auditor prior to 
the date of the auditor’s report;  
(b) A description of the auditor’s responsibilities with respect to the 
other information; and  
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(c) An explicit statement addressing the outcome of the auditor’s work 
for this purpose. 

 
Documentation  

25. In addressing the requirements of ISA #230 as it applies to this ISA, the auditor 
shall include in the audit documentation:  
 

(a) Documentation of the procedures performed under this ISA; and  
(b) The final version of the other information on which the auditor has 
performed the work required under this ISA. 
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